Generation of a human foetal pancreatic organoid model of pancreas development

A thesis submitted to The University of Manchester for the degree of Master of Philosophy in the Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health

Year: 2021

Author: Michael R Elsy

School of Medical Sciences

Division of Diabetes, Endocrinology and Gastroenterology

Contents

Preface:	5
Declaration:	5
Copyright:	5
Abstract:	6
Introduction:	7
What is the impact of diabetes mellitus?	7
T1DM management – β -cell replacement therapy:	8
Cadaver-derived islet transplantation:	8
Disadvantages of Cadaver-derived islet transplantation:	9
PSC-derived β -cells emerging as new T1DM therapies:	10
Human development:	11
Pancreas structure and function:	11
The importance of human foetal pancreas research:	11
Figure 1. Human pancreas formation schematic	12
Pancreas development summary:	13
Figure 2. Human pancreas development TF interactions	14
Lineage specification in the human embryonic pancreas:	15 - 16
Figure 3. Human foregut initiation schemtatic	17
Endocrine commitment – formation of β -cells:	17
Differences between human and mouse pancreas development:	18
Islet cell architecture:	19
β-cell heterogeneity:	20-22
Developmental defects and monogenic diabetes:	22
Signalling pathways active in human and mouse pancreas development:	23
PSC-derived β-cells for transplantation:	24
Why use Pluripotent stem cells?	24
Progress of PSC-β-cell differentiation protocols:	24
Pagliuca et al. (2014) and Rezania et al. (2014) improve differentiation:	25
Figure 4. The improvement of PSC-derived β -cell differentiation protoco	ls26
Limitations to Rezania et al. (2014) and Pagliuca et al. (2014):	27
BMP signalling duration regulates β -cell hormonal fate via NKX6.1 induction	on:27
Differences in maturity between neonatal and mature β -cells:	28-30
PSCs and organoid systems - the means to fully functional β -cells:	30
Organoids as a model for human pancreas developmen	t: 31
The benefits of 3D cell culture:	31

Pancreatospheres as stepping-stones to pancreas organoids:	32
Mouse pancreas organoids:	33
Human pancreas organoids:	34
PSC-derived β -cell and organoids summary:	35
Project aims:	36
Research design and methods:	37
Human tissue collection:	37
Figure 5. Methods of embryo-foetus age determination	37
Table 1. Carnegie Stage (CS) embryos throughout human development.	38-39
Generation of human foetal pancreatic organoids:	40
Organoid passage:	40
Table 2. Pancreas epithelia media (PEm) for maintenance of pancreatic organoids.	41
Immunohistochemistry:	42
Immunofluorescence:	42-43
Table 3. List of primary antibodies	44
Table 4. List of secondary antibodies	44
Light sheet fluorescence microscopy (LSFM):	45
Tissue preparation:	45
Tissue clearing and immunostaining:	45
Table 5. CUBIC1 and CUBIC2 compositions for tissue clearing	46
Imaging:	46
Image processing:	47
Results:	48
Key TF expression profiles during pancreas development:	48
Figure 6. Immunohistochemistry staining for the key TFs active during embryonic and foetal pancreas development.	49
Organoid maintenance and differentiation:	50
Figure 7. Schematic of organoid formation from foetal pancreatic tissue.	50
Organoids display ductal phenotypes:	51
Figure 8. Immunofluorescence staining for 10 wpc human foetal pancrea organoids reveal a ductal phenotype	ıtic 52
Light sheet immunofluorescence microscopy and pancreas development:	53-54
Figure 9. Imaging of mouse and human pancreas using light sheet immunofluorescence (LSFM).	55
Figure 10. LSFM imaging of 85% CUBIC2-cleared 20 wpc human foetal pancreas stained for PDX1 and SOX9	56

Figure 12. 3D reconstructions created using IMARIS	58
Figure 13. 80% CUBUIC2 provides optimal focus for LSFM imaging of pancreases.	59
Figure 14. Optimisation of imaging conditions can improve specific fluorescence	60-61
Discussion:	62
Transcription factors active during pancreas development:	62-63
Generation of a human foetal pancreatic organoid system:	63-64
Light sheet immunofluorescence microscopy (LSFM):	65-67
Future work:	68
Further characterisation of organoids:	68
LSFM optimisation:	68-69
Hydrogel effect on organoid and stem cell differentiation:	69
Conclusions and perspectives:	70
Acknowledgments:	71
Appendix:	72
IMARIS animation:	72
Deferences	72 05

Word count: 19,235

Preface:

All research was conducted by Michael Elsy as part of the MPhil in Regenerative Medicine programme. Primary supervision was provided by Professor Neil Hanley and Dr Rachel Jennings, as well as secondary supervision by Dr Karen Piper Hanley and Professor Alberto Saiani. The report will follow a traditional Master's thesis style.

Declaration:

No portion of the work referred to in the thesis has been submitted in support of an application for another degree or qualification of this or any other university or other institute of learning.

Copyright:

- I. The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/or schedules to this thesis) owns certain copyright or related rights in it (the "Copyright") and he has given the University of Manchester certain rights to use such Copyright, including for administrative purposes.
- II. Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts and whether in hard or electronic copy, may be made only in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (as amended) and regulations issued under it or, where appropriate, in accordance with licensing agreements which the University has from time to time. This page must form part of any such copies made.
- III. The ownership of certain Copyright, patents, designs, trademarks, and other intellectual property (the "Intellectual Property") and any reproductions of copyright works in the thesis, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third parties. Such Intellectual Property and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without the prior written permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions.
- IV. Further information on the conditions under which disclosure, publication and commercialisation of this thesis, the Copyright and any Intellectual Property and/or Reproductions described in it may take place is available in the University IP Policy (see http://documents.manchester.ac.uk/Doculnfo.aspx?DocID=2442 0), in any relevant Thesis restriction declarations deposited in the University Library, the University Library's regulations (see http://www.library.manchester.ac.uk/about/regulations/) and in the University's policy on Presentation of Theses.

Abstract:

Introduction: Diabetes mellitus (DM) represents a significant global health and economic burden, and its incidence is increasing. Although injectable insulin is the gold standard for Type 1 DM management, it confers life-long dependence and hypoglycaemia may instead occur. Therefore, restoration or regeneration of damaged insulin-producing β -cells could provide a cure. Despite their immense potential, human pluripotent stem cell (PSC)-derived β -cells currently do not have the appropriate functionality or maturation capability compared to *bona fide* β -cells. A greater understanding of β -cell specification during early human development is required for safe transplantation of PSC-derived β -cells. Organoid systems refer to clusters of multiple cell types in 3-dimensions (3D) that can self-organise, allowing mimicry of the cell-cell contacts and signalling events of the native tissue environment. Human foetal pancreatic organoids are emerging as exciting models for pancreas development, enhancing our understanding of hPSC-derived β -cell differentiation protocols, and providing opportunities for disease modelling.

<u>Aims and Objectives:</u> This project aims to establish and maintain a 3D organoid model of human pancreas development using foetal tissue. Light sheet fluorescence microscopy (LSFM) will be optimised as a method of imaging key pancreatic transcription factors (TFs) throughout pancreas morphogenesis.

<u>Methods</u>: Human foetal pancreata were dissected and dissociated into single-cell suspension before incubation with Matrigel. Organoids were cultured for up to 30 days before analysis. Following incubation, organoids were assessed by immunofluorescence. For comparison, immunohistochemistry and LSFM were performed on native embryonic or foetal pancreata.

<u>Results:</u> Immunohistochemistry reveals the spatial and temporal expression profiles of key pancreatic TFs in embryonic and foetal pancreata. Distinct 3D ductal and islet structures were observed in foetal samples using LSFM. The expression of these TFs characterises our human foetal pancreatic organoids. Ductal, PPC and endocrine markers are detected in the organoid system, as represented by CK19, SOX9 and NKX2.2 expression, respectively.

Discussion and conclusions: Pancreas forms when foregut endoderm is specified to pancreatic endoderm, followed by PPCs and then acinar or bi-potent ductal and endocrine populations, including β -cells. 3D organoid culture of foetal pancreas permits expansion of multipotent PPCs, which can be used as a platform for modelling downstream endocrine differentiation. LSFM enables the rapid imaging of whole foetal pancreata and organoids; the localisation and expression of candidate PPC regulators could be investigated using LSFM. The surrounding niche and growth factor environment could also be manipulated, enabling study of their effects on endocrine (and β -cell) differentiation in both foetal pancreas organoids and PSC-derived pancreatic organoids. In summary, the establishment of this pancreas organoid system is a valuable asset for furthering our knowledge of pancreas development and endocrine commitment.

Introduction:

What is the impact of diabetes mellitus?

Diabetes mellitus is a chronic condition that affects the production of insulin from β islet cells in the pancreas, an organ located adjacent the stomach with endocrine and exocrine function (Gerich *et al.*, 1976; Pfeifer *et al.*, 1981). Insulin is the main anabolic hormone in the body, regulating glucose and fatty acid uptake into cells to maintain blood sugar homeostasis (Balcerczyk *et al.*, 2019). There are two main categories of diabetes: type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM); gestational diabetes also occurs during pregnancy, increasing both maternal and offspring susceptibility to obesity and T2DM (Reece, 2010). The dogma for T1DM is that pancreatic β -cells are destroyed by the body's own immune cells, resulting in an absolute insulin deficiency and prevention of glucose absorption into cells (Daneman, 2006). Although there is also β -cell dysfunction in end-stage T2DM, T2DM has traditionally been characterised by peripheral insulin resistance (Holman *et al.*, 2008; Stumvoll *et al.*, 2005). Repeated exposure to high blood glucose concentrations decreases insulin receptor sensitivity in adipose, muscle and liver cells (Mackenzie and Elliott, 2014; Stumvoll *et al.*, 2005).

Both types of diabetes are metabolic diseases that cause elevated blood glucose concentrations, otherwise known as hyperglycaemia. These abnormally high glucose levels are inducive to increased formation of toxic advanced glycated end products, which promote dysfunctional growth factor (GF) signalling, aberrant protein kinase C (PKC) activation and the production of harmful reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Koya and King, 1998; Negre-Salvayre *et al.*, 2009; Vlassaria, 1992). Therefore, chronic hyperglycaemia can lead to damage of blood vessels, nerves and almost all cell types (Long and Dagogo-Jack, 2011). This damage can ultimately result in vision loss via retinopathy (Stitt *et al.*, 2016), cardiovascular disease (CVD) and cardiac failure (Laakso, 1999; Singh *et al.*, 2018), kidney dysfunction (Middleton *et al.*, 2006), strokes (Ergul *et al.*, 2009), and even lower limb amputation due to infected foot ulcers (Noor *et al.*, 2015).

Recent years have seen diabetes be described as a "global epidemic", with incidences increasing drastically (Kolb and Mandrup-Poulsen, 2010; Oputa and Chinenye, 2012). For example, there was a stark increase in diabetes cases from 108 million in 1980 to 422 million in 2014 (NCD Risk Factor Collaboration, 2016). Currently 463 million people have diabetes worldwide; this number is estimated to increase to 700 million by 2045 (Saeedi *et al.*, 2019). The majority of cases (90%)

are accounted for by T2DM, with T1DM occurring in the remaining 5-10% of cases (Tuomilehto, 2013). T2DM usually develops in adults over the age of 45, whereas T1DM commonly affects children and younger adults, albeit both diseases can manifest in any age group (American Diabetes Association, 2019). The global economic cost of the two combined diseases was approximately US\$1.31 trillion in 2015 (Bommer *et al.*, 2017); the immense socioeconomic burden of diabetes highlights the need to develop new treatments.

<u>T1DM management – β-cell replacement therapy:</u>

Although many genetic and environmental factors are thought to play a role in T1DM progression, there are no current preventative treatments (Atkinson et al., 2014; Pociot and Lernmark, 2016; Rewers and Ludvigsson, 2016). Injectable insulin remains the gold standard for T1DM management, offering a life-saving method of restoring blood glucose concentrations to healthy levels (euglycaemia). However, insulin administration confers life-long dependence and some patients experience hypoglycaemia instead (Cryer, 2009; International Hypoglycaemia Study Group, 2015). In these patients, daily insulin injections heighten the risk of excessive glucose uptake into cells, decreasing blood glucose concentrations to dangerous levels. These hypoglycaemia-associated autonomic failure (HAAF) events can then result in seizures, loss of consciousness or even hypoglycaemia-induced comas (Bolo et al., 2011; Cryer, 2012; Cryer, 2013; McAulay et al., 2001; Seaguist et al., 2013). Insulin analogues, insulin pumps or continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) can somewhat alleviate iatrogenic hypoglycaemic events, but HAAF may still occur and patients remain insulin dependent for life (Mathieu et al., 2017; Pickup, 2018; Scheiner et al., 2009; Vashist, 2013). Therefore, the transplantation or regeneration of β -cells has emerged as one of the best options for the treatment of T1DM absolute insulin deficiency over the past decade. Recent advances have made the prospect of a cure for T1DM ever closer (Ellis et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2019).

Cadaver-derived islet transplantation:

Islet transplantation using cadaver-derived islets has developed considerably since the first implants were performed in rodents to successfully reverse diabetes, and in dogs to improve immunosuppressive regimens throughout the late 1970s and 1980s (Ballinger and Lacy, 1972; Horaguchi and Merrell, 1981; Rajotte *et al.*, 1983). After the initial success in animal models, there were complications in the translation of islet cell therapies to in-man studies (Bottino *et al.*, 2018; Najarian, 1977; Sutherland *et al.*, 1980). Some improvements in glucose control were observed following implantation in humans, with increased C-peptide indicating elevated insulin secretion (Sutherland *et al.*, 1980). However, there were issues of immune rejection and poor glycaemic management (Bottino *et al.*, 2018; Sutherland *et al.*, 1980). Shapiro *et al.* (2000) pioneered the proof-of-concept Edmonton Protocol for harvesting islet cells, increasing efficacy, and making the procedure feasible in humans. Donor islet cells are implanted into the liver through a catheter leading from the stomach and into the portal vein, with the patient only requiring local anaesthetic (Shapiro *et al.*, 2000).

Cadaver-derived islet transplantation has produced promising results using the Edmonton protocol. The implanted islet cells remove patients' dependence on insulin injections to an extent. There are multiple reports of reduced HbA1c, increased insulin secretion represented by higher C-peptide levels and reduction in diabetic retinopathy progression (Barton et al., 2012; Emamaullee et al., 2019; Hering et al., 2016; Posselt et al., 2010; Ricordi et al., 2016; Shapiro et al., 2017; Warnock et al., 2008). All of these factors contribute to a reduction in iatrogenic hypoglycaemic events, which continues despite islet graft survival failure (Warnock et al., 2008). Between 2000 and 2017, more than 1500 patients were successfully treated by cadaver derived islet transplants, highlighting this method as a routine, safe treatment for patients with unstable T1DM or poor hypoglycaemic awareness (Shapiro et al., 2017). Although some patients require a return to insulin therapy in between additional islet cell infusions, the number and rate of these infusions decreased considerably between 2007-2010, compared to 1999-2006 (Barton et al., 2012). Shapiro et al. (2017) also reported complete insulin independence in up to 50% of patients 5 years post-transplantation. 73% experience euglycemia following insulin re-administration after 10 years. Therefore, clinical islet transplantation has been suggested as a better long-term glycaemic control method, compared to current insulin administration techniques, for patients predisposed to hypoglycaemic events (Bellin et al., 2012; Berney et al., 2009; Shapiro et al., 2017).

Disadvantages of Cadaver-derived islet transplantation:

Nevertheless, islet cell transplantation is not without shortcomings. Islet function will vary considerably between patients, due to a variety of factors: genetic variance, age and health of the donor, time between extraction and transplantation, and spoiling during transport (Lyon *et al.*, 2016; Russ *et al.*, 2015). Moreover, life-long immunosuppressive routines are required that are accompanied with many side effects (Colegio and Billingsley, 2011; Hirshberg *et al.*, 2003; Kuschel *et al.*, 2006; Ojo *et al.*, 2003). In addition, the procedure of obtaining β -cells is itself complex. For

instance, some patients still experience renal dysfunction and the yield, and potency, of β -cells is markedly lower than living cells. Only 50% of extracted β cells are appropriate for clinical use (Shapiro, 2011). Finally, two pancreas donors are often needed to generate the approximate 10,000 islet cells/kg body weight ratio required for graft survival and efficacy (Warnock *et al.*, 2008); there may be long delays for treatment availability due to ever-worsening organ donor shortages.

PSC-derived β-cells emerging as new T1DM therapies:

Resultantly, pluripotent stem cell (PSC)-derived β-cells have become a very appealing alternative that may revolutionise T1DM treatment, improving patient welfare drastically. Protocols for differentiating pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) into β cells have improved substantially in recent years, but challenges for generating fully functional β-cells with correct glucose responsiveness and mono-hormonal insulin production remain (Hanley, 2014; Hrvatin et al., 2014). Therefore, human foetal development can be turned to as a means of revealing the main transcription factors (TFs) and signalling pathways active during key pancreas developmental checkpoints, facilitating the improvement of protocols (Jennings et al., 2015). The effect of the extracellular matrix (ECM) and three-dimensional (3D) microenvironment on stem cell and foetal tissue differentiation has been emerging as an exciting area of research, which could further aid generation of functional β cells (Bonnans et al., 2014; Greggio et al., 2013). Organoid culture of stem cells or foetal tissue may provide the correct mechanical and chemical stimuli to enable natural pancreas development, β-cell maturation and drug modelling of new therapeutics (Grapin-Botton, 2016).

Human development provides clues for PSC endocrine commitment: Pancreas structure and function:

The pancreas is not limited to controlling blood glucose levels: exocrine and endocrine cells have distinct functions. The exocrine pancreas consists of ductal cells assisting fluid drainage and acinar cells secreting a range of enzymes, including lipase, protease and amylase, and bicarbonate into the duodenum to aid micronutrient digestion (Figure 1B) (Domínguez-Muñoz and Cigarrán, 2018). Enzyme-mediated digestion of nutrients subsequently stimulates gut-incretin hormone production by enteroendocrine L-cells, which increases insulin sensitivity (Tasyurek et al., 2014). The endocrine system maintains blood glucose homeostasis through 5 specific subsets of cells within the islets of Langerhans (Laguesse, 1893), releasing hormones to either positively or negatively regulate glucose metabolism (Da Silva Xavier, 2018). When blood glucose concentrations are low, α -cells produce glucagon to promote the release of glucose from liver cells following glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis, as well as the inhibition of insulin production (Gustavson *et al.*, 2003; Ramnanan *et al.*, 2011). Conversely, β -cells secrete insulin to decrease blood glucose levels when they are above a healthy threshold (Rutter *et al.*, 2015). Other islet cells include: δ -cells, producing somatostatin to inhibit insulin and glucagon production (Huising et al., 2018; Rorsman and Huising, 2018); ε -cells, secreting ghrelin (Heller *et al.*, 2005); and γ cells, which release pancreatic polypeptide (PP) to increase satiety signals, prevent insulin in response to glucose and protect β -cells against apoptosis (Goldstone, 2006; Khan et al., 2017). Ghrelin-producing ε-cells are mainly present during foetal development (Arnes et al., 2012; Suissa et al., 2013). There is a dramatic decrease in ε -cells postnatally in mice and humans (Andralojc *et al.*, 2009; Heller *et al.*, 2005). This is likely due to them functioning as multipotent pancreas endocrine progenitors that give rise to α , γ and even β -cells (Arnes *et al.*, 2012).

The importance of human foetal pancreas research:

Most of our understanding of pancreas morphogenesis and development arises from the easily accessible and more simple vertebrate models, primarily rodents, *Xenopus* (African clawed frog) and zebrafish (Pearl *et al.*, 2009; Singh *et al.*, 2017; Slack, 1995; Zorn and Wells, 2009). Pancreas research in large animals, such as dogs and non-human primate models, or humans have been more limited due to high maintenance fees, low sample availability and ethical concerns (Bakhti *et al.*, 2019). Despite some similarities and usefulness as models for T1DM pathology, fundamental differences between murine and human pancreas development have been identified (Jennings *et al.*, 2013; Jennings *et al.*, 2017; Jennings *et al.*, 2020). Other models do not fully recapitulate the complex processes in humans (Pan and Brissova, 2014). Therefore, it is imperative to conduct research with human tissue. Embryos are categorised by Carnegie stages (CS) up to CS23, relating to 8 weeks post conception (wpc), at which point the embryo is classified as a foetus (O'Rahilly and Müller, 2010). Early human pancreas development is reviewed in detail by Jennings *et al.* (2015). Knowledge of the key signalling molecules and transcription factors (TFs) active during these processes is essential for developing PSC differentiation and organoid culture protocols, potentially aiding the generation of functional β -cells ready for transplantation. This information will also further our understanding of monogenic diabetes aetiology.



Figure 1. Simplified schematic representing the process for human pancreas formation, from ventral and dorsal bud initiation to fusion. Adapted from Suckale and Solimena (2008). A) CS12/13: Dorsal and ventral buds have emerged from foregut endoderm specified to pancreatic endoderm (PE). Dorsal aorta and notochord, as well as other neighbouring signalling events, commit the dorsal bud; the ventral bud is committed by the vitelline veins and signals from the neighbouring gall bladder and liver region. Blue arrow indicates rotation event that occurs at CS15/16 for the fusion of the ventral and dorsal buds. B) Adult pancreas: dorsal and ventral buds have fused. Pancreas head sits in between the C-shape of the duodenum, with the hooked uncinate process apparent. Two ducts are present, with the major duct connecting to the bile duct (green). Islets ($\alpha/\beta/\delta/\gamma/\epsilon$ endocrine cells)

are represented as blue dots. Exocrine acinar cells located at the end of duct branches secrete digestive enzymes and bicarbonate (represented as brown dots).

Pancreas development summary:

Gastrulation results in the formation of three germ layers: ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm. This period of development from 14 dpc was deemed to be a "black box", with ethical guidelines restricting the study of human gastrulation using *in vitro*-fertilised human embryos (Pera, 2017; Taniguchi *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, alternative vertebrate systems have been used to study human gastrulation; the process is highly conserved across species despite very different embryo structures (Hyun *et al.*, 2016; Petersen *et al.*, 2018). The recent development of human gastruloids, defined as ESCs differentiated into cell aggregates comprising all three germ layers, may also enable further study of human gastrulation (Moris *et al.*, 2020). These *in* vitro systems can now be compared against the *in vivo* single-cell transcriptomic data generated from a CS7 (16-19 dpc) human embryo (Tyser *et al.*, 2020).

The germ layers provide the body plan for subsequent organ development (Solnica-Krezel, 2005; Stern, 2004). The ectoderm forms the epidermis and central nervous system, mesoderm forms the notochord, dermis, skeleton, muscle, kidney, heart and blood, and endoderm compromises the gut, liver, stomach, pancreas and lungs (Solnica-krezel and Sepich, 2012). Epiboly describes this process of rearranging cells within the blastocyst into endoderm (Sui *et al.*, 2013). Definitive endodermal (DE) cells form a 2D contiguous sheet, before folding into the primitive gut tube (PGT) and developing into organs. Foregut becomes thyroid, liver, pancreas, stomach and lungs, whilst small-intestine, colon and rectum arise from mid-hindgut endoderm (Zorn and Wells, 2009).

Endoderm is committed to pancreatic tissue, followed by the evagination of dorsal and ventral pancreatic buds in both mice and humans (Figure 1A) (Jennings *et al.*, 2015; Mccracken and Wells, 2012; Pan and Wright, 2011). These buds form at Embryonic day (E) 9 and E9.5 respectively for dorsal and ventral tissue in mice (Pictet *et al.*, 1972; Slack, 1995); the dorsal bud predates ventral bud development at approximately 28 days post conception (dpc) in humans (Jennings *et al.*, 2013). Pancreatic progenitor populations then drive cells down exocrine (acinar and ductal) or endocrine lineages (islet cells). During this process, the pancreas is formed by the dorsal and ventral buds, located adjacent to the distal foregut endoderm, fusing next to the duodenum (Pan and Wright, 2011). This gut rotation and fusion event happens between E12 and E13 in mice, or CS15 to CS16 in humans (Gittes, 2009; Jørgensen *et al.*, 2007). The ventral bud forms the uncinate pancreas, a small "hooked" region, and both buds contribute to the pancreas head. The body and tail arise solely from the dorsal bud (Pandol, 2011). Lineage tracing experiments in mice initially allowed detailed tracking of pancreatic cells throughout differentiation and endocrine or exocrine commitment (Gu *et al.*, 2003). Early human developmental cues were not well studied, due to low tissue availability, before Jennings *et al.* (2013) performed a comprehensive review of the key transcription factors active during embryonic and foetal pancreas development (outlined in Figure 2).



Figure 2. Human pancreas development requires a complex interaction of

TFs, as replicated from Jennings *et al.*, (2015). This schematic focuses on pancreatic bud progression for simplicity and the relevance to PSC differentiation protocols (Jennings *et al.*, 2017). TF temporal and spatial expression are based

14

upon immunohistochemistry staining (Jennings *et al.*, 2013). Foregut cells are specified into definitive endoderm (DE), primitive gut tube (PGT), pancreatic endoderm (PE) and pancreas progenitor cells (PPC), before splitting into ductal or endocrine progenitor cells (EPC), depicted here as "tip" or "trunk" progenitors, respectively. A range of TFs regulate this process. EPCs then differentiate into immature β -cells, or other islet cells, via increased NEUROG3 activity and eventually mature when MAFA is expressed.

Lineage specification in the human embryonic pancreas:

Jennings *et al.*, (2013) provided a crucial insight into how the early human pancreas develops from distal foregut tissue, through to buds and eventually into committed endocrine cells. The report also highlighted how murine and human pancreas development progress via these same spatial stages, but that temporal regulation is different between the two species. Study of the earlier human pancreatic developmental stages had been limited, with only pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 TF (PDX1, also referred to as IPF1) and SRY (sex-determining region Y)-box 9 (SOX9) expression being recorded from ~4 wpc by *in situ* hybridisation (Piper *et al.*, 2002; Piper *et al.*, 2004). A range of immunohistochemistry (IHC) experiments clearly mapped early TF expression patterns (Jennings *et al.*, 2013).

The initial specification of foregut endoderm occurs due to signals received from the notochord (Hebrok et al., 1998; Kim et al., 1997), as well as from neighbouring vasculature and the dorsal aorta (DA) (Cleaver and Dor, 2012; Lammert et al., 2001). Foregut endoderm specification is outlined in Figure 3. The formation of the anterior intestinal portal (AIP), or PGT, begins from E8.5 in mice or CS10 (28-30 dpc) in humans (Gittes, 2009; Jørgensen et al., 2007). At CS9 (25 to 27 dpc) the notochord produces sonic hedgehog ventrally (shh), inhibiting PDX1 transcription, along with SOX17 dorsally and FOXA2. Between CS10 and CS12 (29-31 dpc), shh is suppressed by FGF2 and Activin β 2 released from the notochord, as well as increased retinoic acid (RA) activity (Hebrok et al., 1998; Jennings et al., 2013; Pan and Wright, 2011). Release of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by the DA also induces PDX1 expression dorsally in mice (Pan and Wright, 2011). Therefore, there is a loss of PDX1 inhibition from CS11 (Piper et al., 2004); PE is specified by PDX1, FOXA2, SOX17, GATA4 and low SOX9 expression (Figure 2). PE specification appears conserved between mice and humans (Jennings et al., 2015). From CS13 (30–33 dpc), Nirenberg and Kim homeobox factor 6.1 (NKX6.1) is induced, determining multipotent pancreatic progenitor cells (PPCs). GATA6 is also now expressed and SOX9 activity is increased, whilst SOX17 expression is lost

(Jennings *et al.*, 2013). Microlumens are first detectable, predating the formation of the branched ductal-acinar network for fluid drainage (Villasenor *et al.*, 2010). During the bud fusion event between CS15 (35–37 dpc) and CS16 (37–40 dpc), there is wide expression of *PDX1*, *NKX6.1*, *SOX9* and *FOXA2* (Jennings *et al.*, 2013). Figure 1A represents the fusion of ventral and dorsal pancreas buds. In contrast to humans, a "primary transition" driven by *Neurogenin3* occurs in mice between E9.5 and E12.5 (Gu *et al.*, 2003; Villasenor *et al.*, 2008). This is reviewed in detail (Pan and Wright, 2011).

PPCs are then split into bi-potent progenitor populations capable of becoming endocrine or ductal cells from CS19 (45-47 dpc). The expression profile for human development reported in Jennings et al. (2013) mirrored that seen in mice (Cleveland et al., 2012; Schaffer et al., 2010; Solar et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2007); cells still expressing GATA4 differentiate into "tip" PPCs located on the periphery of the branched pancreas, or those without GATA4 become central "trunk" PPCs. Both "tip" and "trunk" progenitors retain PDX1, FOXA2, SOX9 and NKX6.1 production in humans. Instead, SOX9 is lost immediately from mouse "tip" PPCs (Schaffer et al., 2010). The same pattern of TF expression is observed at CS21 but carboxypeptidase A1 (CPA1) is also produced in "tip" cells, indicating the start of differentiation into acinar cells (Jennings et al., 2013). Approximately 20 days later at 10 wpc, CPA1+/GATA4+ acinar cells now completely lack NKX6.1 expression, whilst retaining some SOX9 expression (Jennings et al., 2013). The same expression pattern is observed in mice too (Decker et al., 2006). By 14 wpc, terminal differentiation has occurred with a mutual expression between GATA4 and SOX9 becoming apparent. For example, ductal and centroacinar cells producing SOX9 are located in the middle, whereas GATA4-positive acinar cells are at the periphery (Jennings et al., 2013). Peripheral "tip" cells have a greater proliferative capacity compared to the central trunks in both mice and humans, which is lost as the pancreas develops (Piper et al., 2004; Sarkar et al., 2008). This is consistent with SOX9/PTF1a co-localising in pancreas progenitor cells at the periphery from the second trimester (Villani et al., 2019).



Figure 3. Simplified schematic representing human foregut initiation at the dorsal pancreatic bud, as adapted from (Slack, 1995). A) Between CS9 and 10: PDX1 expression is inhibited in the gut endoderm (GE) by sonic hedgehog (shh) produced by the notochord (NC) adjacent to the neural tube (NT). The dorsal aorta remains separate. Hashed blue indicates mesenchyme. B) CS10: FGF2 and activin β 2 production by the NC inhibits shh, enabling PDX1 induction. Dorsal aorta (DA) fusion is complete, as represented by the dotted line, separating the GE from NC spatially. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is released, promoting PDX1 expression. C) CS12: dorsal pancreatic bud (DP) begins to form due to increased PDX1 expression. Increased mesoderm formation distances the DP from the DA and NC.

Endocrine commitment – formation of β-cells:

NEUROG3 has been identified as the driver of endocrine differentiation and islet cell formation in both mice and humans (Gradwohl *et al.*, 2000; Gu *et al.*, 2002; Jennings *et al.*, 2013; Piper Hanley *et al.*, 2010; Schwitzgebel *et al.*, 2000; Villasenor *et al.*, 2008). NEUROG3 is expressed from ~8 wpc in humans and is accompanied by a large increase in *INS*, *NKX2.2*, *NKX6.1*, *PDX1* and *ISL1* expression, as well as a complete removal of SOX*9*, in β-cells (Jennings *et al.*, 2013). Resultantly, neonatal diabetes can be caused by homozygous inactivating mutations in NEUROG3 dramatically reducing β-cell number (Pinney *et al.*, 2011; Wang *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, endocrine differentiation of PSCs *in vitro* or PPCs *in* vivo does not occur unless NEUROG3 is active (McGrath et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2006). NEUROG3 regulates formation of all endocrine cells across the population, but individual NEUROG3+ cells are restricted to becoming one endocrine cell type (Desgraz and Herrera, 2009). The exact mechanisms of NEUROG3-mediated endocrine commitment are not well known, although lineage-tracing experiments have started to elucidate the TF network involved (Helman and Melton, 2020). β-cells are the first islet cell to develop (Lyttle et al., 2008). Glucagon, somatostatin and PP production indicate the presence of other islet cells from 10-14 wpc (Jennings et al., 2013; Lyttle et al., 2008). As ductal cells do not produce NEUROG3, they maintain SOX9 expression, along with FOXA2 and PDX1 (Jennings et al., 2013). Endocrine cells form in mice following a secondary transition with Neurog3 between E13 and E13.5 (Gradwohl et al., 2000; Gu et al., 2002; Gu et al., 2003; Schwitzgebel et al., 2000). Endocrine islet clusters form when cells delaminate from the ductal progenitor epithelial layer and migrate via epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) into surrounding mesenchyme, as initiated by Neurog3 (Bechard et al., 2016; Gouzi et al., 2011). Snail2 is upregulated in *Neurog3*⁺-endocrine cells, accompanied by downregulation of *E-cadherin* (*ECAD*). Increased *N-cadherin* expression is not observed (Rukstalis and Habener, 2007). This is unlike other organ development, suggesting regulation by alternative mechanisms (Bakhti et al., 2019).

Differences between human and mouse pancreas development:

Although mice function as a cheap, simple model with high conservation to the human genome (70.1% amino acid homology) (Hedrich, 2004; Mouse Genome Sequencing Consortium, 2002), there are also large discrepancies in pancreas development between the two species (Jennings *et al.*, 2015). This is evident by the different proportion of β -cells to other islet cells in humans and mice, altered architectures, and mice having two insulin genes, *Ins1* and *Ins2*, in comparison to the one in humans, *INS* (Brissova *et al.*, 2005; Mellou*l et al.*, 2002). These changes may account for the different insulin release kinetics in humans and mice (Dai *et al.*, 2012). There are also key developmental disparities during pancreas progenitor differentiation and endocrine commitment (Jennings *et al.*, 2013; Jennings *et al.*, 2008). This may be due to the slight differences between human and mouse PE positioning reducing stimulatory signals, such as VEGF, received from the dorsal aorta (Jennings *et al.*, 2015; Lammert *et al.*, 2001; Pan and Wright, 2011). Nirenberg and

Kim homeobox factor (NKX) 2.2 (NKX2.2) is also observed in mouse PPC populations, but not in humans (Jennings *et al.*, 2013). This indicates that NKX2.2 functions downstream of NEUROG3 in humans, but is located upstream in mice (Jennings *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, there is a delayed reduction in SOX9 expression in human foetal acinar cells, as opposed to a drastic loss in mice (Jennings *et al.*, 2013; Schaffer *et al.*, 2010). Moreover, insulin+ endocrine cells first appear in humans, whereas glucagon+ cells develop first in mice (Jeon *et al.*, 2009; Pan and Wright, 2011; Piper *et al.*, 2004).

Another difference is the roles of GATA4 and GATA6 in pancreas development. Mutations of GATA4 (D'Amato *et al.*, 2010) and GATA6 (Allen *et al.*, 2012) in humans result in pancreas agenesis (failure of organ development), with GATA6 being an important regulator of pancreas specification and β -cell function (Tiyaboonchai *et al.*, 2017). Although GATA4 and GATA6 are essential for PPC maintenance in mice (Xuan *et al.*, 2012), they are more redundant during early mouse pancreas development and GATA6 is more important for acinar differentiation (Villamayor *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, future work using human embryonic and foetal tissue is essential for furthering our understanding of pancreas development and endocrine commitment, allowing PSC-derived β -cell differentiation protocols to be improved.

Islet cell architecture:

Acinar and ductal cells of the exocrine system comprise 95% of the pancreas parenchyma, with only 5% filled by clusters of islet cells assorted throughout the tissue (Paris *et al.*, 2004). This distribution of islets was widely considered to be random in both mice and humans (Aguayo-Mazzucato *et al.*, 2006; Wang *et al.*, 2013), although "uniform scattering" of spherical islets was recently observed in the human pancreas body (Ionescu-tirgoviste *et al.*, 2015). There are approximately 1-3 million islets in the adult human pancreas (Hellman, 1959; Ionescu-tirgoviste *et al.*, 2015), albeit some studies have reported greater numbers (Da Silva Xavier, 2018). These disparities are potentially due to methodology alterations. On average 1000 cells form an individual islet, meaning over a billion islet cells are in the pancreas (Cabrera *et al.*, 2006; Zhou and Melton, 2018). The human pancreas islet population is primarily comprised of β -cells (~60%), ~30% α -cells, ~5% δ -cells and the remainder consist of ϵ - and γ -cells (Brissova *et al.*, 2005).

Islet composition and architecture surprisingly varies significantly between human and murine pancreases (Steiner *et al.*, 2010); human β -cells are often located on the outside of islet clusters, whereas murine β -cells form a core surrounded by the remaining islet cell types on the periphery (Brissova *et al.*, 2005; Cabrera *et al.*, 2006; Gannon *et al.*, 2000; Jeon *et al.*, 2009). Human β -cells favour "heterologous cell-cell contacts", enabling close positing to blood vessels (Bosco *et al.*, 2010). This is likely reflected by discrepancies in β -cell electrical activity and insulin function between mice and humans (Rorsman and Ashcroft, 2017). Nevertheless, other reports have suggested that mice and human islet architecture is not as distinct as previously thought (Bonner-Weir *et al.*, 2015). The large variety of islet cell types makes developing well defined differentiation protocols capable of committing pancreas progenitor cells specifically to β -cells essential.

A key paper using bulk-RNA-seq and deep sequencing was the Jennings *et al.* (2017) laser-capture article, which revealed the main active genes during early pancreas and liver organogenesis. 35 of these genes identified were TFs that had previously not been linked to pancreas development. The paper also identified that PSC-derived pancreatic tissue differentiation protocols mimic signalling events relative to formation of the dorsal pancreatic bud, as opposed to the ventral bud (Jennings *et al.*, 2017). This is likely due to BMP inhibitors restricting the ventral pancreas regime (Petersen *et al.*, 2018). Mimicking dorsal pancreas development may influence islet structure and function. For example, there is a greater proportion of larger, less uniform PP cells in pancreas derived from the ventral bud in both mice and humans, compared to the dorsal bud (Brereton *et al.*, 2015; Fiocca *et al.*, 1983). Moreover, ventral pancreas-derived PP-rich islets were deficient in α -cells (Brereton *et al.*, 2015).

<u>β-cell heterogeneity:</u>

The advent of single-cell RNA-Sequencing (scRNA-seq) has furthered our knowledge of islet subpopulation structure, development and signalling pathways (Dominguez-Gutierrez *et al.*, 2019; Yu and Xu, 2020). Bulk RNA-seq data only takes an average snapshot of the total gene expression across a group of cells. ScRNA-Seq can instead identify differences in thousands of genes between individual cells within the same, or different, clusters with high-throughput and precision (Tritschler *et al.*, 2017). This has revealed that β -cells can be separated into distinct cellular state groups and that there is heterogeneity within these groups in humans and mice (Aguayo-mazzucato *et al.*, 2017; Baron *et al.*, 2016; Enge *et al.*, 2017; Fang *et al.*, 2019; Muraro *et al.*, 2016; Petersen *et al.*, 2017; Roscioni *et al.*, 2016; Spitzer and Nolan, 2016; Wang *et al.*, 2016). Further regulation between ventral and dorsal programmes in mouse was revealed by scRNA-seq (Li *et al.*, 2018). Mouse ventral *Pdx1*^{low} cells represent intermediate progenitor cells that differentiate into

20

hepatoblasts or extrahepatic bile ducts, and PDX1^{high} are PPCs (Li et al., 2018; Rodríguez-Seguel et al., 2013). Dorsal Pdx1^{low} cells occur during the first wave of endocrinogenesis, with PDX1^{high} cells likely directly transitioning from endoderm (as reviewed in Yu and Xu (2020)). ScRNA-seq has also been especially useful for lineage tracing, identifying "branch points" for PPC fate changes (Yu and Xu, 2020). The varying expression of the 18,000 different genes in β -cells results in subpopulations (Xin et al., 2018). For example, 4 β -cell subpopulations have been identified in humans through specific cell surface markers, which are disrupted in T2DM patients (Dorrell et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2016). This β-cell heterogeneity is thought to affect insulin secretion, maturity and vulnerability to auto-immune responses (Liu and Hebrok, 2017; Nasteska and Hodson, 2018; Wojtusciszyn et al., 2008). Heterogeneity is evident by a small proportion of β -cells (1-10%) being responsible as "hubs" for metabolic control, regulating most glycaemic changes through controlling the Ca²⁺ response and insulin release (Johnston et al., 2016; Lei et al., 2018). The presence of these "hubs" for basal secretion is supported by single-molecule fluorescence in situ hybridization (smFISH) of mouse pancreas tissue (Farack et al., 2019). "Hub" cells are more susceptible to targeting by proinflammatory cytokines and glucolipotoxicity. They may therefore experience reduced hub survival, connectivity and insulin secretion during T2DM pathogenesis (Johnston et al., 2016).

"Dynamic interchangeable states" within β-cell populations displays varying levels of unfolded protein response (UPR) genes and *Insulin* activity when grouped using pseudotime ordering (Dominguez-Gutierrez *et al.*, 2019; Xin *et al.*, 2018). Pseudotime ordering, or trajectory inference, refers to tracing cells along a continuous route as they evolve, rather than clustering cells into subgroups (Trapnell *et al.*, 2014). This can be particularly useful for grouping cells during dynamic processes, such as differentiation or the cell cycle. A period of high insulin secretion is followed by UPR stress release, as proinsulin is highly susceptible to misfolding during synthesis, resulting in high endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress (Liu *et al.*, 2005). If these fluctuations are mis-regulated, diabetes may develop (Dominguez-Gutierrez *et al.*, 2019).

Discrepancies in Wnt-planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway activity also affects β -cell heterogeneity, due to Wnt-PCP-mediated β -cell polarity being responsible for complete β -cell maturation and function (Bader *et al.*, 2016; Cortijo *et al.*, 2012; Roscioni *et al.*, 2016; Sharon *et al.*, 2019). Multiple other pathways mediating β -cell proliferation and maturation have been identified in mice by scRNA-seq (Qiu *et al.*,

21

2017; Zeng *et al.*, 2017), but it remains to be elucidated whether the mechanisms are evolutionary conserved or biologically relevant in humans. Further study of human development will identify which β -cell populations should be selected for and are preferable for clinical translation. The application of emerging technologies, such as multiplex mass spectrometry imaging, fluctuation localization imaging-based fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (fliFISH) and single-cell western blot, may enable this (Cui *et al.*, 2018; Kang *et al.*, 2016; Thiery *et al.*, 2007).

Developmental defects and monogenic diabetes:

Multifarious genes can contribute to T1DM and T2DM progression. However, in 1-5% of cases single-gene (monogenic) mutations are responsible and they primarily characterise T2DM (Yang and Chan, 2016). Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have revealed a vast range of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) which may cause T2DM progression (Langenberg and Lotta, 2018; Mahajan *et al.*, 2018). Many of these variants are located proximally to monogenic diabetes genes, most commonly β -cell insulin secretion genes and key pancreas developmental TFs in mice and humans (Dimas *et al.*, 2014; Jennings *et al.*, 2015). Greater comprehension of the interactions between these genes and TFs may reduce developmental defects, such as permanent neonatal diabetes mellitus (PNDM) or pancreas agenesis (De León and Stanley, 2016; Schnedl *et al.*, 2009). For example, a single nucleotide deletion in *PDX1* was the first mutated gene associated with pancreas agenesis and is implicated in PNDM (Nicolino *et al.*, 2010; Stoffers *et al.*, 1997). *PDX1*-null mice lack PPCs and hence the pancreas does not develop (Jonsson *et al.*, 1994).

Since then, mutations in the other main pancreas developmental TFs have been connected to pancreas agenesis, including: GATA4 (D'Amato *et al.*, 2010; Shaw-smith *et al.*, 2014), GATA6 (Allen *et al.*, 2012), pancreas specific transcription factor 1a (*PTF1A* – the pancreas progenitor marker) (Kawaguchi *et al.*, 2002; Sellick *et al.*, 2004; Weedon *et al.*, 2014), hepatocyte nuclear factor 1B (HNF1B) (Body-bechou *et al.*, 2014), motor neuron and pancreas homeobox 1 (MNX1) (Harrison *et al.*, 1999), and NEK8 (Frank *et al.*, 2013). GATA6 mutations are the most common cause of pancreas agenesis (Allen *et al.*, 2012). A missense mutation in CNOT1, a transcriptional repressor that promotes PSC stemness, was most recently shown to result in pancreas agenesis (De Franco *et al.*, 2019). SOX9 mutations also result in underdeveloped pancreases and abnormal islet structure (Piper *et al.*, 2002). Human pancreas development, the common genetic mutations and the emerging role of PSC-derived β -cells are reviewed in detail (Petersen *et al.*, 2018).

Signalling pathways active in human and mouse pancreas development:

As well as identifying many of the TFs essential for pancreas formation, upstream signalling molecules have been investigated. For example, fibroblast growth factor (FGF) molecules produced by the mesenchyme, primarily FGF7 and FGF10, were found to promote pancreas proliferation in rat and human embryonic pancreas epithelial cells (Elghazi et al., 2002; Ye et al., 2005). This supported observations of FGF10 regulating pancreas proliferation, but not being involved in initial bud development, in FGF10-/- mouse embryos (Bhushan et al., 2001). Wnt signalling was identified as a key regulator of SOX17 expression during mouse definitive endoderm formation (Haegel et al., 1995), as well as more recently as a driver of endocrine commitment in a global transcriptomic analysis of human pancreas (Cebola et al., 2015). Cells were harvested from CS16-18 pancreatic buds and gene expression compared to hPSC-derived multipotent PPCs in parallel via RNA-seq and chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChiP)-seq; hPSC-derived PPCs largely recapitulate native global transcriptional profiles despite their artificial origins (Cebola et al., 2015). The functions of BMP, notch or retinoic acid (RA) signalling have not been documented during human in vivo pancreas progenitor maintenance (Jennings et al., 2015), although these pathways have defined roles in endoderm and pancreas lineage commitment in Xenopus, zebrafish and mice (Pan and Wright, 2011; Pearl et al., 2009; Tiso et al., 2009). Knowledge of the impact of signals from neighbouring tissue on pancreas development continues to guide the development of PSC differentiation protocols towards committed endocrine lineages, and specifically towards functional β -cells (Petersen *et al.*, 2018).

Why use Pluripotent stem cells?

Pluripotent stem cells (PSCs) are obtained from the inner cell mass (ICM) of the blastocyst (Martin, 1981). Human PSCs address the issue of tissue availability; stem cells have the ability to self-renew and to differentiate into almost any of the approximate 200 cell types in the body (Watt et al., 2010). Embryonic stem cells are pluripotent, meaning they can form all three germ layers (Smith, 2006). For this report, it can be assumed that PSCs refer to embryonic stem cells. Growth conditions can be controlled easily and PSCs can be genetically engineered to enhance proliferation or differentiation capabilities, as well as to investigate the importance of certain genes during these processes (Balboa et al., 2019). Multipotent stem cells (MSCs) have been used to generate β -cells (Pavathuparambil et al., 2019). However, MSCs are more limited in their expansion capabilities, differentiation potentials and are derived from adult tissue, perhaps making them less useful for studying foetal development (Nardi and da Silva Meirelles, 2008). Hence, PSCs are ideal candidates for producing the large amounts of islet cells required for β -cell transplantation and also to enable the screening of new diabetic drugs (Kieffer, 2016; Millman and Pagliuca, 2017).

Progress of PSC-β-cell differentiation protocols:

A seminal proof-of-concept study for stem-cell derived β-cells was Assady et al. (2001). This paper utilised an embryoid body (EB) system and spontaneous differentiation to generate β -like cells which could produce insulin. Despite some success, β -like cells were not glucose responsive, differentiation was not regulated through addition of key developmental TFs or GFs, and cell purity remained an issue. Over the next few years, improvements in PSC differentiation into β-cells were made (D'Amour et al., 2005; D'Amour et al., 2006; Shim et al., 2007). Nodal and β-catenin signalling pathways were activated through combined addition of activin a (AA) and WNT3. β-like cells were now capable of producing Chromogranin A (CHGA), a secretory proprotein located within β -cells, but retained poor glucose sensitivity (D'Amour et al., 2006; Winkler and Fischer-Colbrie, 1992). Kroon et al. (2008) expanded on these preliminary studies to establish a four-stage PSC differentiation protocol towards endocrine progenitor cells (EPCs). Implantation of these progenitors in immune-deficient mice achieved increased maturity and functionality compared to in vitro differentiation (Kroon et al., 2008). This protocol was further developed by other studies via the addition of GFs or small molecules, allowing generation of β -cells capable of producing insulin and displaying some

glucose responsiveness within approximately two weeks (Kieffer, 2016). Issues of poorly matured poly-hormonal β -like cells remained until large advancements were made in 2014 (Pagliuca *et al.*, 2014; Rezania *et al.*, 2014). The prominent PSC differentiation protocols are outlined in Figure 4.

Pagliuca et al. (2014) and Rezania et al. (2014) improve differentiation considerably:

A major improvement of both protocols was the addition of CHIR99021, a glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3- β) inhibitor that specifically activates the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin pathway, in combination with AA to drive differentiation to DE. PDX1+ progenitor populations were also derived through the introduction of protein kinase C (PKC) inhibitors, such as (2S,5S)-(E,E)-8-(5-(4-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl)-2,4pentadienoylamino)benzolactam (TPB) and Phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate (PDBu) (Pagliuca et al., 2014; Rezania et al., 2014). Pagliuca et al. (2014) focussed on the long term scalability of β -cell production, efficiently generating partially functional PSC-derived β -like cells (referred to as SC- β cells) by adapting the existing differentiation protocols (Kroon et al., 2008; Rezania et al., 2012). SC-ß cells transplanted in mice displayed glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (GSIS) and reversed diabetes within 15 days (Pagliuca et al., 2014). Although mono-hormonal populations could be produced, insulin*-glucagon* cells were also generated that lacked a functional GSIS response. Therefore the differentiation protocol has been optimised to enable culturing of aggregates, or organoids, which generate β -cells with heightened insulin production and function (Velazco-cruz et al., 2019).

A seven-stage differentiation protocol was developed by the Kiefer group to convert PSCs into mono-hormonal β -like cells (Rezania *et al.*, 2014). The stage (S) 7 cells representing mature β -like cells expressed elevated levels of key markers for maturity, such as MAFA, and had functional GSIS responses. β -cell maturity was promoted through the induction of MAFA, a basic leucine zipper TF essential for the regulation of insulin secretion and a regulator of mature β -cell function (Hang *et al.*, 2014; Wang *et al.*, 2007; Zhang *et al.*, 2005), via the addition of a GF cocktail (Rezania *et al.*, 2014). This protocol therefore addressed the issue of bi-hormonal insulin-glucagon production by PSC-derived β -cells (Rezania *et al.*, 2014). For instance, approximately 50% of the cells obtained were insulin positive, displaying yields much higher than previous protocols (Bruin *et al.*, 2013; Rezania *et al.*, 2011; Rezania *et al.*, 2012; Rezania *et al.*, 2013). Streptozotocin (STZ)-induced diabetes was reversed in mice after 40 days, showing the effectiveness of these S7 cells (Rezania *et al.*, 2014).

26

	PSC	Definitive endoderm (DE)	Primitive gut tube (PGT)	Pancreatic endoderm (PE)	Pancreatic progenitor cell (PPC)	Endocrine progenitor cell (EPC)	Immature β-like cell endocrine cell
Azc	y-27632	Activin A WNT3A	KGF	Cyc RA Noggin			
schu	Activin A Heregulin	Activin A WNT3A	KGF TGFbi IV	Cyc TTNBP Noggin	KGF EGF Noggin		
P38	и ^{са} Y-27632	Activin A CHIR99	FGF7	FGF7 LDN RA PDBu SANT-1	FGF7 RA SANT-1	GSIXXI Alk5i II RA T3 SANT-1 BTC	Alk5i II T3
Rel	ania Y-27632	GDF8 CHIR99	FGF7	FGF7 LDN RA TPB SANT-1	FGF7 RA SANT-1	ALK5i II LDN GS RA ZnSO4 LD SANT-1 T3 Zn	XX ALK5i II N T3 ALK5i II SO4 Heparin ZnSO4 R428
Ri	Activin A WNT3A	Activin A WNT3A	KGF TGFBi IV	Cyc RA Noggin	KGF EGF Noggin	KGF TPB ALK5i II Noggin	
Ghatit	adet Y-27632	Activin A CHIR99	FGF7	LDN RA SANT-1	LDN PDBu ALK5i II	H1152	H1152 H1152
42	Activin A Heregulin	Activin A WNT3A TGFbi IV	FGF7	TTNBP EGF	FGF7 EGF	GSIXXI T3 LDN Heparin ZnSO4 NAC ALK5i II TPB	ZnSO4 T3 ALK5i II Heparin NAC
Velat	9-27632	Activin A CHIR99	FGF7	FGF7 LDN RA Y-27632 SANT-1 PDBu	FGF7 Acti RA Y-27 SANT-1	vin A GSIXXI T3 RA Hepa SANT-1 BTC ALK5i II	rin Heparin ZnSO4

Figure 4. The improvement of PSC-derived β-cell differentiation protocols, as adapted from Tremmel *et al.* (2019). The four-stage protocol of Kroon *et al.* (2008) generated poly-hormonal insulin+/glucagon+ cells. The growth factor regime was adapted and large advances in mono-hormonal β-like cell generation were seen (Pagliuca *et al.*, 2014; Rezania *et al.*, 2014). Russ *et al.* (2015) identified the optimal BMP inhibition period, inducing PPCs expressing NKX6.1. ROCK II inhibition (H1152) promoted β-cell maturity (Ghazizadeh *et al.*, (2017). Schulz *et al.* (2012) pioneered a 3D culture system, which were adopted by later protocols with organoids. Dramatic improvements in β-cell function and calcium signalling were achieved using these PSC-organoid cultures, although full maturity has remained elusive (Nair *et al.*, 2019; Velazco-cruz *et al.*, 2019). Abbreviations refer to: Cyc, cyclopamine; ALK5i II, TGF-β RI kinase inhibitor; TGFbi IV, β-secretase inhibitor IV; GSI XX(I), γ-secretase inhibitor; PDBu, phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate; RA, retinoic acid; T3, 3,3'5-Triodo-L-thryonine, NAC, N-acetylcysteine; BTC, betacellulin; GDF8, growth differentiation factor 8 (TGF-β family); TPB, α-amyloid precursor protein modulator; TTNBP, arotinoid acid (RA analogue).

Both papers reported similar results of approximately 50% insulin⁺/NKX6.1⁺β-like cells, which could restore euglycemia within weeks of transplantation in mice (Pagliuca et al., 2014; Rezania et al., 2014). Therefore, these two prominent papers have been vital for understanding β -cell development and have made the prospect of readily available transplantable β -cells much more attainable. However, the papers are not without their caveats (Hanley, 2014; Johnson, 2016; Kushner et al., 2014). For example, PSC-derived β -cells may have different glucose thresholds for insulin secretion compared to *bona fide* β -cells, potentially resulting in patients still experiencing hypoglycaemia (Hanley, 2014; Pagliuca et al., 2014; Rezania et al., 2014). Furthermore, glucose release kinetics of PSC-derived S7 β -cells did not match those of native β-cells. This was evident from a much slower GSIS in smaller quantities for S7 cells, compared to a rapid burst of insulin release that more closely mimics fluctuating glucose concentrations from adult β -cells (Rezania *et al.*, 2014). Calcium release kinetics did not resemble human islets either (Johnson, 2016; Kindmark et al., 1991). Both protocols boldly claimed to have generated "functional" β-cells, due to the approximate 2-fold increase of insulin secretion following glucose stimulation, but the GSIS responses observed remain minimal compared to the up to 10 times increase in insulin production in cadaver-derived islets (Shapiro et al., 2000). Finally, mice were only reported to respond to fluctuating blood glucose levels 2-6 weeks post-implantation, demonstrating that the β -cells are still not fully mature following culture in vitro (Pagliuca et al., 2014; Rezania et al., 2014). Pagliuca et al. (2014) could not achieve the MAFA-mediated β -cell maturation adopted in Rezania et al. (2014), making Rezania et al. (2014) the preferable differentiation protocol of the two.

BMP signalling duration regulates β-cell hormonal fate via NKX6.1 induction:

Enrichment of PDX1⁺ PPCs for NKX6.1 was also found to promote β -cell maturation, following implantation *in vivo* (Kelly *et al.*, 2011; Kroon *et al.*, 2008; Rezania *et al.*, 2013). Nostro *et al.* (2015) demonstrated that activation of both epidermal growth factor (EGF) and nicotinamide signalling pathways, as well as BMP inhibition via NOGGIN, stimulate *NKX6.1* expression in progenitor cells. The size of these *NKX6.1*⁺-progenitor populations is controlled by the GF regimen time period; a short 24-hour treatment results in mono-hormonal β -cells, whereas 72-96 hours treatment β -cells have poly-hormonal characteristics. They revealed that this

early induction of *NKX6.1* is essential for producing mono-hormonal cells across numerous hPSC cell lines (Nostro *et al.*, 2015).

The findings of Nostro *et al.* (2015) were supported by another prominent paper for PSC- β -cell differentiation (Russ *et al.*, 2015). They also showed that premature BMP-mediated inhibition of *PDX1*⁺ PPC populations actually increases the proportion of poly-hormonal cells, with short-term BMP stimulation required for mono-hormonal β cell formation (Russ *et al.*, 2015). Pagliuca *et al.* (2014) and Rezania *et al.* (2014) had focussed on improving end-stage β -cell differentiation, whilst employing NOGGIN-mediated BMP inhibition, but this will have been detrimental for deriving mono-hormonal β -cells (Russ *et al.*, 2015). Russ *et al.* (2015) utilised the recently developed INS^{GFP,W} reporter cell line as an elegant system for the simple selection of β -cell populations via fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) (Micallef *et al.*, 2012). 31-45% of cells expressed GFP, with MAFA expression elevated in the β -cell population (Russ *et al.*, 2015). Nonetheless, implantation of β -like cells had limited effectiveness *in vivo*. STZ mice still developed diabetes, albeit at a reduced rate, and no dynamic insulin secretion assays were performed (Johnson, 2016; Russ *et al.*, 2015).

Differences in maturity between neonatal and mature β-cells:

There remain issues of β -cell maturity in these stem cell differentiation protocols. For example, PSC-derived cells more closely resemble foetal phenotypes, as opposed to functional adult cells, in a range of tissue types (Baxter *et al.*, 2015; Hrvatin *et al.*, 2014; Karakikes *et al.*, 2015; Playne and Connor, 2017). Although β cells first develop in the foetus from 8-9 wpc, neonatal β -cells still do not display the hallmarks of fully mature β -cells in both rodents and humans (Aguayo-Mazzucato *et al.*, 2011; Arda *et al.*, 2016; Blum *et al.*, 2012; Dhawan *et al.*, 2015; Gregg *et al.*, 2012; Jermendy *et al.*, 2011). Between 9 and 16 wpc, 20-40% of human foetal endocrine cells are polyhormonal, and only become mainly monohormonal by 21 wpc (Jeon *et al.*, 2009; Riedel *et al.*, 2012).

Mature β -cells have a very complex mechanism for nutrient sensing and subsequent rapid GSIS, which may not be fully developed in PSC-derived β -cells (MacDonald *et al.*, 2005; Rutter *et al.*, 2015). Immediately after birth, β -cells are classified as "having high basal insulin output", due to responding to a lower glucose threshold than mature β -cells (Kieffer, 2016). This may be due to neonatal β -cells requiring feeding and hunger signals received postnatally to trigger a more mature β -cell state during the transition from glycolysis to oxidative phosphorylation, which can be mimicked by addition of certain factors during differentiation (Aguayo-

mazzucato *et al.*, 2013; Stolovich-Rain *et al.*, 2015). For example, estrogen-related receptor γ (ERR γ) has been shown to be essential for the maturation of β -cells into fully glucose-responsive cells through upregulating mitochondrial oxidative metabolism (Yoshihara *et al.*, 2016). This is supported by high oxygen concentrations promoting induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) differentiation into *Neurog3* positive β -like cells, with enhanced insulin secretion compared to lower oxygen tensions (Hakim *et al.*, 2014). WNT4 signalling regulates ERR γ -mediated induction of β -cell maturation markers (Yoshihara *et al.*, 2020).

Paracrine signalling between β-cells and other islet cells also promotes insulin secretion and maturation. For example, α -cells produce the incretin hormone, glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP1), for improved β -cell function and proliferation (Chambers *et al.*, 2017; Drucker, 2018). α -cell function is also greatly reduced in T1DM patients, indicating that they could also be targeted to aid β -cell function postimplantation (Brissova et al., 2018). Therefore, GLP1 or analogues, such as exendin-4, can be incorporated into the GF differentiation cocktail to ensure β-cell maturation (List and Habener, 2004; Ohmine et al., 2012). Inclusion of ROCKII inhibitor from the EPC stage was shown to inaugurally promote upregulation of the maturity marker, UROCORTIN-3 (UCN3) (Ghazizadeh et al., 2017). Somatostatin release and expression of shared β -cell surface markers by δ -cells additionally mediates β -cell function (Huising *et al.*, 2018; Van Der Meulen *et al.*, 2015). Other factors or small molecules used include: forskolin, to activate adenylate cyclase, with dexamethasone (Kunisada et al., 2012), insulin growth factor-1 (IGF1) and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) (Ohmine et al., 2012). However, they have not achieved full β-cell maturity (Al-Khawaga et al., 2018).

Furthermore, there is a large difference in the gene expression profile between neonatal and mature β -cells. The transition between states is regulated by activation or repression of key genes to maintain a Yin-Yang homeostasis, wherein blood glucose levels do not reach hypo- or hyper-glycaemic levels (Schuit *et al.*, 2012). For instance, key pancreas-defining TFs such as: *Neuorod*, *Pdx1*, *Pax6* and both *Mafa* and *Mafb* are upregulated to promote β -cell maturity, with the downregulation of *Ldha*, *Hk1* and *Mct1* (Dhawan *et al.*, 2015; Lemaire *et al.*, 2016). This results in a "visible face" of gene expression for neonatal β -cells as they mature, increasing eventual production of proteins required for controlling insulin secretion. The "hidden face" represses genes to prevent elevated β -cell GSIS in response to exercise (Lemaire *et al.*, 2016). PSC-derived β -cells are still in a neonatal state due to diminished expression of maturity-associated genes, such as *MAFA*, *UCN3*, and

NEUROG3, compared to *bona fide* human β -cells (Hrvatin *et al.*, 2014; Nair *et al.*, 2019; Pagliuca *et al.*, 2014; Rezania *et al.*, 2014; Velazco-cru*z et al.*, 2019; Veres *et al.*, 2019). SIX2, a homeobox TF, was recently identified as a β -cell differentiation and maturation regulator (Velazco-Cru*z et al.*, 2020). Further elucidation of the signalling mechanisms and interacting pathways may address the issue of maturity. Although it would be preferable to have fully mature β -cells for transplantation, mature β -cells do have reduced proliferation rate (Yu and Xu, 2020). Hence, alternative strategies need to be investigated to aid mature β -cell expansion.

PSCs and organoid systems - the means to fully functional β-cells:

Two recent protocols utilising PSC-derived β -cell aggregates have helped to address the issue of β -cell maturity and function (Nair *et al.*, 2019; Velazco-cruz *et al.*, 2019). These papers report the first functionally relevant dynamic GSIS response, almost matching those reported for cadaver-derived islet cells (Nair et al., 2019; Velazcocruz et al., 2019). Enriched β -cell clusters (eBCs) generated by Nair et al. (2019) can mimic the endocrine cell clustering that occurs in vivo to produce more mature adult β-cells and additional islet cells (Borden et al., 2013; Jeon et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2016; Nair and Hebrok, 2015). Velazco-cruz et al. (2019) adjusted their growth factorsmall molecule treatment regime during the pancreatic endocrine commitment step, yielding the largest increase in dynamic GSIS response. The large improvements of β-cell function obtained in Russ et al. (2015) and Nair et al. (2019) were partially due to the application of the transgenic INS^{GFP/W} reporter cell line to increase cell purity (Micallef et al., 2012). This has also been performed through the sorting of cluster populations via magnetic assisted cell sorting (MACS) for specific β -cell markers, such as CD49a (otherwise referred to as ITGA1) (Veres et al., 2019). ScRNA-Seq was used on over 100,000 cells to identify multiple cell types within differentiated clusters (Klein *et al.*, 2015). These clusters included β -/ α -cells, non-endocrine cells and an enterochromaffin (ECh) cell population for the first time (Veres et al., 2019). ECh-cells have similar expression profiles to β -cells, expressing NKX6.1 and CHGA, whilst demonstrating no glucagon activity (Veres et al., 2019). ScRNA-Seq has additionally identified that CD9 expression is absent in glucose-responsive INS+ populations (Li et al., 2020). These results represent the large heterogeneity within islet populations and offer a sorting method to isolate β -cells with greater purity.

Organoids as a model for human pancreas development:

The benefits of 3D cell culture:

The extracellular matrix (ECM) is immensely complex and controls myriad processes; the ECM and microenvironment must be considered during culture of PSCs or foetal tissue into β -cells (Aamodt and Powers, 2017; Grapin-Botton, 2016). Cells are often grown on 2D surfaces, such as glass or plastic, with purified mixtures of ECM components (Abbott, 2003; Kuschel et al., 2006). For example, initial PSC pancreas differentiation protocols utilised monolayer cultures after sequential addition of GFs and small molecules (Pagliuca et al., 2014; Rezania et al., 2014). However, these conditions do not mimic the natural ECM as morphogen gradients are absent and adhesions are only in the planar direction (Lv et al., 2015). For instance, correct PCP and apico-basal polarity are required for functional β -cell differentiation and maturity (Bader et al., 2016; Cortijo et al., 2012; Kesavan et al., 2009). Gap-junction mediated cell-cell contacts are also essential for β-cell survival and insulin secretion (Klee et al., 2011; Ravier et al., 2005; Santos-silva et al., 2012; Wojtusciszyn et al., 2008). The ECM in the epithelial plexus niche, where endocrine progenitor cells are clustered during pancreas development, additionally regulates endocrine lineage commitment via notch-dependent signalling (Bankaitis et al., 2015). Therefore, there has been a shift towards 3D culture (Abbott, 2003; Johnson et al., 2007), which has recently been adopted in PSC-β-cell differentiation protocols (Kim et al., 2016; Nair et al., 2019; Russ et al., 2015; Schulz et al., 2012; Shim et al., 2015; Velazco-cruz et al., 2019).

Primary cell lines have been generated for acinar, ductal and islet cells (Bläuer *et al.*, 2011; Houbracken *et al.*, 2011; Paraskevas *et al.*, 2000), but production of PPC lines has been challenging (Furuyama *et al.*, 2011; Sugiyama *et al.*, 2007). Nevertheless, none of these cell lines can be maintained for a long period of time without inclusion of mesenchyme or the essential intercellular contacts provide by the 3D environment (Burke *et al.*, 2010; Duvillié *et al.*, 2006; Johansson *et al.*, 2007). Although a genetically engineered " β -cell" line was produced via lentiviral transfection, cells are aneuploid and do not represent *bona fide* β -cell signalling mechanisms or function (Tsonkova *et al.*, 2018). Organoids are clusters of self-organising epithelial cells grown *in* vitro with correct polarity and cell-cell adhesions (Rossi *et al.*, 2018). They ideally have the same *in vivo* function, genetic signature, and structure of the native tissue. Organoid systems are an important tool for drug screening, development of cancer and neurodegenerative diseases (Clevers,

2016; Dutta *et al.*, 2017; Fatehullah *et al.*, 2016). Organoid culture with a 3D environment more akin to the native pancreas environment will provide the closest representation of natural foetal human pancreas development, permitting *in vivo* signalling mechanisms to be recapitulated (Balak *et al.*, 2019; Dayem *et al.*, 2019; Grapin-Botton, 2016). This will enable the study of cell-cell interactions, the importance of the ECM in pancreas differentiation and endocrine commitment to mature β -cells, as well as gene editing techniques to investigate pancreatic developmental disorders or drug modelling for T1DM (Bakhti *et al.*, 2019; Koo *et al.*, 2012; Koo *et al.*, 2013; Sugiyama *et al.*, 2013).

Pancreatospheres as stepping-stones to pancreas organoids:

Before the adoption of fully complex 3D organoid systems, spheroids were utilised for 3D culture with less advanced un-branched structures forming. For example, a neuronal spheroid system was first established to enable study of neurogenesis (Reynolds and Weiss, 1992). Spheroid systems for pancreas, referred to as pancreatospheres (Grapin-Botton, 2016), initially enabled the study of mouse early embryonic pancreas development. For instance, Sugiyama et al. (2013) were able to select for SOX9⁺ pancreas progenitors from E11.5 mouse tissue, using a Ngn3⁻ tdTomato transgenic cell line to exclude endocrine progenitor cells. Pancreas progenitors were then cultured as spheres on Matrigel, the ECM supplement produced by mouse sarcoma cells (Kleinman and Martin, 2005), which could be differentiated into insulin⁺ cells with static GSIS. Similar to PSC-pancreas progenitor differentiation protocols, the main media supplements added were FGF10, RA, insulin, IGF1 and R-spondin, to promote the WNT/ β -catenin signalling pathway (Kim et al., 2006), as well as mesenchyme (Sugiyama et al., 2013). However, these PPC only retained potency for a few passages; T1DM and T2DM progress over a long time period, meaning near unlimited expansion potential is a necessity to study the effects of aging on differentiation and function. Another prominent paper for pancreas development used a similar spheroid system to differentiate mouse pancreas epithelia on Matrigel or synthetic polyethylene glycol (PEG) hydrogels (Greggio et al., 2013). These PPCS maintained potency after multiple passages over two weeks (Greggio et al., 2013). The importance of cell interactions was also clear; isolated single progenitors could still form spheroids but had drastically reduced efficiency (2% vs. 90% with other cells present).

Mouse pancreas organoids:

PPCs and mature β -cell organoids can be created using isolated foetal or adult pancreas tissue, and by the defined PSC differentiation protocols (Tremmel et al., 2019). Foetal organoids are simpler to culture, due to their increased regenerative capabilities and plasticity compared to adult tissue (Huch and Koo, 2015). As well as developing pancreatospheres, Sugiyama et al. (2013) and Greggio et al. (2013) established more complex pancreas organoids using mouse foetal tissue. A genetic screen was performed in SOX9⁺ progenitor cells, identifying how deficiency of key genes affects islet cell development (Sugiyama et al., 2013). As expected, they showed Neuorg3 to be essential for endocrine commitment, with both islet amyloid polypeptide (IAPP) and Arx or Pax4 required for α - or β -cell development, respectively. PR domain zinc-finger protein 16 (PRDM16), a methyl transferase, was also implicated in regulating islet fate and function (Sugiyama et al., 2013). The Grapin-Botton group generated pancreas progenitor organoids capable of differentiating into a full range of ductal, acinar or endocrine cells, whilst lacking endothelial, neuronal or mesenchymal lineages (Greggio et al., 2013). The organoid system also displayed branching (Dahl-jensen et al., 2016; Greggio et al., 2013). Due to the ability to form all pancreatic cells, the system was particular useful for investigating signalling pathways present during lineage commitment (Hindley et al., 2016). Similar developmental cues were found to be required as compared to in vivo: FGF and Notch signalling were essential for differentiation (Greggio et al. 2013). The main finding was the importance of Matrigel for expansion of pancreas progenitors, indicating the necessity of including ex vivo cell-cell contacts and signalling that mimics the in vivo microenvironment. However, long-term expansion of pancreas progenitors was not capable.

Noggin was incorporated in pancreas organoid protocols to inhibit BMP signalling. This enabled repeated expansion of embryonic and adult organoids for up to 5 months (Huch *et al.*, 2013a), as was utilised in PSC differentiation procedures (Nair *et al.*, 2019; Pagliuca *et al.*, 2014; Rezania *et al.*, 2014; Velazco-cruz *et al.*, 2019). As with the Grapin-Botton group, other factors added included FGF10 potentiated by heparin, R-spondin and EGF (Greggio *et al.*, 2013; Huch *et al.*, 2013a). Resultant pancreatic organoid cells all displayed ductal phenotypes, in addition to expressing the pancreatic marker, *Pdx1*, and stem cell markers, *Lgr5* and CD133 (Ahlgren *et al.*, 1996; Huch *et al.*, 2013a; Oshima *et al.*, 2007). It has proven challenging to commit these ductal cells towards endocrine lineages, such as β -cells, perhaps due to a loss of bi-potency (Huch and Koo, 2015). Despite this, ductal cells can be

reprogrammed to form islet cells, indicating that the capability remains (Sancho *et al.*, 2014; Zhou and Melton, 2018). These ductal cells also form mono-hormonal insulin⁺ β -like cells upon implantation into SCID mice (Huch *et al.*, 2013a). Improvements to the culture conditions, including growth factors and substrate composition, and addition of other cell types found within the pancreas niche may enable reliable endocrine differentiation (Aamodt and Powers, 2017; Grapin-Botton, 2016; Huch and Koo, 2015).

Human pancreas organoids:

A comparison of mouse and human foetal pancreas pancreatospheres and organoids was performed (Bonfanti et al., 2015). 8-11 wpc human foetal tissue was isolated and cultured on Matrigel by combinations of FGF10, EGF, Y-27362 and Rspondin. PPCs were maintained under these culture conditions, as represented by high PDX1, NKX6.1, SOX9 and HNF1 β , but did not differentiate readily, due to low NKX2.2, NEUROG3 and hormone production (Bonfanti et al., 2015). EGF was included to inhibit differentiation, allowing isolation of pancreas progenitor populations (Bonfanti et al., 2015). Organoid systems for ductal pancreatic cancer using adult human tissue have also been developed (Boj et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2015). Adult and foetal human pancreas tissue was only recently used to generate PPC organoids capable of differentiating into endocrine cells (Loomans et al., 2018). Similar morphologies and transcriptional profiles were observed for organoids from either tissue type. Organoids were able to differentiate into partially functional β-like cells following transplantation into SCID STZ mice (Loomans et al., 2018). Nevertheless, only 1.5% of cells became insulin⁺, GSIS or calcium response were not recorded, and hyperglycaemic events were not ameliorated significantly. Interestingly, the authors confirmed findings by Zhou et al. (2008) that ALDH expression can be used as an indirect measure of endocrine differentiation; high levels of ALDH correspond to elevated PPC gene expression, including PDX1, carboxypeptidase A1 (CPA1), PTF1A, and MYC, whereas insulin⁺ committed β-like cells have low ALDH (Loomans et al., 2018). ALDH is localised to branching buds in the tips and is a defining trait for PPC populations, which also localise there (Jennings et al., 2013; Loomans et al., 2018; Zhou et al., 2008). Importantly, cryopreserved pancreatic tissue was shown to maintain the same genetic profile and morphology upon organoid culture, potentially increasing feasibility for clinical translation (Loomans et al., 2018).

34

PSC-derived β-cell and organoids summary:

Although fundamental advancements in PSC-to-β-cell differentiation have been made in recent years, there still remain issues to be addressed before clinically viable therapies for diabetes are available. Halban et al. (2001) clearly outlined the need for fully mature glucose-responsive β -cells that only produce insulin, prevent hyperinsulinemia and hypoglycaemia, and still respond to calcium signals. Nearly two decades on we are much closer to this goal of readily available β -cells that remove insulin dependence and drastically improve patient welfare, but the thorough and high standards for islet transplantations are not currently met. Organoid culture techniques have improved β -cell function and calcium signalling considerably, but issues of maturity remain (Kim et Eal., 2016; Nair et al., 2019; Velazco-cruz et al., 2019). Overall, transplanted PSC-derived β -cells remain inferior in insulin production and responsiveness compared to cadaver islet sources (Nair et al., 2019; Pagliuca et al., 2014; Rezania et al., 2014; Velazco-cruz et al., 2019). We are also yet to determine what GSIS response magnitude is therapeutically effective, with β -cell functionality poorly defined between groups. Deeper phenotyping has recently been performed through the use of scRNA-Seq, allowing analysis of the transcriptome active during β -cell differentiation in more detail (Dominguez-Gutierrez et al., 2019; Veres et al., 2019). The large variation in cell transplantation number and differentiation lengths across different cell lines make comparisons of protocol clinical efficacy challenging. Therefore, the concept of a universal differentiation protocol using good manufacturing procedure (GMP), that can be applied to multiple cell lines, is vital for successful clinical translation of PSCderived β -cells (Tremmel et al., 2019). Further development of organoid culture systems for foetal tissue and PSCs will improve our knowledge of human development and facilitate generation of fully functional mature β-cells. Likewise, the effect of substrate stiffness on endocrine commitment should be investigated in more detail (Greggio et al., 2013). They will allow the identification of markers for islet cell populations, reducing β -cell heterogeneity, and may improve insulin secretory capacity (Tremmel et al., 2019).

- Establish and maintain an organoid culture system with foetal pancreas tissue, enabling the characterisation of transcriptional regulators of pancreatic progenitor maintenance and endocrine commitment towards islet cells.
- Investigate light sheet fluorescence microscopy (LSFM) as a method for analysing pancreas and organoid morphogenesis.
Human tissue collection:

All human tissue research and storage was conducted under the ethical approval of the North West Research Ethics Committee, as regulated by the Human Tissue Authority (HTA) and legislation of the U.K. Human Tissue Act 2008. Human embryonic and foetal tissues were collected from medical or surgical pregnancy terminations, following informed consent. Measurements for embryonic and foetal gestational age (GA) are shown in Figure 5. Table 1 provides a guide to CS classification based upon crown rump length (CRL) and the identification of visual events. Tissue handling and dissection were performed as follows (Piper et al., 2004; Jennings et al., 2013). Pancreases were dissected under light microscope (ZEISS SteREO Discovery.V8), and mesenchyme removed using forceps. Pancreases for organoid formation were stored in DMEM/F12 basal media (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), often overnight before processing in the morning. Samples to be processed for histology or light sheet fluorescence (LSFM) microscopy were fixed for 2-3 hours using 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA; Alfa Aesar, Haverhill, MA). Samples for histology were embedded in paraffin wax and sectioned at 5µm intervals using a Leica RM2235 microtome (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany). Four sections were placed per slide. Every eight section or slide was used for haematoxylin and eosin (H and E) staining of embryonic or foetal tissue respectively, providing a reference for anatomical landmarks and morphology.



Figure 5. A representative embryo-foetus stage outlining the methods for age determination, as adapted from O'Rahilly and Müller (2010). Embryos are staged based upon crown rump length (CRL), representing crown-heel distance. Foetuses are staged by foot length (FL), as measured from the heel to the longest toe.

Table 1. Comparison of the crown rump length (CRL) and developmental characteristics of Carnegie stage (CS) embryos throughout human development. Approximate gestational age and CRL data are obtained from O'Rahilly and Müller (2010). Embryo images are acquired from the Kyoto and Carnegie collections, both available as digital references for human embryology and histology (Hill, 2018; Hill, 2020). Key developmental events are outlined from CS9 (Hill, 2007; Larsen, 2001). At CS9, gastrulation has occurred and somites have begun to form; the CS9 embryo is more developed and is the earliest stage the Hanley-Piper laboratory uses for research. Grey shading indicates CS15-16, where dorsal and ventral pancreatic buds fuse.

Carnegie Stage (CS)	Gestational age (days)	Image (not to scale)	Mean CRL (mm)	Key developmental events
9	25-27	B	1.4	Somitogensis begins (1-3 total), cardiac primordium emerges and head folds
10	~28-30		2.1	4-12 somites, fusion of neural fold and formation of the first pharyngeal arch
11	28-30		3.2	13-20 somites, closure of rostral neuropore, sinus venosus and mesonephric duct formation
12	29-31	100	3.9	21-29 somites, closure of caudal neuropore, first 3 pharyngeal arches are visible
13	30-33	2	4.9	30 Somites total, leg buds emerge and lens placode forms
14	33-35		6.5	Optic cup and lens pit formation

15	35-37		7.8	Formation of lens vesicle, nasal pit and hand plate, herniated midgut and intermediate kidney are detectable under heart
16	37-40		9.6	Retinal pigment development, formation of early ears on first two pharyngeal arches, rotation of limbs begins, and vertebrae become visible
17	39-42	(DE	12.2	Distinct finger digits and face begin to from
18	42-45	aks.	14.9	Ossification starts
19	45-47	ini i	18.2	Trunk begins to straighten, upper and lower eyelids are clearly apparent, external ears are visible
20	47-50	S. N.	20.7	Face fuses with lower jaw, upper limbs begin to bend at elbow and increase in length
21	49-52	31.96	22.9	Prominent upper jaw forms, hands and feet begin to turn inwards
22	52-55	\$ 25.3	25.5	Formation of eyelids and external ears
23	53-58		28.8	Head, body and limbs become more rounded

Generation of human foetal pancreatic organoids:

Human foetal organoids were generated using an adapted protocol, as outlined in Figure 7 (Greggio et al., 2013). Following removal of mesenchyme in cold PBS (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), pancreases were dissected into small pieces using sterile blades (Swann-Morton, Sheffield, UK). Pieces were then transferred to MAX recovery Eppendorf tubes; one quarter of pancreas tissue was used for RNA bulk collection and the remainder for organoid culture. Samples were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 200g at 4°C, as for each spin step. RNA samples were stored in 300ul TRIzol and snap-frozen using dry ice, prior to storage at -80°C. Organoid samples were washed once in cold PBS and incubated for 40-50 minutes in filtered collagenase IV solution at 37°C. Every 10-20 minutes, tissue was mechanically dissociated using a pipette. Collagenase-mediated dissociation was inhibited by addition of heat-inactivated FBS. Two further spin steps were required, with the pellet washed once in cold pancreatic epithelial medium (PEm). PEm composition is outlined in Table 2. After this final wash and removal of media (ensuring a dry pellet), 30µl Matrigel (Corning, New York, NY) was added and the sample placed on ice for 5 minutes. Following gentle resuspension of the pellet, 30µl Matrigel cell suspension was plated in a pre-heated 4-well Nunclon Delta Surface plate (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and incubated at 37°C for at least 30 minutes. Adequate incubation time is essential for Matrigel dome formation. Warm PEm media was added to each well and changed every 2-3 days.

Organoid passage:

Organoids were passaged every 7-10 days after dissociation with collagenase IV for 10 minutes at 37°C. Matrigel was broken down by rapid mechanical dissociation with wide-bore pipette tips (Axygen, New York, NY), after inactivation with FBS. Organoid populations were cleaned by 2-3 spin cycles of 30 seconds at 13,000 RPM with 5% FBS/PBS, to ensure pellet formation and removal of debris. Before immunofluorescence imaging, Matrigel was broken down completely by addition of Corning Cell Recovery solution (Corning) for 20 minutes on ice.

Reagent	Provider	Catalogue number	Stock Concentration	Final Concentration
DMEM/F-12	Thermo Fisher	31330-038	100%	97%
(+ 15µM HEPES + L-	Scientific			
Glutamine)				
Penicillin-	-	-	100%	1%
Streptomycin				
B27 x50	-	-	100%	2%
Recombinant human	Peprotech EC	100-18B-	100µg/ml	64ng/ml
FGF2 (bFGF)	Ltd	100UG		
Y-27632 (Rock	EMD Millipore	688000-	50mM	10µM
inhibitor)	-	1MG		-

Table 2. Pancreas epithelia media (PEm) for maintenance of pancreatic organoids.

Immunohistochemistry:

Immunohistochemistry was performed on sectioned embryonic or foetal tissue using the previously described method (Piper et al., 2004). Slides were de-waxed and rehydrated by washing twice in xylene, followed by single washes in 100% and 90% ethanol, as well as rinsing in water. Sections were treated with $3\% (v/v) H_2 O_2$ for 20 mins at RT, enabling endogenous peroxidase removal, washed, and boiled in 10mM sodium citrate for antigen retrieval. Each washing step involves three 5-minute PBS washes. Boiling time was adapted depending on the primary antibody used and tissue fixation time. Primary antibodies (Table 3) were diluted in PBS supplemented with 0.1% Triton-X 100 and blocked with 3% serum, from which the secondary antibody was derived (Table 4). Slides were incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibody solution in a humidified container, washed and secondary antibody solution (PBS with 0.1% Triton-X 100) applied for 2 hours at RT. Secondary antibodies were biotinylated, allowing detection by streptavidin-horse radish peroxidase (HRP) binding and labelling. Following washing, slides were incubated for 1 hour in 0.5% Strepatavidin-HRP (Vector laboratories, Burlingame, CA) diluted in PBS/0.1% Triton-X 100 at RT. Colour detection was achieved via DAB solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and counterstaining performed with a 2-minute wash in toluidine blue. Slides were dehydrated as follows: rinse in water, 10 seconds in 70% and 90% ethanol, 3 minutes in 100% ethanol, 2 minutes in xylene repeated twice. Coverslips were mounted using Entalan (Merck, Darmstadt, Germany).

Immunofluorescence:

For confocal imaging, organoids were split onto uncoated 6-well plates (Corning) and cultured in 2D for 7 days, ensuring a more rounded morphology. Organoids were then split onto 96-well glass-bottomed high content imaging plates (Corning) pre-coated with 6µg collagen I per cm² for 2 hours at RT. Organoids were fixed in 4% PFA for 15 minutes on ice, washed twice with PBS and stored for up to a week before imaging. Organoids were permeabilised with PBS/0.1% Triton-X 100 for 10 minutes and blocked in PBS/0.1% Triton-X 100 with 10% serum, both for 1 hour. Organoids were incubated overnight at 4°C in primary antibody solutions of PBS/0.1% Triton-X 100 with 1% serum. Organoids were washed and incubated for 1 hour at RT in secondary antibody solution (same as primary). After washing, DAPI was applied for 10-15 mins at RT, organoids briefly washed and transferred to PBS before imaging. Images were acquired using the Leica TCS SP8 AOBS inverted confocal microscope (Leica Camera AG) with the 20x objective lens and 0.75 confocal zoom. The Leica Application Suite X (LAS X) software was used to adjust

the settings as follows: pinhole (1 airy unit), scan speed (600Hz unidirectional), format (1024 x 1024). Images were collected using 3 hybrid detectors with the following detection mirror settings; FITC 494-530nm (Alexa Fluor green 488nm); Texas red 602-665nm (Alexa fluor Orange 555nm); Cy5 640-690nm (Alexa Fluor Far-red 647nm). White light laser lines were as follows: 488nm (20%), 594nm (10%) and 633nm (10%). DAPI was detected using the photon multiplying tube (PMT). Each channel gain was manually adjusted to have optimum fluorescence signal without saturation. Frame accumulation by line was manually set to 3, reducing noise. The "Sequential imaging" function was used to generate maximum intensity Z-stacks, preventing bleed-through between similar wavelength fluorophores. Images were saved as .lif files and processed using Fiji is just imageJ (FIJI) (Schindelin *et al.*, 2012).

Antibody	Species	Provider	Catalogue number	Dilution
CPA1	-	-	-	-
Cytokeratin 19 (CK19)	Rabbit	Abcam	Ab52625	1:500
FOXA2 (HNF3β)	Goat	R&D systems	AF2400	1:100
GATA4	Rabbit	ProteinTech	19530-1-AP	1:1000
Glucagon	Rabbit	Zymed	-	1:100
Insulin	Rabbit	Abcam	ab63820	1:50
PDX1	Guinea pig	Abcam	47308	1:500
NKX2.1	Mouse	DSHB	74.5A5	1:50
NKX6.1	Mouse	DSHB	F64A6B4	1:50
SOX9	Rabbit	Millipore	AB5535	1:5000

Table 3. List of primary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry, immunofluorescence, light sheet fluorescence microscopy (LSFM) and flow cytometry.

Table 4. List of secondary antibodies used for immunohistochemistry, immunofluorescence, light sheet fluorescence microscopy (LSFM) and flow cytometry.

ted	Antibody	Host	Provider	Catalogue number	Dilution
Biotinyla	α-goat α-guinea pig α-mouse	Horse Goat Horse	-	BA-9000 BA-7000 BA-2000	1:200 1:100 1:100
	α-rabbit	Goat	-	BA-1000	1:800
	α-goat (488) α-guinea pig (488)	Donkey Goat	-	-	1:1000 1:1000
xa Fluor	α-mouse (594)	Donkey	-	-	1:1000
Ale	α-rabbit Far- red (647)	Donkey	Invitrogen	A21207	1:1000 (1:1000 and 1:1500 for LSFM)

Tissue preparation:

Following fixation in 4% PFA, some samples were treated with 1% sodium borohydride (NaBH₄; Sigma-Aldrich)/PBS solution for 15 minutes at RT to eliminate Schiff's base reactions (Clancy and Cauller, 1998). These samples were then washed thoroughly in PBS three times for 15 minutes each. All steps were performed on shakers and sterile PBS is supplemented with 0.02% sodium azide (NaN₃; Sigma-Aldrich) to prevent microbial growth. Samples without NaBH₄ treatment were transferred to PBS at 4°C, if processed immediately, or stored in 70% ethanol for later use up to months later. All samples were then dehydrated by washing in 50% methanol/PBS solution, 80% methanol/PBS, 100% methanol/PBS sequentially for 1 hour each at RT. Dehydration removes water and lipid content, resulting in a protein rich sample with a more homogenous refractive index (RI) (Richardson and Lichtman, 2015). Samples were then bleached to remove pigment by overnight incubation in 6% hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2)/methanol (100%) at 4°C. Bleaching reduces protein autofluorescence (Tainaka et al., 2014). Following bleaching, samples were re-hydrated with two 1-hour washes in 100% methanol, followed by 1-hour incubations in 80% methanol/PBS and 50% methanol/PBS. Samples were then stored overnight in PBS at 4°C.

Tissue clearing and immunostaining:

Clear, unobstructed brain imaging cocktails and computational analysis (CUBIC) (Susaki et al., 2014; Susaki et al., 2015) was used for tissue clearing with an adapted protocol from (Nojima et al., 2017). Samples were washed briefly in PBS prior to incubation in 50% CUBIC1/PBS overnight (compositions outlined in Table 5). All incubation steps were performed at 37°C in a HB-1000 Hybridization oven with a rotating motor. Samples were then incubated in 100% CUBIC1 for 2-7 days. Sufficient clearance was achieved when most pigment was removed, and tissue was nearly fully transparent. Samples were washed once in PBS for 2 hours, followed by a PBS wash overnight and final 2 hour wash the next day. Primary and secondary antibodies were diluted to the desired concentration in PBS supplemented with 0.1% Triton X-100 and 0.5% blocking agent (serum the secondary antibody was raised in). Alternatively, SuperBlock PBS (Thermo Fisher Scientific) with 0.1% Triton-X 100 was used as a replacement blocking agent. Samples were incubated for 3 days in primary or secondary antibody solution, with three 2-hour PBS washes in between and after immunostaining steps. The final clearing step was performed by incubation in 30% sucrose/PBS overnight, a further night incubating in 50% CUBIC2/PBS and two nights in 100% CUBIC2. Final incubation in CUBIC2 was performed at different dilutions to achieve optimum clearing.

Table 5. CUBIC1 and CUBIC2 compositions for tissue clearing, as described in Nojima *et al.* (2017). CUBIC1 removes lipids and CUBIC2 matches the refractive index (RI) of the sample to the reagent. Urea/Tetrakis solution was incubated in a heated shaker or water bath (50°C) to aid dissolution of urea. Triton X-100 was added at RT and mixed thoroughly before incubating samples.

	Reagent	Provider	Cat. number	Concentration (w/w%)
_	Urea	Sigma-	GE17-1319-	25
		Aldrich	01	
S	N,N,N',N'-Tetrakis(2-	Sigma-	BCBZ7575	25
Ŋ	hydroxypropyl)ethylenediamine	Aldrich		
0	Triton X-100 (100%)	Sigma-	-	15
		Aldrich		
	Distilled H ₂ O (dH ₂ O)	-	-	35
	Sucrose	Sigma-	BCBX4074	50
		Aldrich		
	Urea	Sigma-	GE17-319-	25
S		Aldrich	01	
B	2,2',2"-Nitrilotriethanol	Sigma-	1168857	10
CU	(triethanolamine)	Aldrich		
	Triton X-100 (10%)	Sigma-	-	1
		Aldrich		
	dH ₂ 0	-	-	14

Imaging:

Foetal pancreases were imaged using the Zeiss Z1 LSFM microscope (Carl Zeiss AG, Oberkochen, Germany). Samples were mounted onto the stage inside the 5x/0.16 or 20x/1.0 chambers and immersed in CUBIC2 at the desired concentration for RI matching to the respective objective lenses. Zeiss' ZEN Microscope Software was used for all LSFM imaging. Orientation of samples was achieved using the manual motor controls and bright field light detection. Zoom was adjusted to ensure the whole sample was in the field of view. The Z1 light sheet has 5 different laser channels that can illuminate the same number of fluorophores, allowing a wide range of staining to be performed. The camera was manually focussed, and laser power altered for the optimum contrast. The light sheet has two lasers; samples were imaged using either the left or right lasers, based upon proximity to the sample and resulting focus, for preliminary imaging. Later the settings "dual side when experiment" and "online dual side fusion" were used, in order to merge left and right

laser images. "Z-stacks" were created by hundreds of alternating images being taken from the left or right side along the Z-axis of the sample, allowing a full 3D image to be created when Z-stacks were combined. Images were saved as .czi and .ims file type, the latter being required to enable image processing in IMARIS.

Image processing:

IMARIS (Bitplane AG, Andor, Zurich, Switzerland) was used for the 3D reconstruction of Z-stacks, allowing visualisation of pancreas structures. High intensity fluorescent residues were then removed. Surfaces were created, and threshold background subtraction manually adjusted to include the region of interest (ROI), but also to exclude the artefacts. Voxel size was set by trial and error (for example 10µm) and masks created to only contain the ROI surface, whilst removing the artefact surface. To do this, voxels were either set outside or inside the surface to zero, respectively. Slices of the model could be viewed at any point, allowing study of internal structures. The Snapshot feature was used for screenshots. The default 360° animation feature was used to create 150 frames per second (fps) movies (Appendix 1). Arivis 4D (Arivis AG, Munich, Germany) was also used for stitching together image sets from 0°, 90°, 180°, and 270°, creating a more complete 3D image.

47

Results:

Key pancreatic TF expression profiles during embryonic and foetal development:

From CS16 (37-40 dpc), fusion of the ventral and dorsal buds has occurred, with epithelial cells forming branched structures one to two cells thick. Definitive endoderm marker, FOXA2, is still strongly expressed at this stage (Figure 7), persisting in CS19 (45-47 dpc) embryos. NKX6.1 and PDX1 expression increases from CS16 to CS19, with expression of another PPC marker, SOX9, also drastically increasing from CS19. Throughout foetal development, PDX1 is expressed in the ducts in a similar expression pattern to SOX9. The sagittal CS19 sections also demonstrate strong expression of SOX9 and PDX1 in the duodenum.

Distinction between peripheral and central cells starts to be observed from CS16 (Figure 6). For example, GATA4 appears localised to the "tip" cells and is not strongly expressed elsewhere in the pancreas at CS16. Although staining is very weak for GATA4 at CS19, detectable GATA4 expression remains constrained to the peripheral "tip" cells. The spatial expression pattern of GATA4 is maintained at 10 wpc, with the nuclear expression of NKX6.1, PDX1 and SOX9 in the central trunk region. Expression of CPA1 as an acinar cell marker is not detectable for 10 wpc or 14 wpc pancreases. Nevertheless, CPA1 is detected from 18 wpc in the acinar "tip" regions. NKX6.1 expression is mainly ductal from 14 wpc, but also appears outside the main branched structures in β -cell islets. Therefore, NKX6.1 localises with PDX1. NKX2.2 expression is observed outside of the "trunk" or "tip" cells from 8 wpc in a similar expression pattern to insulin, indicating its presence in β -cells as previously described (Jennings *et al.*, 2013).

Expression of insulin and glucagon are both detectable from week 8 of foetal development, with slightly higher levels of insulin detected (Figure 6). There is a subsequent large expansion in β -cell and α -cell islet populations between 8 and 10 wpc, with insulin and glucagon production respectively increasing throughout foetal development. Arrows indicate the genuine glucagon expression for 8-10 wpc, with a large amount of background observed. When specific staining is compared between insulin and glucagon, expression appears largely distinct.



Organoid maintenance and differentiation:

Foetal pancreatic tissue was processed for organoid formation using the previously described method (Greggio *et al.*, 2013), as detailed in Figure 7. After culture of organoids for up to 30 days, organoid protein expression was characterised by immunofluorescence (Figure 8). Gene expression and flow cytometry were to be analysed too.



Analysis

Day 7

Figure 7. Schematic depicting the process of organoid formation from foetal pancreatic tissue. Samples are first dissected using sterile blades and cut into small 2-3mm pieces, whilst immersed in PBS. A single-cell-suspension is generated by multiple spin-PBS wash steps of pancreas fragments at 200g for 5 minutes at 4°C. Collagenase IV is then applied for 40 minutes at 37°C, with further mechanical dissociation of cells. The single-cell suspension is then seeded in Matrigel and incubated at 37°C before addition of pEM media for organoid maintenance. After 7 days, organoids form a round morphology and are ready to be split or be processed for immunostaining, gene expression or flow cytometric analysis. Day 7 and staining images are for organoids generated from 10 wpc foetuses. Staining is for CK19 (cyan), DAPI (blue) and NEUROG3 (green), as taken with an inverted confocal microscope. Images are not to scale.

Organoids display ductal phenotypes:

Immunofluorescent staining of day 30 12 wpc organoids appears to show that the pEM maintenance media encourages formation of ductal populations, as evident by very strong cytokeratin 19 (CK19) protein expression (Figure 8A). CK19 is expressed in all foetal pancreas epithelial cells, becoming excluded when insulin starts to be expressed (Piper *et al.*, 2004). Further interpretation of organoid characterisation via immunofluorescence would require additional stains with the presence of negative and positive controls to determine whether the protein is genuinely absent or if the staining is a result of technical limitations. For example, unstained organoids and organoids stained for primary and secondary antibodies, in isolation or combination, would account for non-specific binding. Autofluorescence would be normalised by keeping exposure constant across samples and negative controls. A positive control of foetal pancreatic and liver tissue could be included too.

Although staining is detectable for NEUROG3 (Figure 8B), results are likely invalid. The signal is not nuclear, which is where NEUROG3 should mainly appear with some expression detected in cytoplasmic vesicles (Domínguez-Bendala et al., 2005). Cytoplasmic NEUROG3 has been reported in vitro and in vivo of the developing mouse hippocampus (Simon-Areces et al., 2013); repeat staining would determine whether the signal is nuclear or cytoplasmic. Therefore, NEUROG3 signal is likely non-specific antibody binding. Results for the PPC markers, NKX6.1 and PDX1, are inconclusive (Figure 8C). Figure 8B and 8C show the staining profile for two separate organoids collected from the same passage and stained under the same conditions. Expression for both markers appears highly non-specific and although SOX9, another PPC marker, is detectable in Figure 8B, SOX9 is not observed in Figure 8C. This indicates that the staining observed in Figure 8B may be non-specific staining, which is likely as the staining is mainly non-nuclear, or that the staining procedure was unsuccessful for the organoid imaged in Figure 8C. Overall, results indicate that the staining for these markers must be repeated to confidently characterise the organoids.



Figure 8. Immunofluorescence staining for 10 wpc human foetal pancreatic organoids reveal a ductal phenotype. A) Cytokeratin 19 (CK19) is highly expressed, with detection of endocrine cells due to possible presence of Neuorgenin-3 (NGN3). **B)** Signal for NKX2.2 indicates presence of endocrine populations. Lack of NKX6.1 expression indicates that PPC populations are not present in 10 wpc organoid populations, although another PPC marker, SOX9, is detectable. **C)** Valid signal for PPC markers, NKX6.1 or PDX1, does not appear detectable. SOX9 is not expressed, suggesting that SOX9 expression observed in B) is due to non-specific binding. All images were taken with the Leica TCS SP8 AOBS inverted confocal microscope. AVG indicates average staining.



Light sheet immunofluorescence microscopy as a tool for investigating pancreas development:

Light sheet immunofluorescence microscopy (LSFM) uses a thin sheet of light to image samples in the focal plane, allowing for thousand of individual "z-stacks" to be combined into a 3D image (Richardson and Lichtman, 2015). The use of a light sheet enables faster image scanning, a high signal-to-noise ratio, and reduced photobleaching and phototoxicity compared to confocal microscopy, which relies upon a pinhole of light (Chatterjee *et al.*, 2018; Jemielita *et al.*, 2013; Reynaud *et al.*, 2008). The development of tissue clearing techniques has facilitated the rapid scanning of large samples, with a greater in-depth resolution compared to confocal microscopy (Richardson and Lichtman, 2015). Confocal microscopes will struggle with imaging depths beyond 1-2mm, without the use of expensive dipping objectives. Furthermore, LSFM can image large samples in real time, making it a vital tool for studying mammalian development; the high spatial and temporal resolution of LSFM enabled the study of the spindle assembly machinery in mouse zygotes with low phototoxicity (Reichmann *et al.*, 2018).

LSFM was utilised to image foetal pancreases in 3D (Figure 9). Sox9 expression is observed in the acinar and ductal cells of 9-20 wpc human foetal pancreases (Figures 9-13), as well as the duodenum of E13.5 mouse embryos (Figure 9E). 100% CUBIC2 provides poor focus with both the 5x and 20x objective, due to an unmatched refractive index (RI). Therefore, future experiments diluted CUBIC2 in PBS to final concentrations of 85% (Figures 11-12) or 80% (Figures 13-14). Clearing effectiveness discrepancies were not evident (data not shown) and 80% CUBIC2 provided the greatest focus (Figure 13). SOX9/PDX1 co-expression was analysed in 20 wpc human foetal pancreas (Figure 9). SOX9 is expressed strongly in both acinar and ductal cells, with the branched pancreas morphology apparent (Figure 10A). PDX1 also shares the expression pattern of SOX9; there is weak PDX1 expression in the ducts and stronger in the periphery of acinar cells (Figure 10B). Independent PDX1 localisation compared to SOX9 indicates the presence of β -cells, which are located away from acinar cells (Figure 10C). IMARIS was used for the 3D reconstruction of z-stacks, showing the spatial expression of SOX9 and PDX1 across all pancreas sections (Figure 10D-F). Co-expression of SOX9 and GATA4 were compared between 12 wpc and 20 wpc human foetal pancreases as well (Figure 11). The staining of 12 wpc foetal pancreas appeared unsuccessful (Figure 11A-B), although GATA4 autofluorescence could be used to trace blood vessel structures in 3D (Figure 11B). Analysis of individual z-stacks revealed

delicate expression of GATA4 at the periphery of acinar cells in 20 wpc foetal pancreas (Figure 11C-D). However, fluorescent aggregates were more apparent when 3D reconstruction was performed (data not shown).

Bright fluorescent patches are present in most LSFM images of CUBIC2-cleared pancreases. This indicates that the clearing or staining processes may result in artefacts. Although the fluorescent artefacts could be removed artificially using IMARIS thresholding techniques (Figure 12), there were concerns that genuine signal could be removed. This is apparent for the 9 wpc human foetal pancreas (Figure 12D). Dark patches appear when the bright fluorescent signal is removed from within the pancreas itself, as opposed to mainly from the surrounding tissue for the E13.5 mouse pancreas (Figure 12C). There is also the possibility that the high fluorescent patches were due to inadequate antibody penetration, resulting in an aggregation of antibodies. Therefore, the clearing and staining processes were investigated.

Unstained samples indicate no background autofluorescence (Figure 14A). Individual red and far-red secondary staining were performed to determine the extent of non-specific binding to endogenous cell proteins (Figure 14B-C). Minimal fluorescent signal was detected, showing high antibody specificity. More highintensity fluorescence was detected for red compared to far-red secondary; far-red was used for all future experiments. NaBH₄, included to reduce potential aminealdehyde residues after prolonged PFA fixation, provides clear fluorescence (Figure 14G+J)). Next, the effect of blocking on non-specific binding was investigated. The use of Superblock (Thermo Fisher Scientific) appeared to have no improvement on antibody specificity or staining (Figure 14H+K). Staining is potentially improved when NaBH₄ pre-treatment is included with the Superblock blocking step (Figure 14 I+L), indicating that further investigation of NaBH₄ is warranted.



A) Tissue clearing and staining protocol

Figure 9. Imaging of mouse and human pancreas using light sheet

immunofluorescence (LSFM). A) Protocol for preparing tissue for LSFM, after fixation in 4% PFA and storage in 70% ethanol. Day 1 involves dehydration steps in methanol (MeOH) at room temperature (RT). Samples are then bleached overnight in hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). On Day 2, samples are rehydrated in a series of methanol washes and washed overnight in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) at 4°C. From day 3, samples are cleared and stained at 37°C, with the previously described protocol (Nojima *et al*, 2017). B) Uncleared human foetal pancreas. C) CUBIC2-cleared human foetal pancreas. D) LSFM imaging of SOX9-stained E13.5 mouse pancreas and duodenum using 100% CUBIC2. SOX9 1:5000; images taken using the 5x objective and 3D reconstructions created using IMRAIS.



Figure 10. LSFM imaging of 85% CUBIC2-cleared 20 wpc human foetal pancreas stained for PDX1 and SOX9. A-C) Individual 2D z-stacks of PDX1, SOX9 and combined PDX1/SOX9 immunofluorescence, respectively. D-F) 3D reconstructions of PDX1, SOX9 and combined PDX1/SOX9 immunofluorescence, respectively. SOX9 1:5000; images taken using the 20x objective and 3D reconstructions created using IMRAIS.



Figure 11. LSFM imaging of 85% CUBIC2-cleared human foetal pancreas stained for SOX9 and GATA4. A-B) 2D z-stack and 3D reconstruction, respectively, for SOX9/GATA4 immunofluorescence in 12 wpc human foetal pancreas. GATA4 autofluorescence outlines blood vessels. C-D) Individual 2D z-stacks for GATA4 and combined SOX9/GATA4 immunofluorescence, respectively. SOX9 1:5000; images taken using the 20x objective and 3D reconstructions created using IMRAIS.





Figure 12. 3D reconstructions can be created and edited to remove fluorescent artefacts using IMARIS. A-B) Sox9-stained E13.5 mouse pancreas and duodenum. C-D) Sox9-stained 9 wpc human foetal pancreas. A and C are raw 3D reconstructions using IMARIS; B and D are edited using thresholding to remove noise.



Figure 13. 80% CUBUIC2 provides adequate clearing and the optimal focus for LSFM imaging of pancreases. A +D) 100% CUBIC2 cleared 9 wpc foetal pancreas imaged with the 20x objective. **B+E)** 100% CUBIC2 cleared 9 wpc foetal pancreas imaged with the 5x objective. **C+F)** 80% CUBIC2 cleared 10 wpc foetal pancreas imaged with the 5x objective. 3D reconstructions (D-F) were generated using IMARIS. 60



Figure 14. Optimisation of imaging conditions can improve specific fluorescence. A-C) Representative 2D z-stack images for unstained 80% CUBIC cleared pancreas sample, red secondary antibody (°) and far-red secondary antibody staining without SOX9 primary, respectively. D-F) 3D reconstructions of zstacks shown from A-C, respectively. G) NaBH4 treated samples before clearing. H) Blocking using Superblock instead of Donkey serum. I) NaBH4 and Superblock treatments. J-L) 3D reconstructions of z-stacks shown from G-I, respectively. All

images were of a 17 wpc human foetal pancreas. SOX9 primary antibody was used at a dilution of 1:10,000. Secondary antibodies were used at 1:1500. IMARIS was used for 3D reconstruction. Fluorescence for all images was adjusted to: min:0, max: 3000, gamma:1.

Discussion:

Transcription factors active during pancreas development:

Identification of the main TF expression profiles during early human pancreas development has helped to shape PSC-derived β -cell differentiation programmes (Jennings et al., 2013), which previously relied upon mimicking the endocrine commitment events observed in other model systems, such as the mouse, chick and frog (Isaacs et al., 1995; Pan and Wright, 2011). Immunohistochemistry staining for the main TFs active in embryonic and foetal samples revealed the expected expression of NKX6.1+/PDX1+/SOX9+ bi-potent progenitors within the central "trunk" regions, and GATA4+/CPA1+ cells located at the acinar "tips" (Figure 6). Low levels of insulin and very low levels of glucagon expression are observed from 8 wpc in endocrine islets adjacent to the central trunk regions. This supports the notion that CS21 embryos start producing insulin before glucagon has begun to be secreted from 8 wpc (Piper et al., 2004). The apparent lack of co-expression matches results for insulin-glucagon dual immunofluorescence, with only a very low proportion of cells co-expressing insulin and glucagon (De Krijger et al., 1992; Piper et al., 2004). There also appears to be an increase in β -cell areas between 10 and 14 wpc, which is consistent with Meier et al. (2010). Co-localisation of PDX1 with insulin expression is difficult to observe in foetal pancreas, due to the wide expression of PDX1 and slight discrepancies in section morphology. To see the expression of PDX1 and insulin in islet cells observed from 14 wpc in Piper et al. (2004), immunofluorescence would need to be performed on identical sections.

Although CPA1 is only detected from 18 wpc via immunohistochemistry (Figure 6), CPA1 is shown to be co-expressed with GATA4 from CS21 in the "tip" cells by immunofluorescence microscopy (Jennings *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, lack of staining is likely due to inadequate antibody concentration and would be repeated. Only weak GATA4 expression is observed at the "tips" of acinar cells from CS19 (Figure 6), perhaps due to sub-optimal conditions and antibody concentration. LSFM also reveals the expression of GATA4 at the periphery of acinar cells in 20 wpc human foetal pancreas (Figure 11). This is consistent with the mutually exclusive expression domain for GATA4 and SOX9, as shown by immunofluorescence (Jennings *et al.*, 2013). Further study of the spatial organisation of pancreas TFs could be performed in 3D using LSFM, providing a novel insight into human pancreas morphogenesis (Hong *et al.*, 2019).

Despite considerable advancements in PSC-derived β-cell differentiation protocols recently (Nair *et al.*, 2019; Russ *et al.*, 2015; Tremmel *et al.*, 2019; Velazco-cruz *et*

al., 2019), complete β -cell maturity and function are still to be attained. Generation of the large number of β -cells required for clinical transplantation has been a pertinent challenge, although improvements are being made (Dossena *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, investigation of new markers for PPCs could allow adaptation of PSC differentiation protocols to promote proliferation and dramatically expand PPC pools, prior to terminal differentiation towards β -cells. This would be enabled by further elucidating the regulatory networks of these markers.

Preliminary single nuclear RNA sequencing (sn-RNA seq) within our laboratory group has identified multiple genes encoding transcripts functioning as candidate PPC population regulators, including Cut-like homeobox 2 (CUX2) and single-minded homology 1 (SIM1) (unpublished data). Although the staining performed in Figure 6 for key pancreatic markers mainly complements previous research (Jennings *et al.*, 2013; Piper *et al.*, 2004), the skills performed could be transferred to documenting the expression of these novel markers across a time-course of pancreas development. A deep understanding of fundamental immunohistochemistry techniques will be required for high-quality images with precious human tissue samples.

Identification of CUX2 or other TFs as key regulators in PPC maintenance could aid expansion of stem cells and improve our understanding of the steps occurring prior to terminal differentiation into β -cells, increasing the feasibility of β -cell transplants for treatment of type 1 diabetic patients. In addition, the development of gene editing techniques in pancreas organoid systems could be incredibly useful for studying genetic diseases that compromise pancreas development, such as maturity onset diabetes of the young (MODY), PNDM or pancreas agenesis. Genetic diagnoses are missing for many of these pancreatic developmental disorders. This suggests hitherto unidentified disease genes (Jennings *et al.*, 2015; Petersen *et al.*, 2018).

Generation of a human foetal pancreatic organoid system:

Our work has shown that the pEM maintenance media used for the expansion of mouse embryonic pancreas organoids (Greggio *et al.*, 2013) allows for the successful expansion of human foetal organoids. Human foetal organoids generated from a range of tissue ages (10 wpc-16 wpc) could be maintained for up to 30 days and appeared to display a mainly ductal phenotype (Figure 8). Alternatively, only ductal cells may have survived cell culture with our growth factor regime and other transcription factors remain to be characterised. Detection of non-nuclear NEUROG3 expression is likely due to non-specific antibody staining and background fluorescence commonly associated with the green AlexaFluor 448; high

non-specific signal is observed for PDX1 (Figure 8C). However, NKX2.2 expression is also detectable, in some cases in the nuclei. If genuine signal, this would indicate the presence of endocrine populations, supporting endocrine commitment driver, NEUROG3, activity in organoids (Jennings *et al.*, 2013; Jeon *et al.*, 2009; Lyttle *et al.*, 2008; Piper *et al.*, 2004; Sussel *et al.*, 1998). In addition, there is no fluorescent signal for NKX6.1 in the green Alexa Fluor 488 channel, contradicting the NEUROG3 staining being due to autofluorescence (Figure 8B). Presence of islet cells is expected after the induction of NEUROG3 from 8 wpc in humans (Jennings *et al.*, 2013). Thus, immunohistochemistry staining for insulin and glucagon supports low protein expression from 8 wpc, which increases considerably by 14 wpc (Figure 6).

Other papers report a shift of bi-potent progenitor organoid populations towards ductal cells when maintained in culture (Bonfanti *et al.*, 2015; Greggio *et al.*, 2013; Huch *et al.*, 2013b). Although no branching is observed, the presence of other cell types (NKX2.2 expression for endocrine cells in Figure 8B) justifies the classification of the clusters of cells as organoids, as opposed to spheroids with different morphologies (Grapin-Botton, 2016). Lack of EGF, which is reported to inhibit endocrine differentiation (Bonfanti *et al.*, 2015; Greggio *et al.*, 2013), could explain the presence of NKX2.2. Furthermore, this indicates that our culture system is not optimised for organoid expansion, with different conditions needing to be tested.

The impact of the transition from pEM maintenance media to a differentiation media on organoid morphology would be of interest. It would be expected that similar organisational changes would be observed in human foetal pancreatic organoids compared to mouse pancreatic organoids. For example, microlumens would likely initially form, followed by branched structures with acinar cells localised to the tips, as well as multipotent HNF1b+/SOX9+/PDX1+ cells, endocrine progenitor populations and terminally differentiated islet cells in the centre (Dahl-jensen et al., 2016; Greggio et al., 2013). Furthermore, incomplete terminal β-cell differentiation in vitro has been suggested to be due to lack of maturity signals that usually occur postnatally (List and Habener, 2004; Ohmine et al., 2012). Therefore, inclusion of GLP1 in the differentiation media may promote endocrine differentiation (Davis and Sandoval, 2020). Notch signalling has a concentration dependent role in endocrine differentiation. For example, Greggio et al. (2013) report that notch is essential for mouse embryonic organoid maintenance and promoting SOX9 expression, which will then induce NEUROG3. However, small molecule-mediated inhibition of notch signalling in adult murine pancreas organoids promoted endocrine differentiation by

de-repressing NEUROG3 (Wedeken *et al.*, 2017). This indicates that a threshold of notch signalling is required for triggering and completing murine endocrine commitment, with a regulatory feedback loop (Shih *et al.*, 2012). High notch signalling inhibits endocrine differentiation, which remains to be addressed in human pancreatic organoid models.

Light sheet immunofluorescence microscopy (LSFM):

Up until recently most immunohistochemical and fluorescent staining has been performed on 2D slices created with microtomes. Serial sectioning can reconstruct 3D volumes, but the rendering is often poorly aligned with lack of focus (Oh *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, confocal microscopes have been designed to remove out-of-focus light, resulting in the development of laser-scanning and spinning disk confocal techniques, two-photon microscopy and LSFM (Mertz, 2011; Reynaud *et al.*, 2008). Each optical section, referred to as a "z-stack", can be combined to generate a 3D structure. 3D structures are essential when considering neuronal or branching pancreas networks (Hong *et al.*, 2019). However, it is hard to image deep into samples with high resolution due to light scattering. Clearing the sample can alleviate this issue by removing lipids and membranes, resulting in homogenous scattering throughout the tissue when combined with pigmentation removal (Ariel, 2017; Tainaka *et al.*, 2016). Reduced lateral scattering ensures that all wavelengths can penetrate the tissue.

Many methods for tissue clearing have been developed, as reviewed in depth by Richardson and Lichtman (2015). Care needs to be taken to match the refractive index (RI) of the clearing agent to the tissue and lens (Hell et al., 1993), which is defined as "the ratio of the speed of light in a vacuum divided by the speed of light in the medium" (Richardson and Lichtman, 2015). CUBIC2 has an RI in the range of ~1.49 and functions by sucrose-urea-mediated hyperhydration (Table 5) (Richardson and Lichtman, 2015; Susaki et al., 2014; Susaki et al., 2015). This avoids the toxicity, tissue-shrinkage and fluorescence quenching concerns associated with solvent-based clearing (Becker et al., 2012). Our results demonstrate that a dilution of 80% CUBIC2 most greatly matches the LSFM 20x objective lens RI of 1.45 (Figure 9-13), although a refractometer needs to be used for an exact measurement. Cleared tissue can then be imaged using LSFM or other techniques. The slow laser scanning potential of confocal and two-photon microscopes limits them to very localised imaging. LSFM was chosen to image foetal pancreases, as it uses a single plane of light, resulting in far greater readout speed and allowing larger samples to be imaged (Richardson and Lichtman, 2015).

LSFM has been used to image adult mouse and human pancreases but there are currently no reports for the study of foetal pancreas development in the literature (Hong et al., 2019); developing LSFM imaging methodology in foetal pancreas samples represents an incredibly exciting opportunity. B-cell distribution, isletvasculature networks and Schwann cell plasticity (after β -cell ablation) have been investigated in adult mouse pancreases using confocal and LSFM microscopy (Fu et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2014; Tainaka et al., 2014; Tang et al., 2013; Tang et al., 2018a; Wong et al., 2017). Examples of cleared human pancreases are very limited (Butterworth et al., 2018; Fowler et al., 2018; Noë et al., 2018; Tang et al., 2018b). The neuro-insular network was mapped in detail in 3- and 8-week-old mouse and adult human pancreases using confocal microscopy. allowing comparison of ganglionic interactions during fatty infiltration (Tang et al., 2018a; Tang et al., 2018b). Confocal tissue tomography of fructose-thioglycerolcleared 1mm adult human pancreases revealed the relationship between islets and capillary density in 3D (Fowler et al., 2018). Outside of diabetes research, development of LSFM methodology relevant to the pancreas is imperative for modelling the interaction of the vasculature, ducts and neuro-insular networks during cancer invasion in 3D (Hong et al., 2019; Noë et al., 2018).

Previously, spatial visualisation and quantitative analysis of pancreas morphogenesis has been challenging, due to the limited imaging techniques not distinguishing fine structures or in enough detail (Hörnblad *et al.*, 2016). Optical projection tomography (OPT) has been used recently to outline the developmental time course of pancreas structures from early bud formation at E10.5, to fusion at E13.5 and full pancreas development by E17.5 (Hörnblad *et al.*, 2011). Despite the effectiveness of OPT for revealing 3D structures, data acquisition is far slower and potential statistical analysis greatly reduced compared to LSFM (Isaacson *et al.*, 2020; Liu *et al.*, 2019). We used LSFM to reveal the spatial expression of SOX9 within an E13.5 mouse embryo (Figure 9E), identifying SOX9 within the ducts, acinar cells, and duodenum.

Alternative clearing methods have been effective in pancreas and other tissues, as outlined (Hong *et al.*, 2019). For example, Passive CLARITY technique (PACT) uses a hydrogel embedding to allow slow penetration of SDS, reducing protein denaturation and improving clearing quality (Neckel *et al.*, 2016; Tainaka *et al.*, 2016; Yang *et al.*, 2014). PACT has an RI of 1.45 and displays excellent clearing of foetal urogenital tissue for LSFM (Isaacson *et al.*, 2020). PACT was also utilised for the clearing of paraffin-embedded human adult pancreases to facilitate the 3D

66

reconstruction of neuro-insular networks (Butterworth *et al.*, 2018). However, the increased image focus is not sufficient enough to justify the complex process of setting the sample in an acrylamide gel or purchase of expensive reagents for future investigation. Our CUBIC2 clearing method appears to more than adequately clear the tissue visually (Figure 9C), as well as providing well focussed images when cleared with RI matched 80% CUBIC 2 solution (Figure 13). The ECM is often not removed during the clearing process and blocks macromolecule access to target proteins (Calve *et al.*, 2015; Lee *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, antibody penetration remains the area to address for improved signal quality without fluorescent artefacts.

A distinct advantage of LSFM over confocal microscopy is the reduced photobleaching of samples (Reynaud *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, LSFM is preferable for imaging weakly expressed proteins, which might have their expression masked when imaged via confocal microscopy. LSFM has also been used to image organoids of various tissue types with high resolution (Dekkers *et al.*, 2019). Resultantly, LSFM would be a valuable tool to characterise the expression profiles of PPC maintenance and endocrinogenesis TFs throughout murine and human pancreas development, in both embryonic and foetal tissue, as well as organoids. Overall, LSFM has great potential for studying human development and refinement of this technique could broaden our understanding of human embryology (Chatterjee *et al.*, 2018).

Future work:

Further characterisation of organoids:

Organoid culture reproducibility can be challenging due to natural variation in samples, chemical compositions and individual cell interactions (Dahl-Jensen and Grapin-Botton, 2017). Moreover, the lack of samples and other unforeseen circumstances meant that further immunohistochemical characterisation of pancreatic marker expression could not be performed in the human foetal pancreatic organoid model. The expression patterns of existing stains were also unreliable. Therefore, immunofluorescence staining should be repeated, and further analysis of organoid protein expression performed. Mucin-1 should be analysed as a marker of duct polarisation (Greggio *et al.*, 2013), as well as co-localisation of NKX6.1 and PDX1 to further investigate the presence of PPC populations within the foetal organoids. GATA4 and CPA1 co-localisation should additionally be investigated as acinar cell markers (Jennings *et al.*, 2013). PSC- and iPSC-derived PPCs could be used as the *in vitro* comparison to the primary organoid system.

LSFM optimisation:

Multiple approaches can be considered for improving antibody penetration (Richardson and Lichtman, 2017). The initial PFA fixation step aids antibody penetration by dissolving cell membrane lipids, disrupting membrane integrity (Cheng et al., 2019; Fox et al., 1985). A slight improvement in imaging quality may be observed when NaBH₄ is included to eliminate any Schiff's base reactions (Figure 14). A decrease of PFA concentration from 4% to 1% during the fixing stage aided antibody penetration in adult mouse brains (Gleave et al., 2013). Immunolabelling is always performed before the final clearing step to allow adequate antibody diffusion (Richardson and Lichtman, 2015). Our staining protocol already performs primary antibody incubation at 37°C with rotation, which is found to increase depth of antibody uptake in adult mouse brains and other systems (Richardson and Lichtman, 2017; Schwarz et al., 2015). Addition of an electric field or centrifugal force to a rotating system can result in improved antibody distribution, as well as reduced incubation times (Kim et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2016). Triton-X 100 is the most widely used non-ionic detergent for permeabilization, removing lipids from the cell membrane and allowing access to the nucleus (Jamur and Oliver, 2010). High concentrations are required to achieve optimal lipid removal. However, Triton-X 100 and urea both highly denature proteins (up to 41% protein loss) and decrease subsequent immunostaining strength considerably (Chung et al., 2013). Finally, some protocols clear and stain tissue for month-long periods (Richardson

and Lichtman, 2015); greater antibody incubation periods may be required to improve penetration and staining results.

Hydrogel effect on organoid and stem cell differentiation:

Matrigel is the staple substrate for 3D cell culture, especially for pancreas organoid formation (Bonfanti *et al.*, 2015; Greggio *et al.*, 2013; Huch *et al.*, 2013a; Loomans *et al.*, 2018). However, although the composition is similar to the BM surrounding pancreatic islets, there are also ~1500 other unique proteins which likely do not reflect the native pancreas ECM (Hughes *et al.*, 2010; Talbot and Caperna, 2015). Matrigel is also tumour-derived xenogeneic material, reducing clinical applications, and there is large batch-to-batch variability (Hughes *et al.*, 2010; Vukicevic *et al.*, 1992).

Therefore, investigation of a range of designer matrices is essential for furthering organoid and PSC differentiation protocols (Aisenbrey and Murphy, 2020). Novel ECM components recently identified from the foetal human pancreas matrisome could be investigated (Ma *et al.*, 2019; Sackett *et al.*, 2018). Substrate stiffness also has a considerable impact on PPC maintenance or differentiation. The nuclear translocation of yes-associated protein (YAP) and transcriptional coactivator with PDZ-binding motif (TAZ) is controlled by altering substrate stiffness (Elosegui-Artola *et al.*, 2016; Shi *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, strain on organoids and stem cells in 3D cultures could be measured with atomic force microscopy (AFM) and the effect of altered hydrogel stiffness on subsequent proliferation or differentiation investigated (Candiello *et al.*, 2018).

Conclusions and perspectives:

Diabetes has reached epidemic levels and current pharmacological treatments, especially for T1DM, are failing. T1DM patients can achieve euglycemia through insulin injections and pumps if glucose levels do not fluctuate drastically. If patients are predisposed to HAAF events, cadaver-derived islet are the best option, which will be overtaken by β -cells when more clinical trials are conducted, and differentiation protocols are improved. Safety concerns remain for both cadaver-derived islet cells or PSC and iPSC approaches, which are being addressed through encapsulation techniques and new immunosuppression regimes. Studying human development has revealed the fascinatingly complex interaction of TFs active during early foetal pancreas development, allowing growth factor and small molecule regimes to be modified to better simulate the signalling pathways active *in vivo*. The hurdle of consistently generating mono-hormonal β -cells appears to have been overcome; however, despite large improvements in β -cell function, they are still not fully mature.

The signals active during human foetal pancreas organoid differentiation still need to be optimised. Improved cell expansion and maturity could be achieved through the identification of new PPC markers, enabling directed endocrine commitment. Characterisation and gene editing of these novel markers could provide the missing link in pancreas PSC and primary organoid systems. Light sheet fluorescence microscopy has never been used to image human foetal or embryonic pancreases, with development of the technique allowing analysis of the spatial localisation of key TFs throughout development. LSFM is also compatible with imaging our organoid system; the 3D structural information provided will help to inform on how pancreas morphogenesis occurs. Moreover, 3D matrices are necessary for the correct cellcell contacts and polarity during expansion and differentiation. Nevertheless, Matrigel is a limiting factor in correct β-cell function and translation to GMPcompliant regulations. As a result, novel hydrogels need to be designed that closely recapitulate the ECM components and dynamic signalling milieu of the native pancreas. Overall, the possibility of clinically available PSC-derived βcell transplantation is becoming much more attainable, but there remain large areas of improvement before they are a reality.

Acknowledgments:

I am grateful for the supervision of Rachel E Jennings, who mainly guided the project and provided valuable teaching, as well as Neil A Hanley for helping to see the bigger picture. Additional thanks go to the Piper-Hanley lab group members for helping with experimental design, providing feedback, and assisting with analysis. Ali Al-Anbaki provided many great lessons during dissection and LSFM trouble shooting. This research would not be possible without the assistance of research nurses and clinical colleagues at St. Mary's Hospital and Central Manchester University Hospitals National Health Service Foundation Trust. The Bioimaging Facility microscopes used in this study were purchased with grants from BBSRC, Wellcome Trust and the University of Manchester Strategic Fund. Special thanks go to Steven Marsden and David Spiller for help with the microscopy.

Appendix:

IMARIS animation:

Example animation created using LSFM highlights the applications of the IMARIS software. Scan QR code to provide the link to SOX9 staining of the E13.5 mouse embryo (Figure 9E).


References (in the style of Development):

- Aamodt, K. I. and Powers, A. C. (2017). Signals in the pancreatic islet microenvironment influence β-cell proliferation. *Diabetes, Obes. Metab.* 19, 124–136.
- Abbott, A. (2003). Cell culture: Biology's new dimension. Nature 424, 870-872.
- Aguayo-mazzucato, C., Zavacki, A. M., Marinelarena, A., Hollister-lock, J., Khattabi, I. El, Marsili, A., Weir, G. C., Sharma, A., Larsen, P. R. and Bonner-weir, S. (2013). Thyroid Hormone Promotes Postnatal Rat Pancreatic b -Cell Development and Glucose-Responsive Insulin Secretion Through MAFA. Diabetes 62, 1569–1580.
- Aguayo-mazzucato, C., Haaren, M. Van, Mruk, M., Deursen, J. Van, Weir, G. C., Bonner-weir, S., Aguayo-mazzucato, C., Haaren, M. Van, Mruk, M., Lee, T. B., et al. (2017). β-cell Aging Markers Have Heterogeneous Distribution and Are Induced by Insulin Resistance Article b Cell Aging Markers Have Heterogeneous Distribution and Are Induced by Insulin Resistance. *Cell Metab.* 25, 898-910.e5.
- Aguayo-Mazzucato, C., Sanchez-Soto, C., Godinez-Puig, V., Gutiérrez-Ospina, G. and Hiriart, M. (2006). Restructuring of Pancreatic Islets and Insulin Secretion in a Postnatal Critical Window. *PLoS One* 1,.
- Aguayo-Mazzucato, C., Koh, A., El Khattabi, I., Li, W. C., Toschi, E., Jermendy, A., Juhl, K., Mao, K., Weir, G. C., Sharma, A., et al. (2011). Mafa expression enhances glucose-responsive insulin secretion in neonatal rat beta cells. *Diabetologia* **54**, 583–593.
- Ahlgren, U., Jonsson, J. and Edlund, H. (1996). The morphogenesis of the pancreatic mesenchyme is uncoupled from that of the pancreatic epithelium in IPF1/PDX1-deficient mice. *Development* **122**, 1409–1416.
- Aisenbrey, E. A. and Murphy, W. L. (2020). Synthetic alternatives to Matrigel. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* 27, 1–13.
- Al-Khawaga, S., Memon, B., Butler, A. E., Taheri, S., Abou-Samra, A. B. and Abdelalim, E. M. (2018). Pathways governing development of stem cellderived pancreatic β cells: lessons from embryogenesis. *Biol. Rev.* **93**, 364– 389.
- Allen, H. L., Flanagan, S. E., Shaw-Smith, C., De Franco, E., Akerman, I., Caswell, R., Ferrer, J., Hattersley, A. T. and Ellard, S. (2012). GATA6 haploinsufficiency causes pancreatic agenesis in humans. *Nat. Genet.* 44, 20– 22.
- American Diabetes Association (2019). Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes—2019. *Diabetes Care* **42**, S13–S28.
- Andralojc, K. M., Mercalli, A., Nowak, K. W., Albarello, L., Calcagno, R., Luzi, L., Bonifacio, E., Doglioni, C. and Piemonti, L. (2009). Ghrelin-producing epsilon cells in the developing and adult human pancreas. *Diabetologia* 52, 486–493.
- Arda, H. E., Li, L., Tsai, J., Powers, A. C., Chang, H. Y., Kim, S. K., Arda, H. E., Li, L., Tsai, J., Torre, E. A., et al. (2016). Age-Dependent Pancreatic Gene Regulation Reveals Mechanisms Governing Human b Cell Function Resource Age-Dependent Pancreatic Gene Regulation Reveals Mechanisms Governing Human b Cell Function. *Cell Metab.* 23, 909–920.
- Ariel, P. (2017). A beginner's guide to tissue clearing. *J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* **25**, 289–313.
- Arnes, L., Hill, J. T., Gross, S., Magnuson, M. A. and Sussel, L. (2012). Ghrelin Expression in the Mouse Pancreas Defines a Unique Multipotent Progenitor Population. *PLoS One* **7**,.
- Assady, S., Maor, G., Amit, M., Itskovitz-eldor, J., Skorecki, K. L. and Tzukerman, M. (2001). Insulin Production by Human Embryonic Stem Cells.

Diabetes **50**, 1691–1697.

- Atkinson, M. A., Eisenbarth, G. S. and Michels, A. . (2014). Type 1 diabetes. Lancet 383, 69–82.
- Bader, E., Migliorini, A., Gegg, M., Moruzzi, N., Gerdes, J., Roscioni, S. S., Bakhti, M., Brandl, E., Irmler, M., Beckers, J., et al. (2016). Identification of proliferative and mature β-cells in the islets of langerhans. *Nature* 535, 430– 434.
- Bakhti, M., Böttcher, A. and Lickert, H. (2019). Modelling the endocrine pancreas in health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* **15**, 155–171.
- Balak, J. R. A., Juksar, J., Carlotti, F., Lo Nigro, A. and de Koning, E. J. P. (2019). Organoids from the Human Fetal and Adult Pancreas. *Curr. Diab. Rep.* 19,.
- Balboa, D., Prasad, R. B., Groop, L. and Otonkoski, T. (2019). Genome editing of human pancreatic beta cell models : problems , possibilities and outlook. *Diabetologia* 62, 1329–1336.
- Balcerczyk, A., Chriett, S. and Pirola, L. (2019). Insulin Action, Insulin Resistance, and Their Link to Histone Acetylation. *Handb. Nutr. Diet, Epigenetics* 809–830.
- Ballinger, W. F. and Lacy, P. . (1972). Transplantation of intact pancreatic islets in rats. *Surgery* 72, 175–186.
- Bankaitis, E. D., Bechard, M. E. and Wright, C. V. E. (2015). Feedback control of growth, differentiation, and morphogenesis of pancreatic endocrine progenitors in an epithelial plexus niche. *Genes Dev.* **29**, 2203–2216.
- Baron, M., Veres, A., Wolock, S. L., Faust, A. L., Gaujoux, R., Vetere, A., Ryu, J.
 H., Wagner, B. K., Shen-Orr, S. S., Klein, A. M., et al. (2016). A single-cell transcriptomic map of the human and mouse pancreas reveals inter-and intracell population structure. *Cell Syst* 3 4, 346–360.
- Barton, F. B., Rickels, M. R., Alejandro, R., Hering, B. J., Wease, S., Naziruddin, B., Oberholzer, J., Odorico, J. S., Garfinkel, M. R., Levy, M., et al. (2012). Improvement in outcomes of clinical islet transplantation: 1999-2010. *Diabetes Care* **35**, 1436–1445.
- Baxter, M., Withey, S., Harrison, S., Segeritz, C. P., Zhang, F., Atkinson-Dell, R., Rowe, C., Gerrard, D. T., Sison-Young, R., Jenkins, R., et al. (2015).
 Phenotypic and functional analyses show stem cell-derived hepatocyte-like cells better mimic fetal rather than adult hepatocytes. J. Hepatol. 62, 581–589.
- Bechard, M. E., Bankaitis, E. D., Hipkens, S. B., Ustione, A., Piston, D. W., Yang, Y. P., Magnuson, M. A. and Wright, C. V. E. (2016). Precommitment low-level neurog3 expression defines a long-lived mitotic endocrine-biased progenitor pool that drives production of endocrine-committed cells. *Genes Dev.* 30, 1852–1865.
- Becker, K., Jährling, N., Saghafi, S., Weiler, R. and Dodt, H. U. (2012). Chemical clearing and dehydration of GFP expressing mouse brains. *PLoS One* **7**, 1–6.
- Becker, K., Jährling, N., Saghafi, S. and Dodt, H. U. (2013). Ultramicroscopy: Light-sheet-based microscopy for imaging centimeter-sized objects with micrometer resolution. *Cold Spring Harb. Protoc.* 2013, 704–713.
- Bellin, M. D., Barton, F. B., Heitman, A., Harmon, J. V, Kandaswamy, R.,
 Balamurugan, A. N., Sutherland, D. E. R., Alejandro, R. and Hering, B. J. (2012). Potent Induction Immunotherapy Promotes Long-Term Insulin Independence After Islet Transplantation in Type 1 Diabetes. *Am. J. Transplant.* 12, 1576–1583.
- Berney, T., Ferrari-Lacraz, S., Bühler, L., Oberholzer, J., Marangon, N., Philippe, J., Villard, J. and Morel, P. (2009). Long-Term Insulin-Independence After Allogeneic Islet Transplantation for Type 1 Diabetes : Over the 10-Year Mark. Am. J. Transplant. 9, 419–423.
- Bhushan, A., Itoh, N., Kato, S., Thiery, J. P., Czernichow, P., Bellusci, S. and Scharfmann, R. (2001). Fgf10 is essential for maintaining the proliferative

capacity of epithelial progenitor cells during early pancreatic organogenesis. *Development* **128**, 5109–5117.

- Bläuer, M., Nordback, I., Sand, J. and Laukkarinen, J. (2011). A novel explant outgrowth culture model for mouse pancreatic acinar cells with long-term maintenance of secretory phenotype. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* **90**, 1052–1060.
- Blum, B., Hrvatin, S., Schuetz, C., Bonal, C., Rezania, A. and Melton, D. A. (2012). Functional beta-cell maturation is marked by an increased expression of urocortin 3. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **30**, 261–264.
- Body-bechou, D., Loget, P., Herve, D. D., Fiblec, B. Le, Grebille, A., Guern, H. Le, Labarthe, C., Redpath, M., Sylvie, O., Fievet, A., et al. (2014). TCF2 / HNF-1beta mutations : 3 cases of fetal severe pancreatic agenesis or hypoplasia and multicystic renal dysplasia. *Prenat. Diagn.* **34**, 90-93.
- Boj, S. F., Hwang, C., Baker, L. A., In, I., Chio, C., Engle, D. D., Corbo, V., Jager, M., Ponz-sarvise, M., Oni, T., et al. (2015). Organoid Models of Human and Mouse Ductal Pancreatic Cancer. *Cell* 160, 324–338.
- Bolo, N. R., Musen, G., Jacobson, A. M., Weinger, K., McCartney, R. L., Flores, V., Renshaw, P. F. and Simonson, D. C. (2011). Brain Activation During Working Memory Is Altered in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes During Hypoglycemia. *Diabetes* 60, 3256–3264.
- Bommer, C., Heesemann, E., Sagalova, V., Manne-Goehler, J., Atun, R., Bärnighausen, T. and Vollmer, S. (2017). The global economic burden of diabetes in adults aged 20–79 years: a cost-of-illness study. *lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 5, 423–430.
- Bonfanti, P., Nobecourt, E., Oshima, M., Albagli-Curiel, O., Laurysens, V., Stangé, G., Sojoodi, M., Heremans, Y., Heimberg, H. and Scharfmann, R. (2015). Ex vivo expansion and differentiation of human and mouse fetal pancreatic progenitors are modulated by epidermal growth factor. *Stem Cells Dev.* **15**, 1766–1778.
- Bonnans, C., Chou, J. and Werb, Z. (2014). Remodelling the extracellular matrix in development and disease. *Nat rev mol cell biol* **15**, 786–801.
- Bonner-Weir, S., Sullivan, B. A. and Weir, G. C. (2015). Human Islet Morphology Revisited: Human and Rodent Islets Are Not So Different After All. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* **63**, 604–612.
- Borden, P., Houtz, J., Leach, S. D. and Kuruvilla, R. (2013). Sympathetic innervation during development is necessary for pancreatic islet architecture and functional maturation. *Cell Rep.* **4**, 287–301.
- Bosco, D., Armanet, M., Morel, P., Niclauss, N., Sgroi, A., Muller, Y. D., Giovannoni, L., Parnaud, G. and Berney, T. (2010). Unique arrangement of α- and β-cells in human islets of Langerhans. *Diabetes* **59**, 1202–1210.
- Bottino, R., Knoll, M. F., Knoll, C. A., Bertera, S. and Trucco, M. M. (2018). The Future of Islet Transplantation Is Now. *Front. Med.* **5**, 1–13.
- Brereton, M. F., Vergari, E., Zhang, Q. and Clark, A. (2015). Alpha-, Delta- and PP-cells: Are They the Architectural Cornerstones of Islet Structure and Coordination? J. Histochem. Cytochem. 63, 575–591.
- Brissova, M., Fowler, M. J., Nicholson, W. E., Chu, A., Hirshberg, B., Harlan, D. M. and Powers, A. C. (2005). Assessment of Human Pancreatic Islet Architecture and Composition by Laser Scanning Confocal Microscopy The Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 53, 1087–1097.
- Brissova, M., Haliyur, R., Saunders, D., Prasad, N., Stein, R., Powers, A. C., Brissova, M., Haliyur, R., Saunders, D., Shrestha, S., et al. (2018). α Cell Function and Gene Expression Are Compromised in Type 1 Diabetes Article a Cell Function and Gene Expression Are Compromised in Type 1 Diabetes. *CellReports* 22, 2667–2676.
- Bruin, J. E., Rezania, A., Xu, J., Narayan, K., Fox, J. K., O'Neil, J. J. and Kieffer,

T. J. (2013). Maturation and function of human embryonic stem cell-derived pancreatic progenitors in macroencapsulation devices following transplant into mice. *Diabetologia* **56**, 1987–1998.

- Burke, Z. D., Li, W. C., Slack, J. . and Tosh, D. (2010). Isolation and culture of embryonic pancreas and liver. In *Mouse Cell Culture. Humana Press*, pp. 91–99.
- Butterworth, E., Dickerson, W., Vijay, V., Weitzel, K., Cooper, J., Atkinson, E. W., Coleman, J. E., Otto, K. J. and Campbell-thompson, M. (2018). High Resolution 3D Imaging of the Human Pancreas Neuro-insular Network. *JoVE (Journal Vis. Exp.* **131**, 1–7.
- Cabrera, O., Berman, D. M., Kenyon, N. S., Ricordi, C., Berggren, P. and Caicedo, A. (2006). The unique cytoarchitecture of human pancreatic islets has implications for islet cell function. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **103**, 2334–2339.
- Calve, S., Ready, A., Huppenbauer, C., Main, R. and Neu, C. P. (2015). Optical clearing in dense connective tissues to visualize cellular connectivity in situ. *PLoS One* **10**, 1–14.
- Candiello, J., Grandhi, T. S. P., Goh, S. K., Vaidya, V., Lemmon-Kishi, M., Eliato, K. R., Ros, R., Kumta, P. N., Rege, K. and Banerjee, I. (2018). 3D heterogeneous islet organoid generation from human embryonic stem cells using a novel engineered hydrogel platform. *Biomaterials* **177**, 27–39.
- Cebola, I., Rodríguez-seguí, S. A., Cho, C. H., Bessa, J. and Rovira, M. (2015). TEAD and YAP regulate the enhancer network of human embryonic pancreatic progenitors. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **17**,.
- Chambers, A. P., Sorrell, J. E., Haller, A., Alessio, D. A. D., Seeley, R. J., Sandoval, D. A., Chambers, A. P., Sorrell, J. E., Haller, A., Roelofs, K., et al. (2017). Short Article The Role of Pancreatic Preproglucagon in Glucose Homeostasis in Mice Short Article The Role of Pancreatic Preproglucagon in Glucose Homeostasis in Mice. *Cell Metab.* 25, 927-934.e3.
- Chatterjee, K., Pratiwi, F. W., Wu, F. C. M., Chen, P. and Chen, B. C. (2018). Recent Progress in Light Sheet Microscopy for Biological Applications. *Appl. Spectrosc.* **72**, 1137–1169.
- Cheng, R., Zhang, F., Li, M., Wo, X., Su, Y. W. and Wang, W. (2019). Influence of Fixation and Permeabilization on the Mass Density of Single Cells: A Surface Plasmon Resonance Imaging Study. *Front. Chem.* 7, 1–7.
- Chung, K., Wallace, J., Kim, S. Y., Kalyanasundaram, S., Andalman, A. S., Davidson, T. J., Mirzabekov, J. J., Zalocusky, K. A., Mattis, J., Denisin, A. K., et al. (2013). Structural and molecular interrogation of intact biological systems. *Nature* 497, 332–337.
- Cleaver, O. and Dor, Y. (2012). Vascular instruction of pancreas development. Development 16, 2833–2843.
- Cleveland, M. H., Sawyer, J. M., Afelik, S., Jensen, J. and Leach, S. D. (2012). Exocrine ontogenies: On the development of pancreatic acinar, ductal and centroacinar cells. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* **23**, 711–719.
- Clevers, H. (2016). Modeling Development and Disease with Organoids. *Cell* **165**, 1586–1597.
- **Colegio, O. R. and Billingsley, E. M.** (2011). Skin Cancer in Transplant Recipients , Out of the Woods . Scientific Retreat of the ITSCC and SCOPE. *Am. J. Transplant.* **11**, 1584–1591.
- Cortijo, C., Gouzi, M., Tissir, F. and Grapin-botton, A. (2012). Article Planar Cell Polarity Controls Pancreatic Beta Cell Differentiation and Glucose Homeostasis. *CellReports* **2**, 1593–1606.
- Cryer, P. E. (2009). Preventing hypoglycaemia: What is the appropriate glucose alert value? *Diabetologia* 52, 35–37.
- Cryer, P. E. (2012). Minireview : Glucagon in the Pathogenesis of. *Endocrinology* **153**, 1039–1048.

- Cryer, P. E. (2013). Mechanisms of Hypoglycemia-Associated Autonomic Failure in Diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **369**, 362–372.
- Cui, Y., Hu, D., Markillie, L. M., Chrisler, W. B., Gaffrey, M. J., Ansong, C., Sussel, L. and Orr, G. (2018). Fluctuation localization imaging-based fluorescence in situ hybridization (fliFISH) for accurate detection and counting of RNA copies in single cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **46**, 1–12.
- D'Amato, E., Giacopelli, F., Giannattasio, A., D'Annunzio, G., Bocciardi, R., Musso, M., Lorini, R. and Ravazzolo, R. (2010). Genetic investigation in an Italian child with an unusual association of atrial septal defect, attributable to a new familial GATA4 gene mutation, and neonatal diabetes due to pancreatic agenesis. *Diabet. Med.* 27, 1195–1200.
- D'Amour, K. A. D., Agulnick, A. D., Eliazer, S., Kelly, O. G., Kroon, E. and Baetge, E. E. (2005). Efficient differentiation of human embryonic stem cells to definitive endoderm. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 23, 1534–1541.
- D'Amour, K. A. D., Bang, A. G., Eliazer, S., Kelly, O. G., Agulnick, A. D., Smart, N. G., Moorman, M. A., Kroon, E., Carpenter, M. K. and Baetge, E. E. (2006). Production of pancreatic hormone – expressing endocrine cells from human embryonic stem cells. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 24, 1392–1401.
- **Da Silva Xavier, G.** (2018). The Cells of the Islets of Langerhans. *J. Clin. Med.* **7**, 54.
- Dahl-jensen, S. B., Figueiredo-larsen, M., Grapin-botton, A. and Sneppen, K. (2016). Short-range growth inhibitory signals from the epithelium can drive non-stereotypic branching in the pancreas Short-range growth inhibitory signals from the epithelium can drive non-stereotypic branching in the pancreas. *Phys. Biol.* **13**,.
- **Dahl-Jensen, S. and Grapin-Botton, A.** (2017). The physics of organoids: A biophysical approach to understanding organogenesis. *Dev.* **144**, 946–951.
- Dai, C., Brissova, M., Hang, Y. and Thompson, C. (2012). Islet-enriched gene expression and glucose-induced insulin secretion in human and mouse islets. *Diabetologia* **55**, 707–718.
- Daneman, D. (2006). Type 1 diabetes. Lancet 367, 847-858.
- Davis, E. M. and Sandoval, D. A. (2020). Glucagon-like peptide-1: Actions and influence on pancreatic hormone function. *Compr. Physiol.* **10**, 577–595.
- Dayem, A. A., Lee, S. Bin, Kim, K., Lim, K. M., Jeon, T. and Cho, S. (2019). Recent advances in organoid culture for insulin production and diabetes therapy : methods and challenges. *BMB Rep.* 52, 295–303.
- De Franco, E., Watson, R. A., Weninger, W. J., Wong, C. C., Flanagan, S. E., Caswell, R., Green, A., Tudor, C., Lelliott, C. J., Geyer, S. H., et al. (2019). A Specific CNOT1 Mutation Results in a Novel Syndrome of Pancreatic Agenesis and Holoprosencephaly through Impaired Pancreatic and Neurological Development. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 104, 985–989.
- De Krijger, R. ., Aanstoot, H. J., Kranenburg, G., Reinhard, M., Visser, W. J. and Bruining, G. J. (1992). The Midgestational Human Fetal Pancreas Contains Cells Coexpressing Islet Hormones '. *Dev. Biol.* **375**, 368–375.
- **De León, D. D. and Stanley, C. A.** (2016). Permanent neonatal diabetes mellitus. In *GeneReviews*@[Internet]., .
- Decker, K., Goldman, D. C., Grasch, C. L. and Sussel, L. (2006). Gata6 is an important regulator of mouse pancreas development. *Dev. Biol.* 298, 415–429.
- Dekkers, J. F., Alieva, M., Wellens, L. M., Ariese, H. C. R., Jamieson, P. R., Vonk, A. M., Amatngalim, G. D., Hu, H., Oost, K. C., Snippert, H. J. G., et al. (2019). High-resolution 3D imaging of fixed and cleared organoids. *Nat. Protoc.* 14, 1756–1771.
- Desgraz, R. and Herrera, P. L. (2009). Pancreatic neurogenin 3-expressing cells are unipotent islet precursors. *Development* 136, 3567–3574.
- Dhawan, S., Matveyenko, A., Bhushan, A., Dhawan, S., Tschen, S., Zeng, C.,

Guo, T., Hebrok, M., Matveyenko, A. and Bhushan, A. (2015). DNA methylation directs functional maturation of pancreatic β cells. *J. Clin. Invest.* **125**, 2851–2860.

- Dimas, A. S., Lagou, V., Barker, A., Knowles, J. W., Mägi, R., Hivert, M. F., Benazzo, A., Rybin, D., Jackson, A. U., Stringham, H. M., et al. (2014). Impact of type 2 diabetes susceptibility variants on quantitative glycemic traits reveals mechanistic heterogeneity. *Diabetes* 63, 2158–2171.
- Domínguez-Bendala, J., Klein, D., Ribeiro, M., Ricordi, C., Inverardi, L., Pastori, R. and Edlund, H. (2005). TAT-mediated neurogenin 3 protein transduction stimulates pancreatic endocrine differentiation in vitro. *Diabetes* **54**, 720–726.
- **Dominguez-Gutierrez, G., Xin, Y. and Gromada, J.** (2019). Heterogeneity of human pancreatic β-cells. *Mol. Metab.* **27**, 7–14.
- **Domínguez-Muñoz, J. E. and Cigarrán, B.** (2018). Exocrine Pancreatic Function in Diabetes. In *Gastrointestinal Complications of Diabetes. Humana Press, Cham.*, pp. 205–211.
- Dorrell, C., Schug, J., Canaday, P. S., Russ, H. A., Tarlow, B. D., Grompe, M. T., Horton, T., Hebrok, M., Streeter, P. R., Kaestner, K. H., et al. (2016). Human islets contain four distinct subtypes of β cells. *Nat. Commun.* **7**, 1–9.
- Dossena, M., Piras, R., Cherubini, A., Barilani, M., Dugnani, E., Salanitro, F., Moreth, T., Pampaloni, F., Piemonti, L. and Lazzari, L. (2020). Standardized GMP-compliant scalable production of human pancreas organoids. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* **11**, 1–12.
- Drucker, D. J. (2018). Review Mechanisms of Action and Therapeutic. *Cell Metab.* **27**, 740–756.
- Dutta, D., Heo, I. and Clevers, H. (2017). Disease Modeling in Stem Cell-Derived 3D Organoid Systems. *Trends Mol. Med.* 23, 393–410.
- **Duvillié**, **B.**, **Attali**, **M.**, **Bounacer**, **A.**, **Ravassard**, **P.**, **Basmaciogullari**, **A.** and **Scharfmann**, **R.** (2006). The mesenchyme controls the timing of pancreatic β-cell differentiation. *Diabetes* **55**, 582–589.
- Elghazi, L., Cras-Méneur, C., Czernichow, P. and Scharfmann, R. (2002). Role for FGFR2IIIb-mediated signals in controlling pancreatic endocrine progenitor cell proliferation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **99**, 3884–3889.
- Ellis, C., Ramzy, A. and Kieffer, T. J. (2017). Regenerative medicine and cell based approaches to restore pancreatic function. *Nat. Publ. Gr.* 14, 612–628.
- Elosegui-Artola, A., Oria, R., Chen, Y., Kosmalska, A., Pérez-González, C., Castro, N., Zhu, C., Trepat, X. and Roca-Cusachs, P. (2016). Mechanical regulation of a molecular clutch defines force transmission and transduction in response to matrix rigidity. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **18**, 540–548.
- Emamaullee, J. A., Pepper, A. and Shapiro, A. M. J. (2019). Islet Cell Transplantation. *Acad. Press* 987–1007.
- Enge, M., Arda, H. E., Mignardi, M., Beausang, J., Bottino, R., Kim, S. K., Quake, S. R., Enge, M., Arda, H. E., Mignardi, M., et al. (2017). Single-Cell Analysis of Human Pancreas Reveals Transcriptional Signatures of Aging and Somatic Article Single-Cell Analysis of Human Pancreas Reveals Transcriptional Signatures of Aging and Somatic Mutation Patterns. *Cell* **171**, 321-323.e14.
- Ergul, A., Li, W., Elgebaly, M. M., Bruno, A. and Fagan, S. C. (2009). Hyperglycemia, diabetes and stroke: Focus on the cerebrovasculature. *Vascul. Pharmacol.* **51**, 44–49.
- Fang, Z., Weng, C., Li, H., Tao, R., Mai, W., Liu, X., Lu, L., Lai, S. and Duan, Q. (2019). Single-Cell Heterogeneity Analysis and CRISPR Screen Identify Key b -Cell-Specific Disease Genes Resource Single-Cell Heterogeneity Analysis and CRISPR Screen Identify Key b -Cell-Specific Disease Genes. *CellReports* 26, 3132-3144.e7.
- Farack, L., Golan, M., Egozi, A., Dezorella, N., Bahar Halpern, K., Ben-Moshe,

S., Garzilli, I., Tóth, B., Roitman, L., Krizhanovsky, V., et al. (2019).
Transcriptional Heterogeneity of Beta Cells in the Intact Pancreas. *Dev. Cell* 48, 115-125.e4.

- Fatehullah, A., Tan, S. H. and Barker, N. (2016). Organoids as an in vitro model of human development and disease. *Nat. Publ. Gr.* 18, 246–254.
- Fiocca, R., Sessa, F., Tenti, P., Usellini, L., Capella, C., O'Hare, M. M. T. and Solcia, E. (1983). Pancreatic polypeptide (PP) cells in the PP-rich lobe of the human pancreas are identified ultrastructurally and immunocytochemically as F cells. *Histochemistry* **77**, 511–523.
- Fowler, J. L., Lee, S. S. Y., Wesner, Z. C., Olehnik, S. K., Kron, S. J. and Hara, M. (2018). Three-Dimensional Analysis of the Human Pancreas. *Endocrinology* 159, 1393–1400.
- Fox, C. H., Johnson, F. B., Whiting, J. and Roller, P. P. (1985). Formaldehyde fixation. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 33, 845–853.
- Frank, V., Habbig, S., Bartram, M. P., Eisenberger, T., Griessmann, A., Franke, M., Borgal, L., Kohli, P., Benzing, T., Bolz, H. J., et al. (2013). Mutations in NEK8 link multiple organ dysplasia with altered Hippo signalling and increased c-MYC expression. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 22, 2177–2185.
- Fu, Y.-Y., Lu, C.-H., Lin, C.-W., Juang, J.-H., Enikolopov, G., Sibley, E., Chiang, A.-S. and Tang, S.-C. (2010). Three-dimensional optical method for integrated visualization of mouse islet microstructure and vascular network with subcellular-level resolution. J. Biomed. Opt. 15, 046018.
- Furuyama, K., Kawaguchi, Y., Akiyama, H., Horiguchi, M., Kodama, S., Kuhara, T., Hosokawa, S., Elbahrawy, A., Soeda, T., Koizumi, M., et al. (2011). Continuous cell supply from a Sox9-expressing progenitor zone in adult liver, exocrine pancreas and intestine. *Nat. Genet.* **43**, 34–41.
- Gannon, M., Ray, M. K., Zee, K. Van, Rausa, F., Costa, R. H. and Wright, C. V.
 E. (2000). Persistent expression of HNF6 in islet endocrine cells causes disrupted islet architecture and loss of beta cell function. *Development* 2895, 2883–2895.
- Gerich, J. E., Charles, M. A. and Grodsky, G. M. (1976). Regulation of pancreatic insulin and glucagon secretion. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* **38**, 353–388.
- Ghazizadeh, Z., Kao, D. I., Amin, S., Cook, B., Rao, S., Zhou, T., Zhang, T., Xiang, Z., Kenyon, R., Kaymakcalan, O., et al. (2017). ROCKII inhibition promotes the maturation of human pancreatic beta-like cells. *Nat. Commun.* 8, 298.
- Gittes, G. K. (2009). Developmental biology of the pancreas : A comprehensive review. *Dev. Biol.* **326**, 4–35.
- Gleave, J. A., Lerch, J. P., Henkelman, R. M. and Nieman, B. J. (2013). A Method for 3D Immunostaining and Optical Imaging of the Mouse Brain Demonstrated in Neural Progenitor Cells. *PLoS One* **8**,.
- Goldstone, A. P. (2006). The hypothalamus, hormones, and hunger: alterations in human obesity and illness. *Prog. Brain Res.* **153**, 57–73.
- Gouzi, M., Kim, Y. H., Katsumoto, K., Johansson, K. and Grapin-Botton, A. (2011). Neurogenin3 initiates stepwise delamination of differentiating endocrine cells during pancreas development. *Dev. Dyn.* **240**, 589–604.
- Gradwohl, G., Dierich, A., LeMeur, M. and Guillemot, F. (2000). Neurogenin3 Is Required for the Development of the Four Endocrine Cell Lineages of the Pancreas. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **97**, 1607–1611.
- **Grapin-Botton, A.** (2016). Three-dimensional pancreas organogenesis models. **18**, 33–40.
- Gregg, B. E., Moore, P. C., Demozay, D., Hall, B. A., Li, M., Husain, A., Wright, A. J., Atkinson, M. A. and Rhodes, C. J. (2012). Formation of a Human β-Cell Population within Pancreatic Islets Is Set Early in Life. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 97, 3197–3206.

- Greggio, C., Franceschi, F. De, Figueiredo-Iarsen, M., Gobaa, S., Ranga, A., Semb, H., Lutolf, M. and Grapin-botton, A. (2013). Artificial threedimensional niches deconstruct pancreas development in vitro. **4462**, 4452– 4462.
- Gu, G., Dubauskaite, J. and Melton, D. A. (2002). Direct evidence for the pancreatic lineage: NGN3+ cells are islet progenitors and are distinct from duct progenitors. *Development* **129**, 2447–2457.
- Gu, G., Brown, J. R. and Melton, D. A. (2003). Direct lineage tracing reveals the ontogeny of pancreatic cell fates during mouse embryogenesis. *Mech. Dev.* 120, 35–43.
- Gustavson, S. M., Chu, C. A., Nishizawa, M., Farmer, B., Neal, D., Yang, Y., Vaughan, S., Donahue, E. P., Flakoll, P., Cherrington, A. D., et al. (2003). Glucagon's actions are modified by the combination of epinephrine and gluconeogenic precursor infusion. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **285**, 534–544.
- Haegel, H., Larue, L., Ohsugi, M., Fedorov, L., Herrenknecht, K., Kemler, R., Immunbiologie, M. and Freiburg, D.- (1995). Lack of β -catenin affects mouse development at gastrulation. *Development* 3537, 3529–3537.
- Hakim, F., Kaitsuka, T., Raeed, J. M., Wei, F. Y., Shiraki, N., Akagi, T., Yokota, T., Kume, S. and Tomizawa, K. (2014). High oxygen condition facilitates the differentiation of mouse and human pluripotent stem cells into pancreatic progenitors and insulin-producing cells. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 9623–9638.
- Halban, P. A., Kahn, S. E., Lernmark, Å. and Rhodes, C. J. (2001). Gene and Cell-Replacement Therapy in the Treatment of Type 1 Diabetes: How High Must the Standards Be Set? *Diabetes* 50, 2181–2191.
- Hang, Y., Yamamoto, T., Benninger, R. K. P., Brissova, M., Guo, M. and Bush,
 W. (2014). The MafA Transcription Factor Becomes Essential to Islet b -Cells Soon After Birth. *Diabetes* 63, 1994–2005.
- Hanley, N. (2014). Closing in on pancreatic beta cells. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **32**, 1100–1102.
- Harrison, K. A., Thaler, J., Pfaff, S. L., Gu, H. and Kehrl, J. H. (1999). Pancreas dorsal lobe agenesis and abnormal islets of Langerhans in Hlxb9-deficient mice. *Nat. Genet.* **23**, 71–75.
- Hebrok, M., Kim, S. K. and Melton, D. A. (1998). Notochord repression of endodermal Sonic hedgehog permits pancreas development. *Cold Spring Harb. Press.* 2, 1705–1713.
- Hedrich, H. (2004). The laboratory mouse. Acad. Press.
- Hell, S., Reiner, G., Cremer, C. and Stelzer, E. H. K. (1993). Aberrations in confocal fluorescence microscopy induced by mismatches in refractive index. *J. Microsc.* 169, 391–405.
- Heller, R. S., Jenny, M., Collombat, P., Mansouri, A., Tomasetto, C., Madsen, O. D., Mellitzer, G., Gradwohl, G. and Serup, P. (2005). Genetic determinants of pancreatic ε-cell development. *Dev. Biol.* 286, 217–224.
- **Hellman, B.** (1959). Actual distribution of the number and volume of the islets of Langerhans in different size classes in non-diabetic humans of varying ages. *Nature* **184**, 1498–1499.
- Helman, A. and Melton, D. A. (2020). A Stem Cell Approach to Cure Type 1 Diabetes. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* a035741.
- Hering, B. J., Clarke, W. R., Bridges, N. D., Eggerman, T. L., Alejandro, R., Bellin, M. D., Chaloner, K., Czarniecki, C. W., Goldstein, J. S., Hunsicker, L. G., et al. (2016). Phase 3 Trial of Transplantation of Human Islets in Type 1 Diabetes Complicated by Severe Hypoglycemia. *Diabetes Care* 39, 1230– 1240.
- Hill, M. A. (2007). Early human development. Clin. Obstet. Gynecol. 50, 2-9.
- Hill, M. A. (2018). Developing the Digital Kyoto Collection in Education and

Research. Anat. Rec. 301, 998–1003.

- Hindley, C. J., Cordero-Espinoza, L. and Huch, M. (2016). Organoids from adult liver and pancreas: Stem cell biology and biomedical utility. *Dev. Biol.* 420, 251–261.
- Hirshberg, B., Rother, K. I., Digon, B. J., Lee, J., Gaglia, J. L., Hines, K., Read, E. J., Chang, R., Wood, B. . and Harlan, D. . (2003). Benefits and Risks of Solitary Islet Transplantation for Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* **26**, 3288– 3295.
- Holman, R. R., Paul, S. K., Bethel, M. A., Matthews, D. R. and Neil, H. A. W. (2008). 10-year follow-up of intensive glucose control in type 2 diabetes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 359, 1577–1589.
- Hong, S. M., Noë, M., Hruban, C. A., Thompson, E. D., Wood, L. D. and Hruban, R. H. (2019). A "clearer" View of Pancreatic Pathology: A Review of Tissue Clearing and Advanced Microscopy Techniques. *Adv. Anat. Pathol.* 26, 31–39.
- Horaguchi, A. and Merrell, R. C. (1981). Preparation of Viable islet Cells from Dogs by a New Method. *Diabetes* **30**, 455–458.
- Hörnblad, A., Eriksson, A. U., Sock, E., Hill, R. E. and Ahlgren, U. (2011). Impaired spleen formation perturbs morphogenesis of the gastric lobe of the pancreas. *PLoS One* **6**,.
- Hörnblad, A., Nord, C., Parween, S., Ahnfelt-Rønne, J. and Ahlgren, U. (2016). The Pancreas. In *Kaufman's Atlas of Mouse Development Supplement*, pp. 85–94.
- Houbracken, I., De Waele, E., Lardon, J., Ling, Z., Heimberg, H., Rooman, I. and Bouwens, L. (2011). Lineage tracing evidence for transdifferentiation of acinar to duct cells and plasticity of human pancreas. *Gastroenterology* **141**, 731-741.e4.
- Hrvatin, S., O'Donnell, C. W., Deng, F., Millman, J. R., Pagliuca, F. W., Dilorio, P., Rezania, A., Gifford, D. K. and Melton, D. A. (2014). Differentiated human stem cells resemble fetal, not adult, β cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **111**, 3038–3043.
- Huang, L., Holtzinger, A., Jagan, I., Begora, M., Lohse, I., Ngai, N., Nostro, C., Wang, R., Muthuswamy, L. B., Crawford, H. C., et al. (2015). Ductal pancreatic cancer modeling and drug screening using human pluripotent stem cell – and patient-derived tumor organoids. *Nat. Med.* **21**, 1–10.
- Huch, M. and Koo, B. K. (2015). Modeling mouse and human development using organoid cultures. *Dev.* **142**, 3113–3125.
- Huch, M., Bonfanti, P., Boj, S. F., Sato, T., Loomans, C. J. M., Wetering, M. Van De, Sojoodi, M., Li, V. S. W., Schuijers, J., Gracanin, A., et al. (2013a). Unlimited in vitro expansion of adult bi-potent pancreas progenitors through the Lgr5 / R-spondin axis. *EMBO J.* 32, 2708–2721.
- Huch, M., Bonfanti, P., Boj, S. F., Sato, T., Loomans, C. J. M., Van De Wetering, M., Sojoodi, M., Li, V. S. W., Schuijers, J., Gracanin, A., et al. (2013b).
 Unlimited in vitro expansion of adult bi-potent pancreas progenitors through the Lgr5/R-spondin axis. *EMBO J.* 32, 2708–2721.
- Hughes, C. S., Postovit, L. M. and Lajoie, G. A. (2010). Matrigel: a complex protein mixture required for optimal growth of cell culture. *Proteomics* **10**, 1886–1890.
- Huising, M. O., van der Meulen, T., Huang, J. L., Pourhosseinzadeh, M. S. and Noguchi, G. M. (2018). The difference δ-cells make in glucose control. *Physiology* **33**, 403–411.
- Hyun, I., Wilkerson, A. and Johnston, J. (2016). Embryology policy: revisit the 14day rule. *Nature* **533**, 169–171.
- International Hypoglycaemia Study Group (2015). Minimizing Hypoglycemia in Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* **38**, 1583–1591.
- Ionescu-tirgoviste, C., Gagniuc, P. A., Gubceac, E. and Mardare, L. (2015). A

3D map of the islet routes throughout the healthy human pancreas. *Nat. Publ. Gr.* **5**, 1–14.

- Isaacs, H. V., Pownall, M. E. and Slack, J. M. W. (1995). eFGF is expressed in the dorsal midline of Xenopus laevis. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* **39**, 575–579.
- Isaacson, D., McCreedy, D., Calvert, M., Shen, J., Sinclair, A., Cao, M., Li, Y., McDevitt, T., Cunha, G. and Baskin, L. (2020). Imaging the developing human external and internal urogenital organs with light sheet fluorescence microscopy. *Differentiation* **111**, 12–21.
- Jamur, M. C. and Oliver, C. (2010). Permeabilization of cell membranes. In Immunocytochemical methods and protocols (pp. 63-66). Humana Press.
- Jemielita, M., Taormina, M. J., DeLaurier, A., Kimmel, C. B. and Parthasarathy, R. (2013). Comparing phototoxicity during the development of a zebrafish craniofacial bone using confocal and light sheet fluorescence microscopy techniques. J. Biophotonics 6, 920–928.
- Jennings, R. E., Berry, A. A., Kirkwood-wilson, R., Roberts, N. A., Hearn, T., Salisbury, R. J., Blaylock, J., Hanley, K. P. and Hanley, N. A. (2013). Development of the Human Pancreas From Foregut to Endocrine Commitment. *Diabetes*.
- Jennings, R. E., Berry, A. A., Strutt, J. P., Gerrard, D. T. and Hanley, N. A. (2015). Human pancreas development. *Development* **142**, 3126–3137.
- Jennings, R. E., Berry, A. A., Gerrard, D. T., Wearne, S. J., Strutt, J., Withey, S., Chhatriwala, M., Hanley, K. P., Vallier, L., Bobola, N., et al. (2017). Laser Capture and Deep Sequencing Reveals the Transcriptomic Programmes Regulating the Onset of Pancreas and Liver Differentiation in Human Embryos. *Stem Cell Reports* **9**, 1387–1394.
- Jennings, R. E., Scharfmann, R. and Staels, W. (2020). Transcription factors that shape the mammalian pancreas. *Diabetologia* 63, 1974–1980.
- Jeon, J., Correa-Medina, M., Ricordi, C., Edlund, H. and Diez, J. A. (2009). Endocrine cell clustering during human pancreas development. *J. Histochem. Cytochem.* **57**, 811–824.
- Jermendy, A., Toschi, E., Aye, T. and Koh, A. (2011). Rat neonatal beta cells lack the specialised metabolic phenotype of mature beta cells. *Diabetologia* 27, 594–604.
- Johansson, K. A., Dursun, U., Jordan, N., Gu, G., Beermann, F., Gradwohl, G. and Grapin-Botton, A. (2007). Temporal Control of Neurogenin3 Activity in Pancreas Progenitors Reveals Competence Windows for the Generation of Different Endocrine Cell Types. *Dev. Cell* **12**, 457–465.
- Johnson, J. D. (2016). The quest to make fully functional human pancreatic beta cells from embryonic stem cells: climbing a mountain in the clouds. *Diabetologia* **59**, 2047–2057.
- Johnson, K. R., Leight, J. L. and Weaver, V. M. (2007). Demystifying the Effects of a Three-Dimensional Microenvironment in Tissue Morphogenesis. *Methods Cell Biol.* 83, 547–583.
- Johnston, N. R., Mitchell, R. K., Haythorne, E., Pessoa, M. P., Semplici, F., Ferrer, J., Piemonti, L., Marchetti, P., Bugliani, M., Bosco, D., et al. (2016). Beta Cell Hubs Dictate Pancreatic Islet Responses to Glucose. *Cell Metab.* 24, 389–401.
- Jonsson, J., Carlsson, L., Edlund, T. and Edlund, H. (1994). Insulin-promoterfactor 1 is required for pancreas development in mice. *Nature* **371**, 2–5.
- Jørgensen, M. C., Ahnfelt-rønne, J., Hald, J., Madsen, O. D., Serup, P. and Hecksher-sørensen, J. (2007). An Illustrated Review of Early Pancreas Development in the Mouse. *Endocr. Rev.* **28**, 685–705.
- Kang, C., Yamauchi, K. A., Vlassakis, J., Sinkala, E., Duncombe, T. A. and Herr, A. E. (2016). Single cell – resolution western blotting. *Nat. Protoc.* 11, 1508–1530.

- Karakikes, I., Ameen, M., Termglinchan, V. and Wu, J. C. (2015). Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cardiomyocytes: Insights into Molecular, Cellular, and Functional Phenotypes. *Circ. Res.* **117**, 80–88.
- Kawaguchi, Y., Cooper, B., Gannon, M., Ray, M., MacDonald, R. J. and Wright,
 C. V. E. (2002). The role of the transcriptional regulator Ptf1a in converting intestinal to pancreatic progenitors. *Nat. Genet.* 32, 128–134.
- Kelly, O. G., Chan, M. Y., Martinson, L. A., Kadoya, K., Ostertag, T. M., Ross, K.
 G., Richardson, M., Carpenter, M. K., Amour, K. A. D., Kroon, E., et al. (2011). Cell-surface markers for the isolation of pancreatic cell types derived from human embryonic stem cells. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 29, 1–9.
- Kesavan, G., Sand, F. W., Greiner, T. U., Johansson, J. K., Kobberup, S., Wu, X., Brakebusch, C. and Semb, H. (2009). Cdc42-Mediated Tubulogenesis Controls Cell Specification. *Cell* **139**, 791–801.
- Khan, D., Vasu, S., Moffett, R. C., Irwin, N. and Flatt, P. R. (2017). Biochimica et Biophysica Acta In fl uence of neuropeptide Y and pancreatic polypeptide on islet function and beta-cell survival. *BBA Gen. Subj.* **1861**, 749–758.
- Kieffer, T. J. (2016). Closing in on Mass Production of Mature Human Beta Cells. Stem Cell 18, 699–702.
- Kim, S. K., Hebrok, M. and Melton, D. A. (1997). Notochord to endoderm signaling is required for pancreas development. *Development* **4252**, 4243–4252.
- Kim, K. A., Zhao, J., Andarmani, S., Kakitani, M., Oshima, T., Binnerts, M. E., Abo, A., Tomizuka, K. and Funk, W. D. (2006). R-spondin proteins: A novel link to β-catenin activation. *Cell Cycle* **5**, 23–26.
- Kim, A., Kilimnik, G. and Hara, M. (2010). In situ quantification of pancreatic betacell mass in mice. J. Vis. Exp. 2–5.
- Kim, S. Y., Cho, J. H., Murray, E., Bakh, N., Choi, H., Ohn, K., Ruelas, L., Hubbert, A., McCue, M., Vassallo, S. L., et al. (2015). Stochastic electrotransport selectively enhances the transport of highly electromobile molecules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **112**, E6274–E6283.
- Kim, Y., Kim, H., Ko, U. H., Oh, Y., Lim, A., Sohn, J., Shin, J. H., Kim, H. and Han, Y. (2016). Islet-like organoids derived from human pluripotent stem cells efficiently function in the glucose responsiveness in vitro and in vivo. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 1–13.
- Kindmark, H., Köhler, M., Nilsson, T., Arkhammar, P., Wiechel, K. L., Rorsman, P., Efendić, S. and Berggren, P. O. (1991). Measurements of cytoplasmic free Ca2+ concentration in human pancreatic islets and insulinoma cells. *FEBS Lett.* **291**, 310–314.
- Klee, P., Haefliger, J., Meda, P., Klee, P., Allagnat, F., Pontes, H., Cederroth, M., Charollais, A., Caille, D., Britan, A., et al. (2011). Connexins protect mouse pancreatic b cells against apoptosis Find the latest version : Connexins protect mouse pancreatic β cells against apoptosis. *J Clin Invest* **121**, 4870– 4879.
- Klein, A. M., Mazutis, L., Weitz, D. A., Kirschner, M. W., Klein, A. M., Mazutis, L., Akartuna, I., Tallapragada, N., Veres, A., Li, V., et al. (2015). Droplet Barcoding for Single-Cell Transcriptomics Applied to Embryonic Stem Cells Resource Droplet Barcoding for Single-Cell Transcriptomics Applied to Embryonic Stem Cells. *Cell* 161, 1187–1201.
- Kleinman, H. K. and Martin, G. R. (2005). Matrigel: Basement membrane matrix with biological activity. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* **15**, 378–386.
- Kolb, H. and Mandrup-Poulsen, T. (2010). The global diabetes epidemic as a consequence of lifestyle-induced low-grade inflammation. *Diabetologia* 53, 10–20.
- Koo, B., Stange, D. E., Sato, T., Karthaus, W., Farin, H. F., Huch, M., Es, J. H. Van and Clevers, H. (2012). Controlled gene expression in primary Lgr5 organoid cultures. *Nat. Methods* 9, 1–4.

- Koo, B. ., Sasselli, V. and Clevers, H. (2013). Retroviral gene expression control in primary organoid cultures. *Curr. Protoc. Stem Cell Biol.* 27, 5A – 6.
- Koya, D. and King, G. L. (1998). Protein kinase C activation and the development of diabetic complications. *Diabetes* 47, 859–866.
- Kroon, E., Martinson, L. A., Kadoya, K., Bang, A. G., Kelly, O. G., Eliazer, S., Young, H., Richardson, M., Smart, N. G., Cunningham, J., et al. (2008). Pancreatic endoderm derived from human embryonic stem cells generates glucose-responsive insulin-secreting cells in vivo. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 26, 443– 452.
- Kunisada, Y., Tsubooka-yamazoe, N., Shoji, M. and Hosoya, M. (2012). Small molecules induce efficient differentiation into insulin-producing cells from human induced pluripotent stem cells. *Stem Cell Res.* **8**, 274–284.
- Kuschel, C., Steuer, H., Maurer, A. N., Kanzok, B., Stoop, R. and Angres, B. (2006). Cell adhesion profiling using extracellular matrix protein microarrays. *Biotechniques* **40**, 523–531.
- Kushner, J. A., Macdonald, P. E. and Atkinson, M. A. (2014). In Translation Stem Cells to Insulin Secreting Cells : Two Steps Forward and Now a Time to Pause ? *Stem Cell* **15**, 535–536.
- Laakso, M. (1999). Hyperglycemia and Cardiovascular Disease in Type 2 Diabetes. *Prospect. Diabetes* 49, 883–888.
- Laguesse, M. E. (1893). Sur la formation des ilots de Langerhans dans le pancreas. *Comptes Rendus des Seances la Soc. Biol.* **5**, 819–820.
- Lammert, E., Cleaver, O. and Melton, D. (2001). Induction of pancreatic differentiation by signals from blood vessels. *Science (80-.).* 294, 564–567.
- Langenberg, C. and Lotta, L. A. (2018). Genomic insights into the causes of type 2 diabetes. *Lancet* **391**, 2463–2474.
- Larsen, W. J. (2001). Human embryology. Churchill Livingstone.
- Lee, H., Park, J. H., Seo, I., Park, S. H. and Kim, S. (2014). Improved application of the electrophoretic tissue clearing technology, CLARITY, to intact solid organs including brain, pancreas, liver, kidney, lung, and intestine. *BMC Dev. Biol.* **14**, 1–7.
- Lee, E., Choi, J., Jo, Y., Kim, J. Y., Jang, Y. J., Lee, H. M., Kim, S. Y., Lee, H. J., Cho, K., Jung, N., et al. (2016). ACT-PRESTO: Rapid and consistent tissue clearing and labeling method for 3-dimensional (3D) imaging. *Sci. Rep.* **6**, 1– 13.
- Lei, C. L., Kellard, J. A., Hara, M., Johnson, J. D., Rodriguez, B. and Briant, L. J. B. (2018). Beta-cell hubs maintain Ca2+ oscillations in human and mouse islet simulations. *Islets* 10, 151–167.
- Lemaire, K., Thorrez, L. and Schuit, F. (2016). Disallowed and Allowed Gene Expression: Two Faces of Mature Islet Beta Cells. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.* **36**, 45–71.
- Li, L., Qiu, W., Zhang, Y., Xu, Z., Xiao, Y., Hou, C., Lamaoqiezhong, Yu, P., Cheng, X. and Xu, C. (2018). Single-cell transcriptomic analyses reveal distinct dorsal/ventral pancreatic programs. *EMBO Rep.* **19**, 1–14.
- Li, X., Yang, K. Y., Chan, V. W., Leung, K. T., Zhang, X. B., Wong, A. S., Chong, C. C. N., Wang, C. C., Ku, M. and Lui, K. O. (2020). Single-Cell RNA-Seq Reveals that CD9 Is a Negative Marker of Glucose-Responsive Pancreatic βlike Cells Derived from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. *Stem Cell Reports* 15, 1111–1126.
- **List, J. F. and Habener, J. F.** (2004). Glucagon-like peptide 1 agonists and the development and growth of pancreatic β-cells. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* **286**, 875–881.
- Liu, J. S. E. and Hebrok, M. (2017). All mixed up: Defining roles for β-cell subtypes in mature islets. *Genes Dev.* **31**, 228–240.
- Liu, M., Li, Y., Cavener, D. and Arvan, P. (2005). Proinsulin Disulfide Maturation and Misfolding in the Endoplasmic Reticulum *. *J. Biol. Chem.* **280**, 13209–

13213.

- Liu, A., Xiao, W., Li, R., Liu, L. and Chen, L. (2019). Comparison of optical projection tomography and light-sheet fluorescence microscopy. *J. Microsc.* 275, 3–10.
- Long, A. N. and Dagogo-Jack, S. (2011). Comorbidities of Diabetes and Hypertension: Mechanisms and Approach to Target Organ Protection. J. Clin. Hypertens. 13, 244–251.
- Loomans, C. J., Giuliani, N. W., Balak, J., Ringnalda, F., van Gurp, L., Huch, M., Boj, S. F., Sato, T., Kester, L., de Sousa Lopes, S. M. ., et al. (2018). Expansion of adult human pancreatic tissue yields organoids harboring progenitor cells with endocrine differentiation potential. *Stem cell reports* 10, 712–724.
- Lv, H., Li, L., Sun, M., Zhang, Y., Chen, L., Rong, Y. and Li, Y. (2015). Mechanism of regulation of stem cell differentiation by matrix stiffness. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 6, 103.
- Lyon, J., Fox, J. E. M., Spigelman, A. F., Kim, R., Smith, N., Gorman, D. O., Kin, T., Shapiro, A. M. J., Rajotte, R. V and Macdonald, P. E. (2016). Research-Focused Isolation of Human Islets From Donors With and Without Diabetes at the Alberta. *Endocrinology* 157, 560–569.
- Lyttle, B. M., Li, J., Krishnamurthy, M., Fellows, F., Wheeler, M. B., Goodyer, C. G. and Wang, R. (2008). Transcription factor expression in the developing human fetal endocrine pancreas. *Diabetologia* 51, 1169–1180.
- Ma, F., Tremmel, D. M., Li, Z., Lietz, C. B., Sackett, S. D., Odorico, J. S. and Li, L. (2019). In Depth Quantification of Extracellular Matrix Proteins from Human Pancreas. J. Proteome Res. 18, 3156–3165.
- MacDonald, P. E., Joseph, J. W. and Rorsman, P. (2005). Glucose-sensing mechanisms in pancreatic β-cells. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **360**, 2211–2225.
- Mackenzie, R. W. A. and Elliott, B. T. (2014). Akt / PKB activation and insulin signaling : a novel insulin signaling pathway in the treatment of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes* 7, 55–64.
- Mahajan, A., Taliun, D., Thurner, M., Robertson, N. R., Torres, J. M., Rayner, N. W., Payne, A. J., Steinthorsdottir, V., Scott, R. A., Grarup, N., et al. (2018).
 Fine-mapping type 2 diabetes loci to single-variant resolution using high-density imputation and islet-specific epigenome maps. *Nat. Genet.* 50, 1505–1513.
- Martin, G. R. (1981). Isolation of a pluripotent cell line from early mouse embryos cultured in medium conditioned by teratocarcinoma stem cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 78, 7634–7638.
- Mathieu, C., Gillard, P. and Benhalima, K. (2017). Insulin analogues in type 1 diabetes mellitus: Getting better all the time. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 13, 385– 399.
- McAulay, V., Deary, I. J. and Frier, B. M. (2001). Symptoms of hypoglycaemia in people with diabetes. *Diabet. Med.* **18**, 690–705.
- Mccracken, K. W. and Wells, J. M. (2012). Molecular pathways controlling pancreas induction. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 23, 656–662.
- McGrath, P. S., Watson, C. L., Ingram, C., Helmrath, M. A. and Wells, J. M. (2015). The basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor neurog3 is required for development of the human endocrine pancreas. *Diabetes* **64**, 2497–2505.
- Meier, J. J., Köhler, C. U., Alkhatib, B., Sergi, C., Junker, T., Klein, H. H., Schmidt, W. E. and Fritsch, H. (2010). B-Cell Development and Turnover During Prenatal Life in Humans. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 162, 559–568.
- Melloul, D., Marshak, S. and Cerasi, E. (2002). Regulation of insulin gene transcription. *Diabetologia* **45**, 309–326.
- Mertz, J. (2011). Optical sectioning microscopy with planar or structured

85

illumination. Nat. Methods 8, 811–819.

- Micallef, S. J., Li, X., Schiesser, J. V, Hirst, C. E., Yu, Q. C. and Lim, S. M. (2012). INS GFP / w human embryonic stem cells facilitate isolation of in vitro derived insulin-producing cells. *Diabetologia* 55, 694–706.
- Middleton, R. J., Foley, R. N., Hegarty, J., Cheung, C. M., McElduff, P., Gibson, J. M., Kalra, P. A., O'Donoghue, D. J. and New, J. P. (2006). The unrecognized prevalence of chronic kidney disease in diabetes. *Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.* 21, 88–92.
- Millman, J. R. and Pagliuca, F. W. (2017). Autologous Pluripotent Stem Cell Derived b -Like Cells for Diabetes Cellular Therapy. *Am. Diabetes Assoc.* 66, 1111–1120.
- Moris, N., Anlas, K., Brink, S. Van Den and Alemany, A. (2020). An in vitro model for anteroposterior organisation during human development. *Nature*.
- Mouse Genome Sequencing Consortium (2002). Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. *Nature* **420**, 520.
- Muraro, M. J., Dharmadhikari, G., Grün, D., Groen, N., Dielen, T., Jansen, E., van Gurp, L., Engelse, M. A., Carlotti, F., de Koning, E. J., et al. (2016). A single-cell transcriptome atlas of the human pancreas. *Cell Syst.* **3**, 385–394.
- Nair, G. and Hebrok, M. (2015). Islet formation in mice and men: Lessons for the generation of functional insulin-producing β-cells from human pluripotent stem cells. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 32, 171–180.
- Nair, G. G., Liu, J. S., Russ, H. A., Tran, S., Saxton, M. S., Chen, R., Juang, C., Li, M. Ian, Nguyen, V. Q., Giacometti, S., et al. (2019). Recapitulating endocrine cell clustering in culture promotes maturation of human stem-cellderived β cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 21, 263–274.
- Najarian, J. S. (1977). Human islet transplantation: a preliminary report. *Transpl. Proc* 9, 233–236.
- Nardi, N. B. and da Silva Meirelles, L. (2008). Mesenchymal stem cells: isolation, in vitro expansion and characterization. In *Stem cells. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.*, pp. 249–282.
- Nasteska, D. and Hodson, D. J. (2018). The role of beta cell heterogeneity in islet function and insulin release. *J. Mol. Endocrinol.* **61**, R43–R60.
- NCD Risk Factor Collaboration (2016). Worldwide trends in diabetes since 1980: a pooled analysis of 751 population-based studies with 4.4 million participants. *Lancet (London, England)* **387**, 1513–1530.
- Neckel, P. H., Mattheus, U., Hirt, B., Just, L. and Mack, A. F. (2016). Large-scale tissue clearing (PACT): Technical evaluation and new perspectives in immunofluorescence, histology, and ultrastructure. *Sci. Rep.* 6, 1–13.
- Negre-Salvayre, A., Salvayre, R., Augé, N., Pamplona, R. and Portero-Otín, M. (2009). Hyperglycemia and Glycation in Diabetic Complications. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* **11**, 3071–3109.
- Nicolino, M., Claiborn, K. C., Boland, A. and Stoffers, D. A. (2010). A Novel Hypomorphic PDX1 Mutation Responsible for. *Blood* **59**, 733–740.
- Noë, M., Rezaee, N., Asrani, K., Skaro, M., Groot, V. P., Wu, P., Olson, M. T., Hong, S., Kim, S. J., Weiss, M. J., et al. (2018). Immunolabeling of Cleared Human Pancreata Provides Insights into Three-Dimensional Pancreatic Anatomy and Pathology. Am. J. Pathol. 188, 1530–1535.
- Nojima, S., Susaki, E. A., Yoshida, K., Takemoto, H., Tsujimura, N., Iijima, S., Takachi, K., Nakahara, Y., Tahara, S., Ohshima, K., et al. (2017). CUBIC pathology: Three-dimensional imaging for pathological diagnosis. *Sci. Rep.* **7**, 1–14.
- Noor, S., Zubair, M. and Ahmad, J. (2015). Diabetic foot ulcer A review on pathophysiology, classification and microbial etiology. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Clin. Res. Rev.* 9, 192–199.
- Nostro, M. C., Sarangi, F., Yang, C., Holland, A., Elefanty, A. G., Stanley, E. G.,

Greiner, D. L. and Keller, G. (2015). Efficient Generation of NKX6-1+ Pancreatic Progenitors from Multiple Human Pluripotent Stem Cell Lines. *Stem Cell Reports* **4**, 591–604.

- Nürnberg, E., Vitacolonna, M., Klicks, J., von Molitor, E., Cesetti, T., Keller, F., Bruch, R., Ertongur-Fauth, T., Riedel, K., Scholz, P., et al. (2020). Routine Optical Clearing of 3D-Cell Cultures: Simplicity Forward. *Front. Mol. Biosci.* 7, 1–19.
- **O'Rahilly, R. and Müller, F.** (2010). Developmental stages in human embryos: Revised and new measurements. *Cells Tissues Organs* **192**, 73–84.
- Oh, S. W., Harris, J. A., Ng, L., Winslow, B., Cain, N., Mihalas, S., Wang, Q., Lau, C., Kuan, L., Henry, A. M., et al. (2014). A mesoscale connectome of the mouse brain. *Nature* 508, 207–214.
- Ohmine, S., Squillace, K. A., Hartjes, K. A., Deeds, M. C., Armstrong, A. S., Thatava, T., Sakuma, T., Terzic, A., Kudva, Y. and Ikeda, Y. (2012). Reprogrammed keratinocytes from elderly type 2 diabetes patients suppress senescence genes to acquire induced pluripotency. *Aging (Albany. NY).* **4**, 60– 73.
- Ojo, A. O., Held, P. J., Port, F. K., Wolfe, R. A., Leichtman, A. B., Young, E. W., Arndorfer, J., Christensen, L. and Merion, R. M. (2003). Chronic renal failure after transplantation of a nonrenal organ. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **349**, 931–940.
- **Oputa, R. N. and Chinenye, S.** (2012). Review Article Diabetes mellitus : a global epidemic with potential solutions. *African J. Diabetes Med.* **20**, 2011–2013.
- Oshima, Y., Suzuki, A., Kawashimo, K., Ishikawa, M., Ohkohchi, N. and Taniguchi, H. (2007). Isolation of Mouse Pancreatic Ductal Progenitor Cells Expressing CD133 and c-Met by Flow Cytometric Cell Sorting. *Gastroenterology* **132**, 720–732.
- Pagliuca, F. W., Millman, J. R., Gu, M., Segel, M., Dervort, A. Van, Ryu, J. H., Peterson, Q. P., Greiner, D. and Melton, D. A. (2014). Resource Generation of Functional Human Pancreatic b Cells In Vitro. *Cell* **159**, 428–439.
- Pan, F. C. and Brissova, M. (2014). Pancreas development in humans. *Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes. Obes.* 21, 77.
- Pan, F. C. and Wright, C. (2011). Pancreas organogenesis: From bud to plexus to gland. Dev. Dyn. 240, 530–565.
- **Pandol, S. J.** (2011). The exocrine pancreas. In *Colloquium series on integrated* systems physiology: from molecule to function (Vol. 3, No. 1), pp. 1–64.
- Paraskevas, S., Maysinger, D., Wang, R., Duguid, W. P. and Rosenberg, L. (2000). Cell Loss in Isolated Human Islets Occurs by Apoptosis. *Pancreas* **20**, 270–276.
- **Paris, M., Tourrel-Cuzin, C., Plachot, C. and Ktorza, A.** (2004). Pancreatic β-cell neogenesis revisited. *Exp. Diabesity Res.* **5**, 111–121.
- Pavathuparambil, N., Manaph, A., Sivanathan, K. N., Nitschke, J., Zhou, X., Coates, P. T. and Drogemuller, C. J. (2019). An overview on small moleculeinduced differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into beta cells for diabetic therapy. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 10, 1–18.
- Pearl, E. J., Bilogan, C. K., Mukhi, S., Brown, D. D. and Horb, M. E. (2009). Xenopus pancreas development. *Dev. Dyn.* **238**, 1271–1286.
- Pera, M. F. (2017). Human embryo research and the 14-day rule. *Dev.* **144**, 1923–1925.
- Petersen, M. B. K., Azad, A., Ingvorsen, C., Hess, K., Hansson, M., Grapin-Botton, A. and Honoré, C. (2017). Single-cell gene expression analysis of a human ESC model of pancreatic endocrine development reveals different paths to β-cell differentiation. *Stem cell reports* **9**, 1246–1261.
- Petersen, M. B. K., Gonçalves, C. A. C., Kim, Y. H. and Grapin-Botton, A. (2018). Recapitulating and Deciphering Human Pancreas Development From Human Pluripotent Stem Cells in a Dish. *Curr. Top. Dev. Biol.* **129**, 143–190.

- Pfeifer, M. A., Halter, J. B. and Porte, D. (1981). Insulin secretion in diabetes mellitus. *Am. J. Med.* **70**, 579–588.
- Pickup, J. C. (2018). Is insulin pump therapy effective in Type 1 diabetes? *Diabet. Med.* **36**, 269–278.
- Pictet, R. L., Clark, W. R. and Rutter, W. J. (1972). An Ultrastructural Analysis of the Developing Embryonic Pancreas '. *Dev. Biol.* 467, 436–467.
- Pinney, S. E., Oliver-krasinski, J., Ernst, L., Hughes, N., Patel, P., Stoffers, D. A., Russo, P. and Leo, D. D. De (2011). Neonatal Diabetes and Congenital Malabsorptive Diarrhea Attributable to a Novel Mutation in the Human Neurogenin-3 Gene Coding Sequence. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 96, 1960– 1965.
- Piper, K., Ball, S. G., Keeling, J. W., Mansoor, S., Wilson, D. I. and Hanley, N. A. (2002). Novel SOX9 expression during human pancreas development correlates to abnormalities in Campomelic dysplasia. *Mech. Dev.* **116**, 223–226.
- Piper, K., Brickwood, S., Turnpenny, L. ., Cameron, I. ., Ball, S. ., Wilson, D. I. and Hanley, N.A. (2004). Beta cell differentiation during early human pancreas development. J. Endocrinol. 181, 11–23.
- Piper Hanley, K., Hearn, T., Berry, A., Carvell, M. J., Patch, A. M., Williams, L. J., Sugden, S. A., Wilson, D. I., Ellard, S. and Hanley, N. A. (2010). In vitro expression of NGN3 identifies RAB3B as the predominant Ras-associated GTP-binding protein 3 family member in human islets. *J. Endocrinol.* 207, 151–161.
- Playne, R. and Connor, B. (2017). Understanding Parkinson's Disease through the Use of Cell Reprogramming. *Stem Cell Rev. Reports* **13**, 151–169.
- Pociot, F. and Lernmark, Å. (2016). Genetic risk factors for type 1 diabetes. Lancet 387, 2331–2339.
- Posselt, A. M., Szot, G. L., Frassetto, L. A., Masharani, U., Tavakol, M., Amin, R., Mcelroy, J., Ramos, M. D., Kerlan, R. K., Fong, L., et al. (2010). Islet transplantation in type 1 diabetic patients using calcineurin inhibitor-free immunosuppressive protocols based on T-Cell adhesion or costimulation blockade. *Transplantation* **90**, 1595–1601.
- Qiu, W., Zhang, Y., Feng, Y., Li, L., Yang, L. and Xu, C. (2017). Deciphering Pancreatic Islet b Cell and a Cell Maturation Pathways and Characteristic Features at the Single-Cell Level Resource Deciphering Pancreatic Islet b Cell and a Cell Maturation Pathways and Characteristic Features at the Single-Cell Level. *Cell Metab.* **25**, 1194-1205..
- Rajotte, R., Warnock, G. L. and Bruch, L. C. (1983). Transplantation of Cryopreserved and Fresh Rat Islets and Canine Pancreatic Fragments : Comparison of Cryopreservation Protocols '. *Cryobiology* **184**, 169–184.
- Ramnanan, C. J., Edgerton, D. S., Kraft, G. and Cherrington, A. D. (2011). Physiologic action of glucagon on liver glucose metabolism. *Diabetes* **13**, 118– 125.
- **Ravier, M. a, Gu, M., Charollais, A., Gjinovci, A., Wollheim, C. B., Willecke, K., Henquin, J. and Meda, P.** (2005). Loss of Connexin36 Channels Alters β-Cell Coupling, Islet Synchronization of Glucose-Induced Ca2 and Insulin Oscillations, and Basal Insulin Release. *Diabetes* **54**, 1798–1807.
- Reece, E. A. (2010). The fetal and maternal consequences of gestational diabetes mellitus. *J. Matern. Neonatal Med.* 23, 199–203.
- Reichmann, J., Nijmeijer, B., Hossain, M. J., Eguren, M., Schneider, I., Politi, A. Z., Roberti, M. J., Hufnagel, L., Hiiragi, T. and Ellenberg, J. (2018). Dual-spindle formation in zygotes keeps parental genomes apart in early mammalian embryos. *Science*. 361, 189–193.
- Rewers, M. and Ludvigsson, J. (2016). Environmental risk factors for type 1 diabetes. *Lancet* **387**, 2340–2348.

- Reynaud, E. G., Kržič, U., Greger, K. and Stelzer, E. H. K. (2008). Light sheetbased fluorescence microscopy: More dimensions, more photons, and less photodamage. *HFSP J.* **2**, 266–275.
- Reynolds, B. A. and Weiss, S. (1992). Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. *Science (80-.).* 255, 1707–1710.
- **Rezania, A., Riedel, M. J., Wideman, R. D., Karanu, F., Ao, Z., Warnock, G. L. and Kieffer, T. J.** (2011). Production of Functional Glucagon-Secreting α-Cells From Human Embryonic Stem Cells. *Diabetes* **60**, 239–347.
- Rezania, A., Bruin, J. E., Riedel, M. J., Mojibian, M., Asadi, A., Xu, J., Gauvin, R., Narayan, K., Karanu, F., O'Neil, J. J., et al. (2012). Maturation of human embryonic stem cell-derived pancreatic progenitors into functional islets capable of treating pre-existing diabetes in mice. *Diabetes* **61**, 2016–2029.
- Rezania, A., Bruin, J. E., Xu, J., Narayan, K., Fox, J. K., O'Neil, J. J. and Kieffer, T. J. (2013). Enrichment of human embryonic stem cell-derived NKX6.1-Expressing pancreatic progenitor cells accelerates the maturation of insulinsecreting cells in vivo. *Stem Cells* 31, 2432–2442.
- Rezania, A., Bruin, J. E., Arora, P., Rubin, A., Batushansky, I., Asadi, A., Dwyer, S. O., Quiskamp, N., Mojibian, M., Albrecht, T., et al. (2014). Reversal of diabetes with insulin-producing cells derived in vitro from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **32**, 1121–1133.
- Richardson, D. S. and Lichtman, J. W. (2015). Clarifying Tissue Clearing. *Cell* **162**, 246–257.
- Richardson, D. S. and Lichtman, J. W. (2017). SnapShot : Tissue Clearing. *Cell* 171, 496-496.e1.
- Ricordi, C., Goldstein, J. S., Balamurugan, A. N., Szot, G. L., Kin, T., Liu, C., Czarniecki, C. W., Barbaro, B., Bridges, N. D., Cano, J., et al. (2016). National Institutes of Health – Sponsored Clinical Islet Transplantation Consortium Phase 3 Trial : Manufacture of a Complex Cellular Product at Eight Processing Facilities. *Diabetes* 65, 3418–3428.
- Riedel, M. J., Asadi, A., Wang, R., Ao, Z., Warnock, G. L. and Kieffer, T. J. (2012). Immunohistochemical characterisation of cells co-producing insulin and glucagon in the developing human pancreas. *Diabetologia* **55**, 372–381.
- Rodríguez-Seguel, E., Mah, N., Naumann, H., Pongrac, I. M., Cerda, N., Rodri, E., Fontaine, J. F., Wang, Y., Chen, W., Andrade-Navarro, M. a., et al. (2013). Mutually exclusive signaling signatures define the hepatic and pancreatic progenitor cell lineage divergence. *Genes Dev.* 27, 1932–1946.
- **Rorsman, P. and Ashcroft, F. M.** (2017). Pancreatic β-cell electrical activity and insulin secretion: of mice and men. *Physiol. Rev.* **98**, 117–214.
- Rorsman, P. and Huising, M. O. (2018). The somatostatin- secreting pancreatic cell in health and disease. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 14, 404.
- **Roscioni, S. S., Migliorini, A., Gegg, M. and Lickert, H.** (2016). Impact of islet architecture on β-cell heterogeneity, plasticity and function. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* **12**, 695–709.
- Rossi, G., Manfrin, A. and Lutolf, M. P. (2018). Progress and potential in organoid research. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **19**, 671–687.
- **Rukstalis, J. M. and Habener, J. F.** (2007). Snail2, a mediator of epithelialmesenchymal transitions, expressed in progenitor cells of the developing endocrine pancreas. *Gene Expr. Patterns* **7**, 471–479.
- Russ, H. A., Parent, A. V., Ringler, J. J., Hennings, T. G., Nair, G. G., Shveygert, M., Guo, T., Puri, S., Haataja, L., Cirulli, V., et al. (2015). Controlled induction of human pancreatic progenitors produces functional beta-like cells in vitro. *EMBO J.* 34, 1759–1772.
- Rutter, G. A., Pullen, T. J., Hodson, D. J. and Martinez-sanchez, A. (2015). Pancreatic β -cell identity, glucose sensing and the control of insulin secretion.

Biochem. J. **218**, 203–218.

- Sackett, S. D., Tremmel, D. M., Ma, F., Feeney, A. K., Mag, R. M., Brown, M. E., Zhou, Y., Li, X., Brien, C. O., Li, L., et al. (2018). Extracellular matrix scaffold and hydrogel derived from decellularized and delipidized human pancreas. *Sci. Rep.* 8, 1–16.
- Saeedi, P., Petersohn, I., Salpea, P., Malanda, B., Karuranga, S., Unwin, N., Colagiuri, S., Guariguata, L., Motala, A. A., Ogurtsova, K., et al. (2019).
 Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: Results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Pract.* 157, 107843.
- Sancho, R., Gruber, R., Gu, G. and Behrens, A. (2014). Loss of Fbw7 reprograms adult pancreatic ductal cells into α , δ , and β cells. *Cell Stem Cell* **15**, 139–153.
- Santos-silva, J. C., Prado, C., Carvalho, D. F., Oliveira, R. B. De, Boschero, A. C. and Collares-buzato, C. B. (2012). Cell-to-cell contact dependence and junctional protein content are correlated with in vivo maturation of pancreatic beta cells. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 850, 837–850.
- Sarkar, S. A., Kobberup, S., Wong, R., Lopez, A. D., Quayum, N., Still, T., Kutchma, A., Jensen, J. N., Gianani, R., Beattie, G. M., et al. (2008). Global gene expression profiling and histochemical analysis of the developing human fetal pancreas. *Diabetologia* 51, 285–297.
- Schaffer, A. E., Freude, K. K., Nelson, S. B. and Sander, M. (2010). Nkx6 transcription factors and Ptf1a function as antagonistic lineage determinants in multipotent pancreatic progenitors. *Dev. Cell* 18, 1022–1029.
- Scheiner, G., Sobel, R. J., Smith, D. E., Pick, A. J., Kruger, D., King, J. and Green, K. (2009). Insulin pump therapy guidelines for successful outcomes. *Diabetes Educ.* **35**, 29–41.
- Schindelin, J., Arganda-carreras, I., Frise, E., Kaynig, V., Longair, M., Pietzsch, T., Preibisch, S., Rueden, C., Saalfeld, S., Schmid, B., et al. (2012). Fiji : an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nat. Methods* 9, 676–682.
- Schnedl, W. J., Piswanger-Soelkner, C., Wallner, S. J., Reittner, P., Krause, R., Lipp, R. W. and Hohmeier, H. E. (2009). Agenesis of the dorsal pancreas and associated diseases. *Dig. Dis. Sci.* 54, 481–487.
- Schuit, F., Lommel, L. Van, Granvik, M., Goyvaerts, L., Faudeur, G. De, Schraenen, A. and Lemaire, K. (2012). B -Cell – Specific Gene Repression: A Mechanism to Protect Against Inappropriate or Maladjusted Insulin Secretion? *Diabetes* 61, 969–975.
- Schulz, T. C., Young, H. Y., Agulnick, A. D., Babin, M. J., Baetge, E. E., Bang, A. G., Bhoumik, A., Cepa, I., Cesario, R. M., Haakmeester, C., et al. (2012). A Scalable System for Production of Functional Pancreatic Progenitors from Human Embryonic Stem Cells. *PLoS One* 7,.
- Schwarz, M. K., Scherbarth, A., Sprengel, R., Engelhardt, J., Theer, P. and Giese, G. (2015). Fluorescent-protein stabilization and high-resolution imaging of cleared, intact mouse brains. *PLoS One* **10**, 1–26.
- Schwitzgebel, V. M., Scheel, D. W., Conners, J. R., Kalamaras, J., Lee, J. E., Anderson, D. J., Sussel, L., Johnson, J. D. and German, M. S. (2000). Expression of neurogenin3 reveals an islet cell precursor population in the pancreas. *Development* **127**, 3533–3542.
- Seaquist, E. R., Anderson, J., Childs, B., Cryer, P., Dagogo-Jack, S., Fish, L., Heller, S. R., Rodriguez, H., Rosenzweig, J. and Vigersky, R. (2013). Hypoglycemia and diabetes: A report of a workgroup of the american diabetes association and the endocrine society. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 98, 1845– 1859.
- Sellick, G. S., Barker, K. T., Stolte-Dijkstra, I., Fleischmann, C., Coleman, R. J., Garrett, C., Gloyn, A. L., Edghill, E. L., Hattersley, A. T., Wellauer, P. K., et al. (2004). Mutations in PTF1A cause pancreatic and cerebellar agenesis. *Nat.*

Genet. 36, 1301–1305.

- Shapiro, A. (2011). Strategies toward single-donor islets of Langerhans transplantation. *Curr Opin Organ Transpl.* 16, 627–631.
- Shapiro, A. ., Lakey, J. ., Ryan, E. A., Korbutt, G. S., Toth, E., Warnock, G. L., Kneteman, N. M. and Rajotte, R. V. (2000). Islet transplantation in seven patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus using a glucocorticoid-free immunosuppressive regimen. N. Engl. J. Med. 343, 230–238.
- Shapiro, A. M. J., Pokrywczynska, M. and Ricordi, C. (2017). Clinical pancreatic islet transplantation. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* **13**, 268–277.
- Sharon, N., Vanderhooft, J., Straubhaar, J., Trapnell, C., Gifford, D. K., Melton, D. A., Mueller, J., Chawla, R. and Zhou, Q. (2019). Wnt Signaling Separates the Progenitor and Endocrine Compartments during Pancreas Report Wnt Signaling Separates the Progenitor and Endocrine Compartments. *Cell Rep.* 27, 2281-2291.e5.
- Shaw-smith, C., Franco, E. De, Allen, H. L., Batlle, M., Flanagan, S. E., Borowiec, M., Taplin, C. E., Velden, J. V. A. Der and Cruz-rojo, J. (2014). GATA4 Mutations Are a Cause of Neonatal and Childhood- Onset Diabetes. *Diabetes* 63, 2888–2894.
- Shi, J., Farzaneh, M. and Khoshnam, S. E. (2020). Yes-Associated Protein and PDZ Binding Motif: A Critical Signaling Pathway in the Control of Human Pluripotent Stem Cells Self-Renewal and Differentiation. *Cell. Reprogram.* 22, 55–61.
- Shih, H. P., Kopp, J. L., Sandhu, M., Dubois, C. L., Seymour, P. A., Grapin-Botton, A. and Sander, M. (2012). A Notch-dependent molecular circuitry initiates pancreatic endocrine and ductal cell differentiation. *Dev.* 139, 2488– 2499.
- Shim, J. H., Kim, S. E., Woo, D. H. and Kim, S. K. (2007). Directed differentiation of human embryonic stem cells towards a pancreatic cell fate. *Diabetologia* 50, 1228–1238.
- Shim, J., Kim, J., Han, J., An, S. Y., Jang, Y. J., Son, J., Woo, D., Kim, S. and Kim, J. (2015). Pancreatic Islet-Like Three-Dimensional Aggregates Derived From Human Embryonic Stem Cells Ameliorate Hyperglycemia in Streptozotocin-Induced Diabetic Mice. *Cell Transplant.* 24, 2155–2168.
- Simon-Areces, J., Acaz-Fonseca, E., Ruiz-Palmero, I., Garcia-Segura, L. M. and Arevalo, M. A. (2013). A CRM1-Mediated Nuclear Export Signal Is Essential for Cytoplasmic Localization of Neurogenin 3 in Neurons. *PLoS One* **8**, 1–10.
- Singh, S. P., Janjuha, S., Hartmann, T., Kayisoglu, Ö., Konantz, J., Birke, S., Murawala, P., Alfar, E. A., Murata, K., Eugster, A., et al. (2017). Different developmental histories of beta-cells generate functional and proliferative heterogeneity during islet growth. *Nat. Commun.* 8, 1–15.
- Singh, R. M., Waqar, T., Howarth, F. C., Adeghate, E., Bidasee, K. and Singh, J. (2018). Hyperglycemia-induced cardiac contractile dysfunction in the diabetic heart. *Heart Fail. Rev.* 23, 37–54.
- Slack, J. (1995). Developmental biology of the pancreas. *Development* **121**, 1569–1580.
- Smith, A. (2006). A glossary for stem-cell biology. Nature 441, 1060.
- Smyrek, I. and Stelzer, E. H. K. (2017). Quantitative three-dimensional evaluation of immunofluorescence staining for large whole mount spheroids with light sheet microscopy. *Biomed. Opt. Express* **8**, 484.
- Solar, M., Cardalda, C., Houbracken, I., Martín, M., Maestro, M. A., De Medts, N., Xu, X., Grau, V., Heimberg, H., Bouwens, L., et al. (2009). Pancreatic Exocrine Duct Cells Give Rise to Insulin-Producing β Cells during Embryogenesis but Not after Birth. *Dev. Cell* 17, 849–860.
- Solnica-krezel, L. and Sepich, D. S. (2012). Gastrulation: Making and Shaping Germ Layers. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 28, 687–717.

- Solnica-Krezel, L. (2005). Conserved patterns of cell movements during vertebrate gastrulation. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 213–228.
- Spitzer, M. H. and Nolan, G. P. (2016). Mass Cytometry: Single Cells, Many Features. *Cell* 165, 780–791.
- Steiner, D. J., Kim, A., Miller, K. and Hara, M. (2010). Pancreatic islet plasticity: Interspecies comparison of islet architecture and composition. *Islets* 2, 135– 145.
- Stern, C. D. (2004). Gastrulation in the chick. Cold Spring Harb. Press.
- Stitt, A. W., Curtis, T. M., Chen, M., Medina, R. J., McKay, G. J., Jenkins, A., Gardiner, T. A., Lyons, T. J., Hammes, H. P., Simó, R., et al. (2016). The progress in understanding and treatment of diabetic retinopathy. *Prog. Retin. Eye Res.* 51, 156–186.
- Stoffers, D. A., Zinkin, N. T., Stanojevic, V., Clarke, W. L. and Habener, J. F. (1997). Pancreatic agenesis attributable to a single nucleotide deletion in the human IPF1 gene coding sequence. *Nat. Genet.* **15**, 106–110.
- **Stolovich-Rain, M., Enk, J., Vikesa, J., Nielsen, F. C., Saada, A., Glaser, B. and Dor, Y.** (2015). Weaning Triggers a Maturation Step of Pancreatic β Cells. *Dev. Cell* **32**, 535–545.
- Stumvoll, M., Goldstein, B. J. and Haeften, T. W. van (2005). Type 2 diabetes : principles of pathogenesis and therapy Pathophysiology of hyperglycaemia. *Lancet* **365**, 1333–1346.
- Suckale, J. and Solimena, M. (2008). Pancreas islets in metabolic signaling focus on the β -cell. *Nat. Preced.*
- Sugiyama, T., Rodriguez, R. T., McLean, G. W. and Kim, S. K. (2007). Conserved markers of fetal pancreatic epithelium permit prospective isolation of islet progenitor cells by FACS. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104, 175–180.
- Sugiyama, T., Benitez, C. M., Ghodasara, A., Liu, L., McLean, G. W., Lee, J., Blauwkamp, T. A., Nusse, R., Wright, C. V. E., Gu, G., et al. (2013). Reconstituting pancreas development from purified progenitor cells reveals genes essential for islet differentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 110, 12691–12696.
- Sui, L., Bouwens, L. and Mfopou, J. K. (2013). Signaling pathways during maintenance and definitive endoderm differentiation of embryonic stem cells. *Int. J. Dev. Biol.* 57, 1–12.
- Suissa, Y., Magenheim, J., Stolovich-Rain, M., Hija, A., Collombat, P., Mansouri, A., Sussel, L., Sosa-Pineda, B., McCracken, K., Wells, J. M., et al. (2013). Gastrin: A Distinct Fate of Neurogenin3 Positive Progenitor Cells in the Embryonic Pancreas. *PLoS One* 8, 2–11.
- Susaki, E. A., Tainaka, K., Perrin, D., Kishino, F., Tawara, T., Watanabe, T. M., Yokoyama, C., Onoe, H., Eguchi, M., Yamaguchi, S., et al. (2014). Wholebrain imaging with single-cell resolution using chemical cocktails and computational analysis. *Cell* **157**, 726–739.
- Susaki, E. A., Tainaka, K., Perrin, D., Yukinaga, H., Kuno, A. and Ueda, H. R. (2015). Advanced CUBIC protocols for whole-brain and whole-body clearing and imaging. *Nat. Protoc.* **10**, 1709–1727.
- Sussel, L., Kalamaras, J., Connor, D. J. H., Meneses, J. J. and Pedersen, R. A. (1998). Mice lacking the homeodomain transcription factor Nkx2 . 2 have diabetes due to arrested differentiation of pancreatic β cells. *Development* **2221**, 2213–2221.
- Sutherland, D. E. R., Matas, A. J., Goetz, F. C. and Najarian, J. S. (1980). Transplantation of Dispersed Pancreatic Islet Tissue in Humans Autog rafts and AI log rafts. *Diabetes* 29, 31–44.
- Tainaka, K., Kubota, S. I., Suyama, T. Q., Susaki, E. A., Perrin, D., Ukaitadenuma, M., Ukai, H. and Ueda, H. R. (2014). Whole-Body Imaging with Single-Cell Resolution by Tissue Decolorization. *Cell* **159**, 911–924.

- Tainaka, K., Kuno, A., Kubota, S. I., Murakami, T. and Ueda, H. R. (2016). Chemical Principles in Tissue Clearing and Staining Protocols for Whole-Body Cell Profiling.
- Talbot, N. C. and Caperna, T. J. (2015). Proteome array identification of bioactive soluble proteins/peptides in Matrigel: relevance to stem cell responses. *Cytotechnology* **67**, 873–883.
- Tan, S. Y., Mei Wong, J. L., Sim, Y. J., Wong, S. S., Mohamed Elhassan, S. A., Tan, S. H., Ling Lim, G. P., Rong Tay, N. W., Annan, N. C., Bhattamisra, S. K., et al. (2019). Type 1 and 2 diabetes mellitus: A review on current treatment approach and gene therapy as potential intervention. *Diabetes Metab. Syndr. Clin. Res. Rev.* 13, 364–372.
- Tang, S. C., Chiu, Y. C., Hsu, C. T., Peng, S. J. and Fu, Y. Y. (2013). Plasticity of Schwann cells and pericytes in response to islet injury in mice. *Diabetologia* 56, 2424–2434.
- Tang, S., Shen, C., Lin, P. and Peng, S. (2018a). Pancreatic neuro-insular network in young mice revealed by 3D panoramic histology. *Diabetologia* 61, 158–167.
- Tang, S., Baeyens, L., Shen, C., Peng, S., Chien, H., Scheel, D. W., Chamberlain, C. E. and German, M. S. (2018b). Human pancreatic neuroinsular network in health and fatty infiltration. *Diabetologia* 61, 168–181.
- Taniguchi, K., Heemskerk, I. and Gumucio, D. L. (2019). Opening the black box: Stem cell-based modeling of human post-implantation development. J. Cell Biol. 218, 410–421.
- Tasyurek, H. M., Altunbas, H. A., Balci, M. K. and Sanlioglu, S. (2014). Incretins : Their physiology and application in the treatment of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* 30, 354–371.
- Thiery, G., Shchepinov, M. S., Southern, E. M., Audebourg, A. and Audard, V. (2007). Multiplex target protein imaging in tissue sections by mass spectrometry TAMSIM. *Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom* **21**, 823–829.
- Tiso, N., Moro, É. and Argenton, F. (2009). Zebrafish pancreas development. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **312**, 24–30.
- **Tiyaboonchai, A., Cardenas-diaz, F. L., Ying, L., Maguire, J. A., Sim, X., Jobaliya, C., Gagne, A. L., Kishore, S., Stanescu, D. E., Hughes, N., et al.** (2017). GATA6 Plays an Impor tant Role in the Induction of Human Definitive Endoderm, Development of the Pancreas, and Functionality of Pancreatic β Cells. *Stem Cell Reports* **8**, 589–604.
- Trapnell, C., Cacchiarelli, D., Grimsby, J., Pokharel, P., Li, S., Morse, M., Lennon, N. J., Livak, K. J., Mikkelsen, T. S. and Rinn, J. L. (2014). Pseudotemporal ordering of individual cells reveals dynamics and regulators of cell fate decisions. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 32, 381.
- Tremmel, D. M., Mitchell, S. A., Sackett, S. D. and Odorico, J. S. (2019). Mimicking nature-made beta cells: recent advances towards stem cell-derived islets. *Curr. Opin. Organ Transplant.* 1.
- Tritschler, S., Theis, F. J., Lickert, H. and Böttcher, A. (2017). Systematic singlecell analysis provides new insights into heterogeneity and plasticity of the pancreas. *Mol. Metab.* **6**, 974–990.
- Tsonkova, V. G., Sand, F. W., Wolf, X. A., Grunnet, L. G., Ringgaard, A. K., Ingvorsen, C., Winkel, L., Kalisz, M., Dalgaard, K., Bruun, C., et al. (2018). The EndoC- b H1 cell line is a valid model of human beta cells and applicable for screenings to identify novel drug target candidates. *Mol. Metab.* 8, 144–157.
- **Tuomilehto, J.** (2013). The emerging global epidemic of type 1 diabetes. *Curr. Diab. Rep.* **13**, 795–804.
- Tyser, R., Mahammadov, E., Nakanoh, S., Vallier, L., Scialdone, A. and Srinivas, S. (2020). A spatially resolved single cell atlas of human gastrulation. *BioRxiv*.
- Van Der Meulen, T., Huising, M. O., Avenue, O. S., Biology, M. and Avenue, S.

(2015). The role of transcription factors in the transdifferentiation of pancreatic islet cells. *J Mol Endocrinol* **54**, 1–24.

Vashist, S. (2013). Continuous Glucose Monitoring Systems: A Review. *Diagnostics* 3, 385–412.

Velazco-cruz, L., Song, J., Maxwell, K. G., Goedegebuure, M. M., Augsornworawat, P., Hogrebe, N. J. and Millman, J. R. (2019). Acquisition of Dynamic Function in Human Stem Cell-Derived b Cells. *Stem Cell Reports* 12, 351–365.

- Velazco-Cruz, L., Goedegebuure, M. M., Maxwell, K. G., Augsornworawat, P., Hogrebe, N. J. and Millman, J. R. (2020). SIX2 Regulates Human β Cell Differentiation from Stem Cells and Functional Maturation In Vitro. *Cell Rep.* **31**, 107687.
- Veres, A., Faust, A. L., Bushnell, H. L., Engquist, E. N., Kenty, J. H., Harb, G., Quinn, P., Poh, Y., Sintov, E., Gürtler, M., et al. (2019). Charting cellular identity during human in vitro β -cell differentiation. *Nature* **569**, 368.
- Villamayor, L., Cano, D. A. and Rojas, A. (2020). GATA factors in pancreas development and disease. *IUBMB Life* **72**, 80–88.
- Villani, V., Thornton, M. E., Zook, H. N., Crook, C. J., Grubbs, B. H., Orlando, G., Filippo, R. De, Ku, H. T. and Perin, L. (2019). SOX9+/PTF1A+ Cells Define the Tip Progenitor Cells of the Human Fetal Pancreas of the Human Fetal Pancreas of the Second Trimeste. *Stem Cells Transl. Med.*
- Villasenor, A., Chong, D. C. and Cleaver, O. (2008). Biphasic Ngn3 expression in the developing pancreas. *Dev. Dyn.* 237, 3270–3279.
- Villasenor, A., Chong, D. C., Henkemeyer, M. and Cleaver, O. (2010). Epithelial dynamics of pancreatic branching morphogenesis. *Development* **137**, 4295–4305.
- Vlassaria, H. (1992). Receptor-mediated interactions of advanced glycosylation end products with cellular components within diabetic tissues. *Diabetes* **41**, 52–56.
- Vukicevic, S., Kleinman, H. K., Luyten, F. P., Roberts, A. ., Roche, N. S. and Reddi, A. H. (1992). Identification of multiple active growth factors in basement membrane Matrigel suggests caution in interpretation of cellular activity related to extracellular matrix components. *Eperimental cell Res.* 202, 1–8.
- Wang, J., Cortina, G., Wu, S. V., Tran, R., Cho, J. H., Tsai, M. J., Bailey, T. J., Jamrich, M., Ament, M. E., Treem, W. R., et al. (2006). Mutant neurogenin-3 in congenital malabsorptive diarrhea. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 355, 270–280.
- Wang, H., Brun, T., Kataoka, K., Sharma, A. J. and Wollheim, C. B. (2007). MAFA controls genes implicated in insulin biosynthesis and secretion. *Diabetologia* 50, 348–358.
- Wang, X., Misawa, R., Zielinski, M. C., Cowen, P., Jo, J. and Periwal, V. (2013).
 Regional Differences in Islet Distribution in the Human Pancreas Preferential Beta-Cell Loss in the Head Region in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *PLoS One* 8, 1–9.
- Wang, Y. J., Golson, M. L., Schug, J., Traum, D., Liu, C., Vivek, K., Dorrell, C., Naji, A., Powers, A. C., Chang, K. M., et al. (2016). Single-Cell Mass Cytometry Analysis of the Human Endocrine Pancreas. *Cell Metab.* 24, 616– 626.
- Warnock, G. L., Thompson, D. M., Meloche, R. M., Shapiro, R. J., Ao, Z., Keown, P., Johnson, J. D., Verchere, C. B., Partovi, N., Begg, I. S., et al. (2008). A multi-year analysis of islet transplantation compared with intensive medical therapy on progression of complications in type 1 diabetes. *Transplantation* 86, 1762–1766.
- Watt, S. M., Su, C. C. and Chan, J. Y. H. (2010). The therapeutic potential of stem cells in umbilical cord and umbilical cord blood. *J. Med. Sci.* **30**, 177–187.
- Wedeken, L., Luo, A., Tremblay, J. R., Rawson, J., Jin, L., Gao, D., Quijano, J. and Ku, H. T. (2017). Adult Murine Pancreatic Progenitors Require Epidermal

Growth Factor and Nicotinamide for Self-Renewal and Differentiation in a Serum- and Conditioned Medium-Free Culture. *Stem Cells Dev.* **26**, 599–607.

- Weedon, M. N., Cebola, I., Patch, A., Flanagan, S. E., Franco, E. De, Caswell, R., Rodríguez-seguí, S. A., Shaw-smith, C., Cho, C. H., Allen, H. L., et al. (2014). Recessive mutations in a distal PTF1A enhancer cause isolated pancreatic agenesis. *Nat. Publ. Gr.* 46, 61–64.
- Winkler, H. and Fischer-Colbrie, R. (1992). The chromogranins A and B: the first 25 years and future perspectives. *Neuroscience* **49**, 497–528.
- Wojtusciszyn, A., Armanet, M., Morel, P. and Berney, T. (2008). Insulin secretion from human beta cells is heterogeneous and dependent on cell-to-cell contacts. *Diabetologia* **51**, 1843–1852.
- Wong, H. S., Yeung, P. K. K., Lai, H. M., Lam, K. S. L., Wutian, W. and Chung,
 S. K. (2017). Simple and Rapid Tissue Clearing Method for Three-Dimensional Histology of the Pancreas. *Curr. Protoc. Cell Biol.* 77, 19–20.
- Xin, Y., Gutierrez, G. D., Okamoto, H., Kim, J., Lee, A., Adler, C., Ni, M., Yancopoulos, G. D., Murphy, A. J. and Gromada, J. (2018). Pseudotime Ordering of Single Human b -Cells Reveals States of Insulin Production and Unfolded Protein Response. *Diabetes* 67, 1783–1794.
- Xuan, S., Borok, M. J., Decker, K. J., Battle, M. A., Duncan, S. A., Hale, M. A., Macdonald, R. J. and Sussel, L. (2012). Pancreas-specific deletion of mouse Gata4 and Gata6 causes pancreatic agenesis. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 3516–3528.
- Yang, Y. and Chan, L. (2016). Monogenic diabetes: What it teaches us on the common forms of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *Endocr. Rev.* **37**, 190–222.
- Yang, B., Treweek, J. B., Kulkarni, R. P., Deverman, B. E., Chen, C. K., Lubeck, E., Shah, S., Cai, L. and Gradinaru, V. (2014). Single-cell phenotyping within transparent intact tissue through whole-body clearing. *Cell* **158**, 945–958.
- **Ye, F., Duvillié, B. and Scharfmann, R.** (2005). Fibroblast growth factors 7 and 10 are expressed in the human embryonic pancreatic mesenchyme and promote the proliferation of embryonic pancreatic epithelial cells. *Diabetologia* **48**, 277–281.
- Yoshihara, E., Wei, Z., Lin, C. S., Fang, S., Ahmadian, M., Kida, Y., Tseng, T., Dai, Y., Yu, R. T., Liddle, C., et al. (2016). ERRγ Is Required for the Metabolic Maturation of Therapeutically Functional Glucose-Responsive β Cells. *Cell Metab.* 23, 622–634.
- Yoshihara, E., O'Connor, C., Gasser, E., Wei, Z., Oh, T. G., Tseng, T. W., Wang, D., Cayabyab, F., Dai, Y., Yu, R. T., et al. (2020). Immune-evasive human islet-like organoids ameliorate diabetes. *Nature*.
- **Yu, X.-X. and Xu, C.-R.** (2020). Understanding generation and regeneration of pancreatic β cells from a single-cell perspective. *Development* **147**,.
- Zeng, C., Sui, Y., Shirihai, O. S., Yeo, G. W., Sander, M., Mulas, F., Sui, Y., Guan, T., Miller, N., Tan, Y., et al. (2017). Pseudotemporal Ordering of Single Cells Reveals Metabolic Control of Postnatal b Cell Proliferation. *Cell Metab.* 25, 1160-1175.e11.
- Zhang, C., Moriguchi, T., Kajihara, M., Esaki, R., Harada, A., Shimohata, H., Oishi, H., Hamada, M., Morito, N., Hasegawa, K., et al. (2005). MafA is a key regulator of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **25**, 4969– 4976.
- Zhou, Q. and Melton, D. A. (2018). Pancreas regeneration. Nature 557, 351–358.
- Zhou, Q., Law, A. C., Rajagopal, J., Anderson, W. J., Gray, P. A. and Melton, D.
 A. (2007). A Multipotent Progenitor Domain Guides Pancreatic Organogenesis. *Dev. Cell* 13, 103–114.
- **Zhou, Q., Brown, J., Kanarek, A., Rajagopal, J. and Melton, D. A.** (2008). In vivo reprogramming of adult pancreatic exocrine cells to β-cells. *Nature* **455**, 627.
- Zorn, A. M. and Wells, J. M. (2009). Vertebrate Endoderm Development and Organ Formation. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 25, 221–251.